
1

Agenda
  

Contact Officer: Ron Schrieber, Democratic Services Officer

Tel: 01235 422524

E-mail: ron.schrieber@southandvale.gov.uk

Date: 18 January 2019

Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Joint Audit and Governance Committee

WILL BE HELD ON MONDAY 28 JANUARY 2019  AT 6.30 PM

MEETING ROOM 1, 135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK, MILTON, OX14 
4SB

Members of the Committee:
South Oxfordshire District Council
Ian White (Co-Chairman)
Toby Newman
Alan Thompson
John Walsh

Vale of White Horse District Council
Simon Howell (Co-Chairman)
Mike Badcock
Debby Hallett
Chris Palmer

Preferred Substitutes
South Oxfordshire District Council
Joan Bland
David Nimmo-Smith

Vale of White Horse District Council
Yvonne Constance
Helen Pighills
Judy Roberts
Henry Spencer
Reg Waite
Catherine Webber

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These 
include large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any 
other special requirements (such as access facilities) please contact 
the officer named on this agenda.  Please give as much notice as 
possible before the meeting.

Public Document Pack



2

1 Apologies for absence  

To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.  

2 Minutes  (Pages 4 - 10)

To adopt and sign as a correct record the Joint Audit and Governance Committee 
minutes of the meetings held on 27 September and 15 October 2018.  

3 Declarations of interest  

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on 
the agenda for this meeting.   

4 Urgent business and chairman's announcements  

To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent, and to receive any announcements from the chairman.  

5 Public participation  

To receive any questions or statements from members of the public that have 
registered to speak.  

6 External auditor's annual audit letters 2017/18  (Pages 11 - 56)

To consider the external auditor’s annual audit letters (attached).

7 External auditor’s report of the certification of claims and 
returns 2017/18.  (Pages 57 - 68)

To consider the external auditor’s report (attached).

8 Internal audit activity report quarter three 2018/2019  (Pages 69 
- 86)

To consider the report of the internal audit manager (attached).

9 Internal audit management report quarter three 2018/2019  
(Pages 87 - 94)

To consider the report of the internal audit manager (attached).

10 Treasury management mid-year monitoring report 2018/19  
(Pages 95 - 108)

To consider the report of the head of finance (attached).



3

11 South Oxfordshire District Council treasury management and 
investment strategy 2019/20  (Pages 109 - 143)

To consider the report of the head of finance (attached).

12 Vale of White Horse District Council treasury management 
and investment strategy 2019/20  (Pages 144 - 177)

To consider the report of the head of finance (attached).

13 Work programme  (Pages 178 - 180)

To consider the work programme (attached)

14 Programme governance review  (Pages 181 - 186)

To consider the report of the head of corporate services (attached).

15 Exclusion of the public  

To consider whether to exclude members of the press and public from the meeting 
for the following item of business under Part 1 of Schedule 12A Section 100A(4) of 
the Local Government Act 1972 and as amended by the Local Government (Access 
to Information) (Variation) Order 2006 on the grounds that: 
(i) it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 

Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, and 
(ii) the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 

disclosing the information.  

EXEMPT INFORMATION UNDER SECTION 100A(4) OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
ACT 1972

16 Programme governance review - Confidential appendix  (Page 
187)

MARGARET REED

Head of Legal and Democratic 



1

Minutes

OF A MEETING OF THE

Joint Audit and Governance Committee

HELD ON THURSDAY 27 SEPTEMBER 2018 AT 6.15 PM
MEETING ROOM 1, 135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK, OX14 4SB

Present 
Members:
South Oxfordshire District Councillors: Toby Newman, John Walsh, and Ian White (Co-
Chairman acting as Vice-Chairman for this meeting)
Vale of White Horse District Councillors: Mike Badcock, Dudley Hoddinott, Simon Howell 
(Co-Chairman acting as Chairman for this meeting), and Chris Palmer

Officers: 
Steve Culliford, Simon Hewings, Victoria Hughes, William Jacobs, and Mark Stone 

Also present: 
Andrew Brittain and Malcolm Haines (EY), and Richard Spraggett (Capita) 

11 Apologies for absence 

None

12 Minutes 

RESOLVED: to approve the minutes of the committee meeting held on 12 July 2018 as a 
correct record and agree that the Chairman signs them as such.  

13 Declarations of interest 

None

14 Urgent business and chairman's announcements 

The chairman re-arranged the order agenda items were considered to concentrate efforts 
on the key issue, the Statement of Accounts.  

The chairman welcomed the new Internal Audit Manager, Victoria Hughes, to the meeting.  

15 Public participation 

None

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



2

16 External auditor's audit results report 2017/18 

The committee considered the external auditor’s (EY) audit results report for the year 
ending 31 March 2018.  EY tabled two updated pages to its report.  The committee noted 
the main messages:

 The audit had not been completed in July due to insufficient information being 
available at that time; 

 However, EY’s audit of the councils’ 2017/18 Statement of Accounts had almost been 
completed and should be signed off on 28 September 2018;

 EY was confident that it would do so, with both council’s accounts being given an 
unqualified opinion; 

 A disparity had been found in the valuation of the Vale’s property at the White Horse 
Leisure and Tennis Centre but this had since been rectified; 

 South Oxfordshire’s expenditure and income had been overstated as the expenditure 
reflected all costs payable to Capita and Vinci under the Five Councils Partnership 
and income included all reimbursements from the partner councils.  The council was 
acting as collection agent and therefore should only show its share of costs in 
expenditure; 

 Some audit differences had been found (set out on the amended page 21 of EY’s 
report), which management had chosen not to adjust in the accounts; the committee 
was comfortable that management had not corrected them as they were not material 
differences and would be corrected in time; 

 The accounts showed some deferred capital receipts, which were long leases; 
consideration would need to be given to how these were accounted for in future 
years; 

 When conducting the Payroll audit, EY discovered some cases where staff starter 
forms and termination forms had not been completed; this mostly related to short-
term elections staff; 

 Some councillors had not completed their ‘related party transactions’ forms; 
 EY had given an unqualified opinion on the councils’ value for money audit; although 

significant risks had been identified in the Five Councils Partnership contract, EY had 
concluded that the councils were doing their best to negotiate the best possible value 
out of the contract and had put sufficient arrangements in place to get the best 
outcome.  

The committee called for a report on the reasons why the external auditors could not sign 
off the councils’ accounts in July and on what needs to be done to ensure this does not 
reoccur in future years.  This ‘lessons learned’ report and corrective plan should be 
compiled jointly by the councils and its contractor, Capita.  The committee asked for the 
report to be submitted to its meeting on 28 January 2019.  

The committee thanked EY for its report.  

RESOLVED: to 

(a) note the external auditor’s audit results report for the year ending 31 March 2018; 

(b) note that EY have given unqualified opinions on the councils’ Statement of Accounts 
audits and value for money audits in 2017/18; and 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



3

(c) request the committee’s co-chairmen write to the leaders of each council to stress the 
importance of councillors completing their ‘related party transactions’ forms; and 

(d) request that a ‘lessons learned’ report and corrective plan be compiled jointly by the 
councils and its contractor, Capita, and be submitted to the committee meeting on 28 
January 2019, on the reasons why the external auditors could not sign off the 
councils’ accounts in July and what needs to be done to ensure this does not re-
occur in future years.  

17 Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

The committee considered the Statement of Accounts for South Oxfordshire and Vale of 
White Horse for the year 2017/18.  The accounts were presented to the committee for 
signing off, subject to EY completing its audit on 28 September.  

The committee was satisfied that the accounts were correct.  The committee thanked the 
officers and Capia staff for their work on the accounts.  

RESOLVED: to 

(a) approve the Statement of Accounts for South Oxfordshire District Council for 2017/18 
as signed by the chairman of this meeting of the committee and by the co-chairman 
from South Oxfordshire District Council; and 

(b) approve the Statement of Accounts for Vale of White Horse District Council for 
2017/18 as signed by the chairman of this meeting.  

18 Annual Governance Statement 2017/18 - South Oxfordshire 

The committee considered South Oxfordshire’s Annual Governance Statement 2017/18.  
The committee approved the statement, noting that it formed part of the council’s 
Statement of Accounts.  

RESOLVED: to approve South Oxfordshire’s Annual Governance Statement 2017/18 to 
form part of the Statement of Accounts.  

19 Annual Governance Statement 2017/18 - Vale of White Horse 

The committee considered Vale of White Horse’s Annual Governance Statement 2017/18.  
The committee approved the statement, noting that it formed part of the council’s 
Statement of Accounts.  

RESOLVED: to approve Vale of White Horse’s Annual Governance Statement 2017/18 to 
form part of the Statement of Accounts.  

20 Treasury outturn 2017-18 

The committee considered the head of finance’s report on the treasury outturn for both 
South Oxfordshire and the Vale in 2017/18.  

Page 6

Agenda Item 2



4

RECOMMEND to Council to 

(a) note the treasury management outturn report 2017/18; and 

(b) advise Cabinet that the committee is satisfied that the treasury activities have been 
carried out in accordance with the treasury management strategy and policy.  

21 Letter of Representation to the external auditor - South 
Oxfordshire 

Tabled at the meeting was a draft letter of representation from the co-chairman to the 
external auditor, EY, as part of the process in completing the Statement of Accounts.  

RESOLVED: to agree that the co-chairman from South Oxfordshire District Council signs 
the letter of representation to the external auditor.  

22 Letter of Representation to the external auditor - Vale of White 
Horse 

Tabled at the meeting was a draft letter of representation from the co-chairman to the 
external auditor, EY, as part of the process in completing the Statement of Accounts.  

RESOLVED: to agree that the co-chairman from Vale of White Horse District Council signs 
the letter of representation to the external auditor.  

23 Work programme 

The committee reviewed and updated its work programme, adding:
 a ‘lessons learned’ report and corrective plan on the reasons the external auditors 

could not sign off the councils’ accounts in July and what needs to be done to ensure 
this does not re-occur in future years.  This report to be considered at the committee 
meeting on 28 January 2019.  

The meeting closed at 7.50 pm

Chairman Date

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



1

Minutes

OF A MEETING OF THE

Joint Audit and Governance Committee

HELD ON MONDAY 15 OCTOBER 2018 AT 6.30 PM
MEETING ROOM 1, 135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK, MILTON, 

OX14 4SB

Present 

Members:
South Oxfordshire District Councillors: John Walsh and Ian White (Co-Chairman acting as 
Chairman for this meeting)
Vale of White Horse District Councillors: Mike Badcock, Simon Howell (Co-Chairman 
acting as Vice-Chairman for this meeting), Chris Palmer and Judy Roberts (as substitute 
for Dudley Hoddinott)

Apologies:

Dudley Hoddinott and Toby Newman tendered apologies. 

Officers 

Sandy Bayley, Ben Coleman, Yvonne Cutler-Greaves, David Fairall, Victoria Hughes, 
William Jacobs, Fiona Kaluza, Adrianna Partridge, Ron Schrieber and Mark Stone

Also present: 

Malcolm Haines (EY)

24 Declarations of interest 

None.

25 Urgent business and chairman's announcements 

None.

26 Public participation 

None.

Public Document Pack

Page 8

Agenda Item 2



2

27 External auditor's audit update 

The external auditor reported that EY had given unqualified opinions on both councils’ 
Statement of Accounts audits and value for money audits in 2017/18 and that these had 
been published before the end of September. A finalised audit report would be circulated 
to members and the annual audit letter would be submitted to the committee in January.

The housing benefit audit had been completed and was awaiting sign off.  The external 
auditor’s report on the certification of claims and returns would also be submitted to the 
committee in January.

The external auditor would be working with Capita to ensure that the problems that had 
arisen with the statements of accounts were not repeated.

RESOLVED: to

(a) Note the external auditor’s verbal update; and

(b) Thank EY for publishing the statements of accounts before 30 September. 

28 Internal audit activity report quarter two 2018/2019 

The committee considered the internal audit manager’s report on internal audit activity 
during the second quarter 2018/19. This summarised the outcomes of recent audit activity.

Two audits had been completed during the quarter, one of which had received limited 
assurance.

Travel and Subsistence 2018/2019

The committee considered the main findings and recommendations of the internal audit 
report. Officers attended to provide further updates and answer members’ questions, 
however, members expressed concern that there was no Capita representative present to 
answer questions.

With regard to travel and subsistence records, the committee noted with concern that, 
once expenses claims had been authorised, receipts were no longer available on HR 
systems and requested a written response from Capita, as a matter of urgency, setting out 
progress in resolving this matter.  

With regard to mileage underpayments, the committee requested a written response from 
Capita, setting out progress in rectifying the issues to avoid further under and/or 
overpayments.

Overdue recommendations

The committee noted the current timetable for relaunching the recommendations 
database.

Page 9

Agenda Item 2



3

RESOLVED: to 

(a) Note the internal audit activity report for the second quarter 2018/19; and

(b) Request officers to seek written responses from Capita to the issues detailed above.

29 Internal audit management report quarter two 2018/2019 

The committee considered the internal audit manager’s management report on internal 
audit for the second quarter of 2018/19.

The committee noted that the internal audit team was now fully staffed, having carried a 
vacancy for five and a half months.

RESOLVED: to note the internal audit management report for the second quarter of 
2018/19.

30 Corporate risk review 

The committee considered a half yearly progress report on the councils’ corporate risk 
registers.

Three new risks had been added to both registers regarding customer engagement and 
managing perception, the Government deal for housing growth, and new channels of 
revenue growth.

In response to members’ questions about the risks relating to IT cybersecurity, officers 
advised that this would almost certainly continue to be a major risk as the threats were 
constantly changing. The councils had launched a cybersecurity awareness campaign for 
staff and officers agreed to update members on the campaign.   

RESOLVED: to note the report.

31 Work programme 

The committee considered the work programme and agreed that, in view of the number of 
items scheduled for it January meeting, to defer consideration of the following reports until 
March 2019:

 Comments and complaints 2017/18
 Code of conduct annual report 2017/18
 Internal audit charter

The meeting closed at 7.25 pm

Chairman Date

Page 10

Agenda Item 2



South Oxfordshire 
District Council
Annual Audit Letter for the year 
ended 31 March 2018

October 2018

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 6



2

Contents

Executive 
Summary

01

Purpose and 
Responsibilities

02

Financial Statement 
Audit

03

Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) have issued a ‘Statement of responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies’. It is available from the Chief Executive of each audited 
body and via the PSAA website (www.psaa.co.uk)

The Statement of responsibilities serves as the formal terms of engagement between appointed auditors and audited bodies. It summarises where the different responsibilities of 
auditors and audited bodies begin and end, and what is to be expected of the audited body in certain areas.

The ‘Terms of Appointment (updated 23 February 2017)’ issued by PSAA sets out additional requirements that auditors must comply with, over and above those set out in the 
National Audit Office Code of Audit Practice (the Code) and statute, and covers matters of practice and procedure which are of a recurring nature.

This Annual Audit Letter is prepared in the context of the Statement of responsibilities. It is addressed to the Members of the audited body, and is prepared for their sole use. We, 
as appointed auditor, take no responsibility to any third party.

Our Complaints Procedure – If at any time you would like to discuss with us how our service to you could be improved, or if you are dissatisfied with the service you are receiving, 
you may take the issue up with your usual partner or director contact. If you prefer an alternative route, please contact Steve Varley, our Managing Partner, 1 More London Place, 
London SE1 2AF. We undertake to look into any complaint carefully and promptly and to do all we can to explain the position to you. Should you remain dissatisfied with any aspect 
of our service, you may of course take matters up with our professional institute. We can provide further information on how you may contact our professional institute.

05
Other Reporting 

Issues

06

07

Value for 
Money

04
Focused on your 

future

Audit Fees

P
age 12

A
genda Item

 6



3

Executive Summary01

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 6



4

Executive Summary

We are required to issue an annual audit letter to South Oxfordshire District Council following completion of our audit procedures for the year ended 31 March 2018. 

Below are the results and conclusions on the significant areas of the audit process.

Area of Work Conclusion

Opinion on the Council’s:

► Financial statements

Unqualified – the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Council as at 31 March 2018 and of its 
expenditure and income for the year then ended.

► Consistency of other information published with the financial 
statements

Other information published with the financial statements was consistent with the Annual Accounts.

Concluding on the Council’s arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness

We concluded that you have put in place proper arrangements to secure value for money in your use of resources. 

Area of Work Conclusion

Reports by exception:

► Consistency of Governance Statement The Governance Statement was consistent with our understanding of the Council.

► Public interest report We had no matters to report in the public interest. 

► Written recommendations to the Council, which should be copied to 
the Secretary of State

We had no matters to report. 

► Other actions taken in relation to our responsibilities under the Local 
Audit and Accountability Act 2014

We had no matters to report. 

Area of Work Conclusion

Reporting to the National Audit Office (NAO) on our review of the 
Council’s Whole of Government Accounts return (WGA). 

We had no matters to report.

P
age 14

A
genda Item

 6



5

Executive Summary (cont’d)

As a result of the above we have also:

Area of Work Conclusion

Issued a report to those charged with governance of the Council 
communicating significant findings resulting from our audit.

Our Audit Results Report was issued on 21 September 2018.

Issued a certificate that we have completed the audit in accordance 
with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 
and the National Audit Office’s 2015 Code of Audit Practice.

Our certificate was issued on 28 September 2018.

In December 2018, we will also issue a report to those charged with governance of the Council summarising the certification work we have undertaken. 

We would like to take this opportunity to thank the Council’s staff for their assistance during the course of our work. 

Yours faithfully

Andrew Brittain

Associate Partner

For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP

P
age 15

A
genda Item

 6



6

Purpose and Responsibilities02

P
age 16

A
genda Item

 6



7

Purpose and Responsibilities

The Purpose of this Letter

The purpose of this annual audit letter is to communicate to Members and external stakeholders, including members of the public, the key issues arising from our work, 
which we consider should be brought to the attention of the Council. 

We have already reported the detailed findings from our audit work in our 2017/18 Audit Results Report to the 27 September 2018 Joint Audit & Governance  
Committee, representing those charged with governance. We do not repeat those detailed findings in this letter. The matters reported here are the most significant for 
the Council.

Responsibilities of the Appointed Auditor

Our 2017/18 audit work has been undertaken in accordance with the Audit Plan that we issued on 29 January 2018 and is conducted in accordance with the National 
Audit Office's 2015 Code of Audit Practice, International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland), and other guidance issued by the National Audit Office. 

As auditors we are responsible for:

► Expressing an opinion:

► On the 2017/18 financial statements; and

► On the consistency of other information published with the financial statements.

► Forming a conclusion on the arrangements the Council has to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

► Reporting by exception:

► If the annual governance statement is misleading or not consistent with our understanding of the Council;

► Any significant matters that are in the public interest; 

► Any written recommendations to the Council, which should be copied to the Secretary of State; and

► If we have discharged our duties and responsibilities as established by thy Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and Code of Audit Practice. 

Alongside our work on the financial statements, we also review and report to the National Audit Office (NAO) on you Whole of Government Accounts return.

Responsibilities of the Council

The Council is responsible for preparing and publishing its statement of accounts accompanied by an Annual Governance Statement. In the AGS, the Council reports 
publicly each year on how far it complies with its own code of governance, including how it has monitored and evaluated the effectiveness of its governance 
arrangements in year, and any changes planned in the coming period. 

The Council is also responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

P
age 17

A
genda Item

 6



8

Financial Statement Audit03

P
age 18

A
genda Item

 6



9

Financial Statement Audit

Key Issues

The Council’s Statement of Accounts is an important tool for the Council to show how it has used public money and how it can demonstrate its financial management and financial health.

We audited the Council’s Statement of Accounts in line with the National Audit Office’s 2015 Code of Audit Practice, International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland), and other 
guidance issued by the National Audit Office and issued an unqualified audit report on 28 September 2018.

Our detailed findings were reported to the 27 September 2018 Joint Audit & Governance Committee.

Significant Risk Conclusion

Risk of fraud in revenue and expenditure recognition 

Under ISA 240 there is a presumed risk that revenue may be misstated due 
to improper revenue recognition. In the public sector, this requirement is 
modified by Practice Note 10 issued by the Financial Reporting Council, 
which states that auditors should also consider the risk that material 
misstatements may occur by the manipulation of expenditure recognition. 

Procedures performed

• Reviewing and testing revenue and expenditure recognition policies.

• Reviewing and discussing with management any accounting estimates on revenue or expenditure 
recognition for evidence of bias.

• Developing a testing strategy to test material revenue and expenditure streams.

• Reviewing and testing cut-off at the period end date.

We focused on:

• Understanding the controls put in place by management relevant to this significant risk

• Considering whether or not purchase invoices were being inappropriately classified as capital

• Whether management were inappropriately processing journals that transferred amounts from revenue to 
capital

Conclusion:

• Our testing has not identified any material misstatements from revenue and expenditure recognition.

• Overall our audit work did not identify any material issues or unusual transactions to indicate any 
misreporting of the Authority’s financial position.

The key issues identified as part of our audit were as follows:

P
age 19

A
genda Item

 6



10

Financial Statement Audit (cont’d)

Significant Risk Conclusion

Risk of Management Override

The financial statements as a whole are not free of material misstatements 
whether caused by fraud or error.

As identified in ISA (UK and Ireland) 240, management is in a unique 
position to perpetrate fraud because of its ability to manipulate accounting 
records directly or indirectly and prepare fraudulent financial statements by 
overriding controls that otherwise appear to be operating effectively. We 
identify and respond to this fraud risk on every audit engagement.

Procedures performed: 

• Make enquiries of management about risks of fraud and the controls put in place to address those risks;

• Understand the oversight given by those charged with governance of management’s processes over fraud;

• We tested Cash income, cash expenditure and payables cut-off.

• We tested the appropriateness of journal entries recorded in the general ledger and other adjustments 
made in preparing the financial statements;

• We reviewed accounting estimates for evidence of management bias; and

• We evaluated the business rationale for any significant unusual transactions

We focused on aspects of the financial statements where management could inappropriately inflate income or 
understate expenditure, primarily:

• Material accounting estimates.

• Cash income, cash expenditure and payables cut-off.

• Revenue and expenditure recognition policies.

• Journal entries.

• Unusual transactions.

Conclusion:

• We have not identified any material weaknesses in controls or evidence of material management override.

• We have not identified any instances of inappropriate judgements being applied.

• We did not identify any other transactions during our audit which appeared unusual or outside the 
Authority‘s normal course of business

The key issues identified as part of our audit were as follows: (cont’d)

P
age 20

A
genda Item

 6



11

Financial Statement Audit (cont’d)

Other Key Findings Conclusion

1) Valuation of Land and Buildings

The fair value of Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) and 
Investment Properties (IP) represent significant balances in the 
Council’s accounts and are subject to valuation changes, 
impairment reviews and depreciation charges. Management is 
required to make material judgemental inputs and apply 
estimation techniques to calculate the year-end balances 
recorded in the balance sheet.
As the Councils’ asset bases are significant, and the outputs 
from the valuer are subject to estimation, there is a risk fixed 
assets may be under/overstated or the associated accounting 
entries incorrectly posted.  ISAs (UK and Ireland) 500 and 540 
require us to undertake procedures on the use of management 
experts and the assumptions underlying fair value estimates.

Procedures

• Consideration of the work performed by the Councils’ valuer, Bruton Knowles, including the adequacy of the scope of 
the work performed, professional capabilities and the results of their work. 

• Reviewing and sample testing the key asset information used by Bruton Knowles in performing their valuation;
• Consideration of the annual cycle of valuations to ensure that assets have been valued within a 5 year rolling 

programme as required by the Code. We have also considered if there are any specific changes to assets that have 
occurred and that these have been communicated to the valuer;

• Review of the desktop review and valuations performed by management’s internal valuer over assets not subject to 
external valuation in 2017/18 to confirm that the remaining asset base is not materially misstated;

• Consideration of the changes to useful economic lives as a result of the most recent valuation; 
• Considering whether asset categories held at cost have been assessed for impairment and are materially correct; and
• Testing that the accounting entries have been correctly processed in the financial statements, including the treatment 

of impairments. 

Conclusion

The valuation methodologies and the assumptions used to calculate the asset values are deemed to be reasonable. No 
significant issues have been noted.

2) Pension Liability Valuation

The Local Authority Accounting Code of Practice and IAS19 
require the Council to make extensive disclosures within its 
financial statements regarding its membership of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme administered by Hertfordshire 
County Council. The Council’s pension fund deficit is a material 
estimated balance and the Code requires that this liability be 
disclosed on the Council’s balance sheet. At 31 March 2018 this 
totalled £59.4m. The information disclosed is based on the IAS 
19 report issued to the Council by the actuary. Accounting for 
this scheme involves significant estimation and judgement and 
therefore management engages an actuary to undertake the 
calculations on their behalf. ISAs (UK and Ireland) 500 and 540 
require us to undertake procedures on the use of management 
experts and the assumptions underlying fair value estimates.

Procedures

• Liaised with the auditors of Oxfordshire Pension Fund, to obtain assurances over the information supplied to the 
actuary in relation to both Councils;

• Assessed the work of the Pension Fund actuary (Barnett Waddingham) including the assumptions they have used by 
relying on the work of PWC - Consulting Actuaries commissioned by the National Audit Office for all Local Government 
sector auditors, and considering any relevant reviews by the EY actuarial team; and 

• Reviewed and tested the accounting entries and disclosures made within the Councils’ financial statements in relation 
to IAS19.

Conclusion

The actuary performed a roll forward technique to estimate the value of SODC’s share of the pension scheme assets as at 
31 March 2018. The actual scheme assets at year end were higher than the estimated value and the difference between 
the actuaries estimate and the year-end actuals was £1.185m. As the movement in the schemes assets was not material 
to the Council’s accounts, management decided not to adjust the statements. 
We have assessed the work of the Pension Fund actuary Barnett Waddingham, including the assumptions they have used, 
as outlined above. No significant issues have been noted from the review of the assumptions used by the actuary. In 
conclusion, the pension scheme net liability valuation appears to be materially fairly stated.

P
age 21

A
genda Item

 6



12

Financial Statement Audit (cont’d)

When establishing our overall audit strategy, we determined a magnitude of uncorrected misstatements that we judged would be material for the financial statements as a whole.

Item Thresholds applied

Planning materiality Given the Council provides services to local residents / businesses, using income derived from a variety of sources including taxation (for example 
Council Tax and National Non-Domestic Rates), fees and charges for services, and grants from central government.  On this basis, our view is that 
the primary focus of stakeholders is likely to be on the management and control of expenditure. 

We therefore consider Gross Expenditure to be one of the principal considerations for stakeholders in assessing the financial performance of the 
Council.

We planned our procedures using a materiality of £1.45 million. We reassessed this using the year-end figures submitted for audit and these 
amounts changed slightly to £1.59 million.   However, a material (£12.3 million) audit adjustment was made to the Council’s income and expenditure 
account after the draft accounts were published, subsequently lowered our materiality to £1.34 million. This adjustment related to the fact that 
South Oxfordshire was collecting income from the other bodies in the ‘Five Councils’ partnership and then making a single payment to Capita on their 
behalf. However, the Council was merely acting as an agent in this transaction so the costs were removed the Council’s financial statements as per 
the requirements of the Code of Practice. 

Reporting threshold We agreed with the Joint Audit & Governance Committee that we would report to the Committee all unadjusted audit differences above £79k, but 
this was also lowered as a result of the above to £67k.

We also identified the following areas where misstatement at a level lower than our overall materiality level might influence the reader. For these areas we developed an audit strategy 
specific to these areas. The areas identified and audit strategy applied include:

• Remuneration disclosures including any severance payments, exit packages and termination benefits. We applied a lower threshold for errors.

• Related party transactions, the accounting standard requires us to consider the disclosure from the point of materiality to either side of the transaction we therefore considered this on a 
case by case basis.

• Members’ allowances, we applied a lower threshold for errors.

We evaluate any uncorrected misstatements against both the quantitative measures of materiality discussed above and in light of other relevant qualitative considerations. 

Our application of materiality

P
age 22

A
genda Item

 6



Value for Money04

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 6



14

Value for Money

We are required to consider whether the Council has put in place ‘proper arrangements’ to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness on its use of resources. This is 
known as our value for money conclusion.

Proper arrangements are defined by statutory guidance issued by the National Audit Office. They comprise your arrangements to:

► Take informed decisions;

► Deploy resources in a sustainable manner; and

► Work with partners and other third parties.

Proper 
arrangements for 
securing value for 

money
Working 

with 
partners 
and third 
parties

Sustainable 
resource 

deployment

Informed 
decision 
making

We identified two significant risks in relation to these arrangements. The table below present the findings of our work in response to the risks identified.

We have performed the procedures outlined in our audit plan. We did not identify any significant weaknesses in the Council’s arrangements to ensure it took properly 
informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. 

P
age 24

A
genda Item

 6



15

Value for Money (cont’d)

We therefore issued an unqualified value for money conclusion on 28 September 2018

Significant Risk Conclusion

Implementation of the Corporate Services Contracts

From the 1 August 2016, the Council began the implementation 
of the Corporate Services Contracts with Capita (Lot 1) and 
Vinci (Lot 2) respectively, as part of the five Council Partnership 
arrangements.
These contracts were designed to generate savings of over 
£50m for the five Councils across their lifetime of nine years 
but the Councils are now in the process of renegotiating both 
Lot 1 and Lot 2 due to issues with the way the contracts were 
constructed and the implications for the practical 
implementation of them. 
Given the likely significant changes to the two contracts there is 
a risk that both the services and financial performance of the 
Councils would be negatively impacted if renegotiation results
in contracts that are difficult to implement or do not deliver the 
intended benefits. 

Our review has focussed on reviewing the governance arrangements over the implementation of the contract and we have 
concluded on the following: 

The corporate services contracts remains an ongoing concern for both councils; The amounts invoiced under the Lot 1 
Capita Contract are in line with the agreed financial model for core services. However, in light of significant performance 
issues, such as ongoing payroll processing problems and the delayed implementation of the new general ledger, 
commercial renegotiations around Lot 1 have been underway throughout 2017/18. As the year has progressed, the 
councils have also experienced significant issues with the resourcing model and capacity to deliver statutory process such 
as the annual financial statements. A new inter authority agreement is in place but had yet to be signed at the date of our 
audit report. The Lot 2 contract to provide estates services has been terminated and the Council is negotiating a financial 
settlement. The service delivery and associated staff will be brought back in-house.

While the original savings figure of £50 million across the five councils was aspirational rather than fully quantified, it is 
apparent that the level of savings, certainly in the short term, will not be as high as initially planned. However, we noted 
that if the renegotiation of the Lot 1 contract delivers the intended level of provision, then there is still scope for the 
councils to find efficiencies from the partnership with Capita. The council continues to monitor the contract performance 
and the expected governance arrangements are in place, although these are not fully embedded but are strengthening 
over time. As such, internal and external stakeholders are able to assess the objectives and outcomes of the contract. 

We have no matters to report.

Senior Management restructure

During 2016/17, as part of the transition to the new corporate 
services contracts, there were significant changes to the joint 
senior management team at the Council. In 2016/17 our Value 
for Money (VFM) opinion was qualified due to uncertainties over 
the process undertaken in connection with the redundancies of 
two strategic directors. Moving into 2017/18, the council still 
has a number of Director and Senior Management vacancies, 
which are currently filled on an interim basis. Until the new 
structure is permanent and embedded there will be a continued 
risk to the Council’s operational structure and decision-making 
processes. 

Our review has focussed on reviewing the arrangements put in place to manage the restructure and we have concluded on 
the following: 

The council acknowledged that the management structure was not fit for purposes and took steps to address this by 
implementing a new structure from August 2017. The new structure consists of eight Head of Services reporting to the 
Head of Paid Services. The role of Deputy s151 Officer was also created to provide support to the statutory officer’s role. 
Three of these positions remained interim appointments but these are expected to become permanent as the new 
structure becomes embedded. 

Our work also assessed the processes undertaken by the Council after the departure of the previous Chief Executive, both 
in terms of the internal governance and the legality of the exit packages. We found that the Council had followed due 
process and obtained the relevant legal advice, which provides us with assurance that the correct arrangements and 
governance controls were adhered to, Or work on the financial statements identified inconsistencies between the exit 
packages notes in the accounts and the accounting records but the council has amended these.    

Moving forward, and with the bulk of the redundancies and re-organisation now complete, the Councils’ new structure 
looks to provide better management support and is better equipped to facilitate service delivery.

We have no matters to report.

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 6



16

Other Reporting Issues05

P
age 26

A
genda Item

 6



17

Other Reporting Issues

Whole of Government Accounts

We performed the procedures required by the National Audit Office on the accuracy of the consolidation pack prepared by the Council for Whole of Government Accounts purposes. We had 
no issues to report.

Annual Governance Statement

We are required to consider the completeness of disclosures in the Council’s annual governance statement, identify any inconsistencies with the other information of which we are aware 
from our work, and consider whether it is misleading.

We completed this work and did not identify any areas of concern. 

Report in the Public Interest

We have a duty under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to consider whether, in the public interest, to report on any matter that comes to our attention in the course of the audit 
in order for it to be considered by the Council or brought to the attention of the public.

We did not identify any issues which required us to issue a report in the public interest.

Written Recommendations

We have a duty under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to designate any audit recommendation as one that requires the Council to consider it at a public meeting and to decide 
what action to take in response. 

We did not identify any issues which required us to issue a written recommendation.

Objections Received

We did not receive any objections to the 2017/18 financial statements from members of the public. 

Other Powers and Duties

We identified no issues during our audit that required us to use our additional powers under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. 

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 6



18

Other Reporting Issues (cont’d)

Independence

We communicated our assessment of independence in our Audit Results Report to the Joint Audit & Governance Committee on 27 September 2018. In our professional judgement the firm 
is independent and the objectivity of the audit engagement partner and audit staff has not been compromised within the meaning regulatory and professional requirements. 

Control Themes and Observations

As part of our work, we obtained an understanding of internal control sufficient to plan our audit and determine the nature, timing and extent of testing performed. Although our audit was 
not designed to express an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control, we are required to communicate to you significant deficiencies in internal control identified during our audit. 

We have adopted a fully substantive approach and have therefore not tested the operation of controls. 

Our audit did not identify any controls issues to bring to the attention of the Audit Committee.

As required by ISA (UK&I) 260 and other ISAs specifying communication requirements, we must inform you of any significant findings from the audit, and other matters if they are 
significant to your oversight of the Authority’s financial reporting process. We have previously notified you of one issue which was the delay in receiving audit evidence and the missed 
statutory audit deadline; 

Reduction in staff capacity had a detrimental effect on the timeliness and quality of the evidence provided for audit.   As a result of this, the audit was not completed by the statutory 
deadline of 31 July 2018 because we were unable to gain sufficient evidence within the required timescale to enable the opinion to be issued. We formally notified the Council and Joint 
Audit and Governance Committee on 17 July 2018 that the statutory deadline would not be met. PSAA were notified of this and the NAO were also made aware that the Whole 
Government Accounts (WGA) opinion would also be issued late. The audit was completed following a subsequent audit visit in September.

These issues have also had a significant impact on the audit fee which is detailed in section 07 of this letter.

P
age 28

A
genda Item

 6



19

Focused on your future06

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 6



20

Focused on your future

The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom introduces the application of new accounting standards in future years. The impact on the 
Council is summarised in the table below. 

Standard Issue Impact

IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments

Applicable for local authority accounts from the 2018/19 financial year and 
will change:

• How financial assets are classified and measured;

• How the impairment of financial assets are calculated; and 

• The disclosure requirements for financial assets.

There are transitional arrangements within the standard and the 2018/19 
Accounting Code of Practice for Local Authorities has now been issued, 
providing guidance on the application of IFRS 9. In advance of the Guidance 
Notes being issued, CIPFA have issued some provisional information providing 
detail on the impact on local authority accounting of IFRS 9, however the key 
outstanding issue is whether any accounting statutory overrides will be 
introduced to mitigate any impact.

Although the Code has now been issued, providing guidance on the 
application of the standard, along with other provisional information 
issued by CIPFA on the approach to adopting IFRS 9, until the 
Guidance Notes are issued and any statutory overrides are 
confirmed there remains some uncertainty. However, what is clear 
is that the Council will have to:

• Reclassify existing financial instrument assets

• Re-measure and recalculate potential impairments of those 
assets; and 

• Prepare additional disclosure notes for material items.

IFRS 15 Revenue 
from Contracts 
with Customers

Applicable for local authority accounts from the 2018/19 financial year. This 
new standard deals with accounting for all contracts with customers except:

• Leases;

• Financial instruments;

• Insurance contracts; and

• For local authorities; Council Tax and NDR income.

The key requirements of the standard cover the identification of performance 
obligations under customer contracts and the linking of income to the 
meeting of those performance obligations.

Now that the 2018/19 Accounting Code of Practice for Local Authorities has 
been issued it is becoming clear what the impact on local authority accounting 
will be. As the vast majority of revenue streams of Local Authorities fall 
outside the scope of IFRS 15, the impact of this standard is likely to be 
limited.

As with IFRS 9, some provisional information on the approach to 
adopting IFRS 15 has been issued by CIPFA in advance of the 
Guidance Notes. Now that the Code has been issued, initial views 
have been confirmed; that due to the revenue streams of Local 
Authorities the impact of this standard is likely to be limited.

The standard is far more likely to impact on Local Authority Trading 
Companies who will have material revenue streams arising from 
contracts with customers. The Council will need to consider the 
impact of this on their own group accounts when that trading 
company is consolidated.

P
age 30

A
genda Item

 6



21

Audit Fees07

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 6



22

Audit Fees

Our fee for 2017/18 is based on the scale fee set by the PSAA and reflects our reporting in our 27 September 2018 Audit Results Report. 

Final Fee  

2017/18

Planned Fee

2017/18

Scale Fee 

2017/18

Final Fee 

2016/17

£ £ £ £

Total Audit Fee – Code work TBC* 48,186 48,186 54,467

Non-audit work HB grant claims 10,972 10,972 10,972 9,623

*We have proposed and agreed a fee variation of £25,222 in 2017/18 to take account of the additional work required in relation to the delays experienced with the 
audit plus extra work required as a result of a material amendment to the CIES and the additional VfM risks identified.  The delays in the audit caused the cessation of 
the audit visit in July with an additional 3 week visit in September.  The delays were in relation to obtaining sufficient evidence to support the audit opinion.  They 
were across a number of areas but included payroll, PPE, debtors, leases, capital grants, long term debtors, remuneration notes and disclosures more generally, 
income and expenditure testing, investment property, creditors, contracts, the collection fund and reserves.

This fee is subject to approval by the PSAA. 

We confirm we have not undertaken any non-audit work outside of the PSAA’s requirements. 

P
age 32

A
genda Item

 6



EY | Assurance | Tax | Transactions | Advisory

About EY
EY is a global leader in assurance, tax, transaction
and advisory services. The insights and quality
services we deliver help build trust and confidence
in the capital markets and in economies the world
over. We develop outstanding leaders who team to
deliver on our promises to all of our stakeholders.
In so doing, we play a critical role in building a better 
working world for our people, for our clients and for
our communities.

EY refers to the global organization, and may refer
to one or more, of the member firms of Ernst & Young
Global Limited, each of which is a separate legal entity.
Ernst & Young Global Limited, a UK company limited
by guarantee, does not provide services to clients.
For more information about our organization, please
visit ey.com.

© 2018 EYGM Limited.
All Rights Reserved.

ED None

EY-000070901-01 (UK) 07/18. CSG London.

In line with EY’s commitment to minimise its
impact on the environment, this document has
been printed on paper with a high recycled content.

This material has been prepared for general informational purposes
only and is not intended to be relied upon as accounting, tax, or other 
professional advice. Please refer to your advisors for specific advice.

ey.com

P
age 33

A
genda Item

 6



Vale of White Horse 
District Council
Annual Audit Letter for the year 
ended 31 March 2018

October 2018

P
age 34

A
genda Item

 6



2

Contents

Executive 
Summary

01

Purpose and 
Responsibilities

02

Financial Statement 
Audit

03

Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) have issued a ‘Statement of responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies’. It is available from the Chief Executive of each audited 
body and via the PSAA website (www.psaa.co.uk)

The Statement of responsibilities serves as the formal terms of engagement between appointed auditors and audited bodies. It summarises where the different responsibilities of 
auditors and audited bodies begin and end, and what is to be expected of the audited body in certain areas.

The ‘Terms of Appointment (updated 23 February 2017)’ issued by PSAA sets out additional requirements that auditors must comply with, over and above those set out in the 
National Audit Office Code of Audit Practice (the Code) and statute, and covers matters of practice and procedure which are of a recurring nature.

This Annual Audit Letter is prepared in the context of the Statement of responsibilities. It is addressed to the Members of the audited body, and is prepared for their sole use. We, 
as appointed auditor, take no responsibility to any third party.

Our Complaints Procedure – If at any time you would like to discuss with us how our service to you could be improved, or if you are dissatisfied with the service you are receiving, 
you may take the issue up with your usual partner or director contact. If you prefer an alternative route, please contact Steve Varley, our Managing Partner, 1 More London Place, 
London SE1 2AF. We undertake to look into any complaint carefully and promptly and to do all we can to explain the position to you. Should you remain dissatisfied with any aspect 
of our service, you may of course take matters up with our professional institute. We can provide further information on how you may contact our professional institute.

05
Other Reporting 

Issues

06

07

Value for 
Money

04
Focused on your 

future

Audit Fees

P
age 35

A
genda Item

 6



3

Executive Summary01

P
age 36

A
genda Item

 6



4

Executive Summary

We are required to issue an annual audit letter to Vale of White Horse District Council following completion of our audit procedures for the year ended 31 March 2018. 

Below are the results and conclusions on the significant areas of the audit process.

Area of Work Conclusion

Opinion on the Council’s:

► Financial statements

Unqualified – the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Council as at 31 March 2018 and of its 
expenditure and income for the year then ended.

► Consistency of other information published with the financial 
statements

Other information published with the financial statements was consistent with the Annual Accounts.

Concluding on the Council’s arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness

We concluded that you have put in place proper arrangements to secure value for money in your use of resources. 

Area of Work Conclusion

Reports by exception:

► Consistency of Governance Statement The Governance Statement was consistent with our understanding of the Council.

► Public interest report We had no matters to report in the public interest. 

► Written recommendations to the Council, which should be copied to 
the Secretary of State

We had no matters to report. 

► Other actions taken in relation to our responsibilities under the Local 
Audit and Accountability Act 2014

We had no matters to report. 

Area of Work Conclusion

Reporting to the National Audit Office (NAO) on our review of the 
Council’s Whole of Government Accounts return (WGA). 

We had no matters to report.

P
age 37

A
genda Item

 6



5

Executive Summary (cont’d)

As a result of the above we have also:

Area of Work Conclusion

Issued a report to those charged with governance of the Council 
communicating significant findings resulting from our audit.

Our Audit Results Report was issued on 21 September 2018.

Issued a certificate that we have completed the audit in accordance 
with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 
and the National Audit Office’s 2015 Code of Audit Practice.

Our certificate was issued on 28 September 2018.

In December 2018, we will also issue a report to those charged with governance of the Council summarising the certification work we have undertaken. 

We would like to take this opportunity to thank the Council’s staff for their assistance during the course of our work. 

Yours faithfully

Andrew Brittain

Associate Partner

For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP

P
age 38

A
genda Item

 6



6

Purpose and Responsibilities02

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 6



7

Purpose and Responsibilities

The Purpose of this Letter

The purpose of this annual audit letter is to communicate to Members and external stakeholders, including members of the public, the key issues arising from our work, 
which we consider should be brought to the attention of the Council. 

We have already reported the detailed findings from our audit work in our 2017/18 Audit Results Report to the 27 September 2018 Joint Audit & Governance  
Committee, representing those charged with governance. We do not repeat those detailed findings in this letter. The matters reported here are the most significant for 
the Council.

Responsibilities of the Appointed Auditor

Our 2017/18 audit work has been undertaken in accordance with the Audit Plan that we issued on 29 January 2018 and is conducted in accordance with the National 
Audit Office's 2015 Code of Audit Practice, International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland), and other guidance issued by the National Audit Office. 

As auditors we are responsible for:

► Expressing an opinion:

► On the 2017/18 financial statements; and

► On the consistency of other information published with the financial statements.

► Forming a conclusion on the arrangements the Council has to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

► Reporting by exception:

► If the annual governance statement is misleading or not consistent with our understanding of the Council;

► Any significant matters that are in the public interest; 

► Any written recommendations to the Council, which should be copied to the Secretary of State; and

► If we have discharged our duties and responsibilities as established by thy Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and Code of Audit Practice. 

Alongside our work on the financial statements, we also review and report to the National Audit Office (NAO) on you Whole of Government Accounts return.

Responsibilities of the Council

The Council is responsible for preparing and publishing its statement of accounts accompanied by an Annual Governance Statement. In the AGS, the Council reports 
publicly each year on how far it complies with its own code of governance, including how it has monitored and evaluated the effectiveness of its governance 
arrangements in year, and any changes planned in the coming period. 

The Council is also responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

P
age 40

A
genda Item

 6



8

Financial Statement Audit03

P
age 41

A
genda Item

 6



9

Financial Statement Audit

Key Issues

The Council’s Statement of Accounts is an important tool for the Council to show how it has used public money and how it can demonstrate its financial management and financial health.

We audited the Council’s Statement of Accounts in line with the National Audit Office’s 2015 Code of Audit Practice, International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland), and other 
guidance issued by the National Audit Office and issued an unqualified audit report on 28 September 2018.

Our detailed findings were reported to the 27 September 2018 Joint Audit & Governance Committee.

Significant Risk Conclusion

Risk of fraud in revenue and expenditure recognition 

Under ISA 240 there is a presumed risk that revenue may be misstated due 
to improper revenue recognition. In the public sector, this requirement is 
modified by Practice Note 10 issued by the Financial Reporting Council, 
which states that auditors should also consider the risk that material 
misstatements may occur by the manipulation of expenditure recognition. 

Procedures performed

• Reviewing and testing revenue and expenditure recognition policies.

• Reviewing and discussing with management any accounting estimates on revenue or expenditure 
recognition for evidence of bias.

• Developing a testing strategy to test material revenue and expenditure streams.

• Reviewing and testing cut-off at the period end date.

We focused on:

• Understanding the controls put in place by management relevant to this significant risk

• Considering whether or not purchase invoices were being inappropriately classified as capital

• Whether management were inappropriately processing journals that transferred amounts from revenue to 
capital

Conclusion:

• Our testing has not identified any material misstatements from revenue and expenditure recognition.

• Overall our audit work did not identify any material issues or unusual transactions to indicate any 
misreporting of the Authority’s financial position.

The key issues identified as part of our audit were as follows:

P
age 42

A
genda Item

 6



10

Financial Statement Audit (cont’d)

Significant Risk Conclusion

Risk of Management Override

The financial statements as a whole are not free of material misstatements 
whether caused by fraud or error.

As identified in ISA (UK and Ireland) 240, management is in a unique 
position to perpetrate fraud because of its ability to manipulate accounting 
records directly or indirectly and prepare fraudulent financial statements by 
overriding controls that otherwise appear to be operating effectively. We 
identify and respond to this fraud risk on every audit engagement.

Procedures performed: 

• Make enquiries of management about risks of fraud and the controls put in place to address those risks;

• Understand the oversight given by those charged with governance of management’s processes over fraud;

• We tested Cash income, cash expenditure and payables cut-off.

• We tested the appropriateness of journal entries recorded in the general ledger and other adjustments 
made in preparing the financial statements;

• We reviewed accounting estimates for evidence of management bias; and

• We evaluated the business rationale for any significant unusual transactions

We focused on aspects of the financial statements where management could inappropriately inflate income or 
understate expenditure, primarily:

• Material accounting estimates.

• Cash income, cash expenditure and payables cut-off.

• Revenue and expenditure recognition policies.

• Journal entries.

• Unusual transactions.

Conclusion:

• We have not identified any material weaknesses in controls or evidence of material management override.

• We have not identified any instances of inappropriate judgements being applied.

• We did not identify any other transactions during our audit which appeared unusual or outside the 
Authority‘s normal course of business

The key issues identified as part of our audit were as follows: (cont’d)

P
age 43

A
genda Item

 6



11

Financial Statement Audit (cont’d)

Other Key Findings Conclusion

1) Valuation of Land and Buildings

The fair value of Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) and 
Investment Properties (IP) represent significant balances in the 
Council’s accounts and are subject to valuation changes, 
impairment reviews and depreciation charges. Management is 
required to make material judgemental inputs and apply 
estimation techniques to calculate the year-end balances 
recorded in the balance sheet.
As the Councils’ asset bases are significant, and the outputs 
from the valuer are subject to estimation, there is a risk fixed 
assets may be under/overstated or the associated accounting 
entries incorrectly posted.  ISAs (UK and Ireland) 500 and 540 
require us to undertake procedures on the use of management 
experts and the assumptions underlying fair value estimates.

Procedures

• Consideration of the work performed by the Council’s valuer, Bruton Knowles, including the adequacy of the scope of 
the work performed, professional capabilities and the results of their work. 

• Reviewing and sample testing the key asset information used by Bruton Knowles in performing their valuation;
• Consideration of the annual cycle of valuations to ensure that assets have been valued within a 5 year rolling 

programme as required by the Code. We have also considered if there are any specific changes to assets that have 
occurred and that these have been communicated to the valuer;

• Review of the desktop review and valuations performed by management’s internal valuer over assets not subject to 
external valuation in 2017/18 to confirm that the remaining asset base is not materially misstated;

• Consideration of the changes to useful economic lives as a result of the most recent valuation; 
• Considering whether asset categories held at cost have been assessed for impairment and are materially correct; and
• Testing that the accounting entries have been correctly processed in the financial statements, including the treatment 

of impairments. 

Conclusion

We identified one asset, land at the White Horse Tennis & Leisure Centre, which was undervalued by £969k.  This was 
adjusted for by management in the final statement of accounts.  

We assessed the work performed by the Council’s valuer, Bruton Knowles, including the assumptions they have used, as 
outlined above.  No other issues were noted and land and buildings appears to be materially fairly stated.

2) Pension Liability Valuation

The Local Authority Accounting Code of Practice and IAS19 
require the Council to make extensive disclosures within its 
financial statements regarding its membership of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme administered by Hertfordshire 
County Council. The Council’s pension fund deficit is a material 
estimated balance and the Code requires that this liability be 
disclosed on the Council’s balance sheet. At 31 March 2018 this 
totalled £45.5m. The information disclosed is based on the IAS 
19 report issued to the Council by the actuary. Accounting for 
this scheme involves significant estimation and judgement and 
therefore management engages an actuary to undertake the 
calculations on their behalf. ISAs (UK and Ireland) 500 and 540 
require us to undertake procedures on the use of management 
experts and the assumptions underlying fair value estimates.

Procedures

• Liaised with the auditors of Oxfordshire Pension Fund, to obtain assurances over the information supplied to the 
actuary in relation to both Councils;

• Assessed the work of the Pension Fund actuary (Barnett Waddingham) including the assumptions they have used by 
relying on the work of PWC - Consulting Actuaries commissioned by the National Audit Office for all Local Government 
sector auditors, and considering any relevant reviews by the EY actuarial team; and 

• Reviewed and tested the accounting entries and disclosures made within the Councils’ financial statements in relation 
to IAS19.

Conclusion

The actuary performed a roll forward technique to estimate the value of SODC’s share of the pension scheme assets as at 
31 March 2018. The actual scheme assets at year end were higher than the estimated value and the difference between 
the actuaries estimate and the year-end actuals was £0.714m. As the movement in the schemes assets was not material 
to the Council’s accounts, management decided not to adjust the statements. 
We assessed the work of the Pension Fund actuary Barnett Waddingham, including the assumptions they have used, as 
outlined above. No significant issues have been noted from the review of the assumptions used by the actuary. In 
conclusion, the pension scheme net liability valuation appears to be materially fairly stated.

P
age 44

A
genda Item

 6



12

Financial Statement Audit (cont’d)

When establishing our overall audit strategy, we determined a magnitude of uncorrected misstatements that we judged would be material for the financial statements as a whole.

Item Thresholds applied

Planning materiality Given the Council provides services to local residents / businesses, using income derived from a variety of sources including taxation (for example 
Council Tax and National Non-Domestic Rates), fees and charges for services, and grants from central government.  On this basis, our view is that 
the primary focus of stakeholders is likely to be on the management and control of expenditure. 

We therefore consider Gross Expenditure to be one of the principal considerations for stakeholders in assessing the financial performance of the 
Council.

We planned our procedures using a materiality of £1.24 million. We reassessed this using the year-end figures submitted for audit and these 
amounts changed slightly to £1.22 million.

Reporting threshold We agreed with the Joint Audit & Governance Committee that we would report to the Committee all unadjusted audit differences above £62k.

We also identified the following areas where misstatement at a level lower than our overall materiality level might influence the reader. For these areas we developed an audit strategy 
specific to these areas. The areas identified and audit strategy applied include:

• Remuneration disclosures including any severance payments, exit packages and termination benefits. We applied a lower threshold for errors.

• Related party transactions, the accounting standard requires us to consider the disclosure from the point of materiality to either side of the transaction we therefore considered this on a 
case by case basis.

• Members’ allowances, we applied a lower threshold for errors.

We evaluate any uncorrected misstatements against both the quantitative measures of materiality discussed above and in light of other relevant qualitative considerations. 

Our application of materiality

P
age 45

A
genda Item

 6



Value for Money04

P
age 46

A
genda Item

 6



14

Value for Money

We are required to consider whether the Council has put in place ‘proper arrangements’ to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness on its use of resources. This is 
known as our value for money conclusion.

Proper arrangements are defined by statutory guidance issued by the National Audit Office. They comprise your arrangements to:

► Take informed decisions;

► Deploy resources in a sustainable manner; and

► Work with partners and other third parties.

Proper 
arrangements for 
securing value for 

money
Working 

with 
partners 
and third 
parties

Sustainable 
resource 

deployment

Informed 
decision 
making

We identified two significant risks in relation to these arrangements. The table below present the findings of our work in response to the risks identified.

We have performed the procedures outlined in our audit plan. We did not identify any significant weaknesses in the Council’s arrangements to ensure it took properly 
informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. 

P
age 47

A
genda Item

 6



15

Value for Money (cont’d)

We therefore issued an unqualified value for money conclusion on 28 September 2018

Significant Risk Conclusion

Implementation of the Corporate Services Contracts

From the 1 August 2016, the Council began the implementation 
of the Corporate Services Contracts with Capita (Lot 1) and 
Vinci (Lot 2) respectively, as part of the five Council Partnership 
arrangements.
These contracts were designed to generate savings of over 
£50m for the five Councils across their lifetime of nine years 
but the Councils are now in the process of renegotiating both 
Lot 1 and Lot 2 due to issues with the way the contracts were 
constructed and the implications for the practical 
implementation of them. 
Given the likely significant changes to the two contracts there is 
a risk that both the services and financial performance of the 
Councils would be negatively impacted if renegotiation results
in contracts that are difficult to implement or do not deliver the 
intended benefits. 

Our review has focussed on reviewing the governance arrangements over the implementation of the contract and we have 
concluded on the following: 

The corporate services contracts remains an ongoing concern for both councils; The amounts invoiced under the Lot 1 
Capita Contract are in line with the agreed financial model for core services. However, in light of significant performance 
issues, such as ongoing payroll processing problems and the delayed implementation of the new general ledger, 
commercial renegotiations around Lot 1 have been underway throughout 2017/18. As the year has progressed, the 
councils have also experienced significant issues with the resourcing model and capacity to deliver statutory process such 
as the annual financial statements. A new inter authority agreement is in place but had yet to be signed at the date of our 
audit report. The Lot 2 contract to provide estates services has been terminated and the Council is negotiating a financial 
settlement. The service delivery and associated staff will be brought back in-house.

While the original savings figure of £50 million across the five councils was aspirational rather than fully quantified, it is 
apparent that the level of savings, certainly in the short term, will not be as high as initially planned. However, we noted 
that if the renegotiation of the Lot 1 contract delivers the intended level of provision, then there is still scope for the 
councils to find efficiencies from the partnership with Capita. The council continues to monitor the contract performance 
and the expected governance arrangements are in place, although these are not fully embedded but are strengthening 
over time. As such, internal and external stakeholders are able to assess the objectives and outcomes of the contract. 

We have no matters to report.

Senior Management restructure

During 2016/17, as part of the transition to the new corporate 
services contracts, there were significant changes to the joint 
senior management team at the Council. In 2016/17 our Value 
for Money (VFM) opinion was qualified due to uncertainties over 
the process undertaken in connection with the redundancies of 
two strategic directors. Moving into 2017/18, the council still 
has a number of Director and Senior Management vacancies, 
which are currently filled on an interim basis. Until the new 
structure is permanent and embedded there will be a continued 
risk to the Council’s operational structure and decision-making 
processes. 

Our review has focussed on reviewing the arrangements put in place to manage the restructure and we have concluded on 
the following: 

The council acknowledged that the management structure was not fit for purposes and took steps to address this by 
implementing a new structure from August 2017. The new structure consists of eight Head of Services reporting to the 
Head of Paid Services. The role of Deputy s151 Officer was also created to provide support to the statutory officer’s role. 
Three of these positions remain interim appointments but these are expected to become permanent as the new structure 
becomes embedded. 

Our work also assessed the processes undertaken by the Council after the departure of the previous Chief Executive, both 
in terms of the internal governance and the legality of the exit packages. We found that the Council had followed due 
process and obtained the relevant legal advice, which provides us with assurance that the correct arrangements and 
governance controls were adhered to, Or work on the financial statements identified inconsistencies between the exit 
packages notes in the accounts and the accounting records but the council has amended these.    

Moving forward, and with the bulk of the redundancies and re-organisation now complete, the Councils’ new structure 
looks to provide better management support and is better equipped to facilitate service delivery.

We have no matters to report.

P
age 48

A
genda Item

 6



16

Other Reporting Issues05

P
age 49

A
genda Item

 6



17

Other Reporting Issues

Whole of Government Accounts

We performed the procedures required by the National Audit Office on the accuracy of the consolidation pack prepared by the Council for Whole of Government Accounts purposes. We had 
no issues to report.

Annual Governance Statement

We are required to consider the completeness of disclosures in the Council’s annual governance statement, identify any inconsistencies with the other information of which we are aware 
from our work, and consider whether it is misleading.

We completed this work and did not identify any areas of concern. 

Report in the Public Interest

We have a duty under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to consider whether, in the public interest, to report on any matter that comes to our attention in the course of the audit 
in order for it to be considered by the Council or brought to the attention of the public.

We did not identify any issues which required us to issue a report in the public interest.

Written Recommendations

We have a duty under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to designate any audit recommendation as one that requires the Council to consider it at a public meeting and to decide 
what action to take in response. 

We did not identify any issues which required us to issue a written recommendation.

Objections Received

We did not receive any objections to the 2017/18 financial statements from members of the public. 

Other Powers and Duties

We identified no issues during our audit that required us to use our additional powers under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. 

P
age 50

A
genda Item

 6



18

Other Reporting Issues (cont’d)

Independence

We communicated our assessment of independence in our Audit Results Report to the Joint Audit & Governance Committee on 27 September 2018. In our professional judgement the firm 
is independent and the objectivity of the audit engagement partner and audit staff has not been compromised within the meaning regulatory and professional requirements. 

Control Themes and Observations

As part of our work, we obtained an understanding of internal control sufficient to plan our audit and determine the nature, timing and extent of testing performed. Although our audit was 
not designed to express an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control, we are required to communicate to you significant deficiencies in internal control identified during our audit. 

We have adopted a fully substantive approach and have therefore not tested the operation of controls. 

Our audit did not identify any controls issues to bring to the attention of the Audit Committee.

As required by ISA (UK&I) 260 and other ISAs specifying communication requirements, we must inform you of any significant findings from the audit, and other matters if they are 
significant to your oversight of the Authority’s financial reporting process. We have previously notified you of one issue which was the delay in receiving audit evidence and the missed 
statutory audit deadline; 

Reduction in staff capacity had a detrimental effect on the timeliness and quality of the evidence provided for audit.   As a result of this, the audit was not completed by the statutory 
deadline of 31 July 2018 because we were unable to gain sufficient evidence within the required timescale to enable the opinion to be issued. We formally notified the Council and Joint 
Audit and Governance Committee on 17 July 2018 that the statutory deadline would not be met. PSAA were notified of this and the NAO were also made aware that the Whole 
Government Accounts (WGA) opinion would also be issued late. The audit was completed following a subsequent audit visit in September.

These issues have also had a significant impact on the audit fee which is detailed in section 07 of this letter.

P
age 51

A
genda Item

 6



19

Focused on your future06

P
age 52

A
genda Item

 6



20

Focused on your future

The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom introduces the application of new accounting standards in future years. The impact on the 
Council is summarised in the table below. 

Standard Issue Impact

IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments

Applicable for local authority accounts from the 2018/19 financial year and 
will change:

• How financial assets are classified and measured;

• How the impairment of financial assets are calculated; and 

• The disclosure requirements for financial assets.

There are transitional arrangements within the standard and the 2018/19 
Accounting Code of Practice for Local Authorities has now been issued, 
providing guidance on the application of IFRS 9. In advance of the Guidance 
Notes being issued, CIPFA have issued some provisional information providing 
detail on the impact on local authority accounting of IFRS 9, however the key 
outstanding issue is whether any accounting statutory overrides will be 
introduced to mitigate any impact.

Although the Code has now been issued, providing guidance on the 
application of the standard, along with other provisional information 
issued by CIPFA on the approach to adopting IFRS 9, until the 
Guidance Notes are issued and any statutory overrides are 
confirmed there remains some uncertainty. However, what is clear 
is that the Council will have to:

• Reclassify existing financial instrument assets

• Re-measure and recalculate potential impairments of those 
assets; and 

• Prepare additional disclosure notes for material items.

IFRS 15 Revenue 
from Contracts 
with Customers

Applicable for local authority accounts from the 2018/19 financial year. This 
new standard deals with accounting for all contracts with customers except:

• Leases;

• Financial instruments;

• Insurance contracts; and

• For local authorities; Council Tax and NDR income.

The key requirements of the standard cover the identification of performance 
obligations under customer contracts and the linking of income to the 
meeting of those performance obligations.

Now that the 2018/19 Accounting Code of Practice for Local Authorities has 
been issued it is becoming clear what the impact on local authority accounting 
will be. As the vast majority of revenue streams of Local Authorities fall 
outside the scope of IFRS 15, the impact of this standard is likely to be 
limited.

As with IFRS 9, some provisional information on the approach to 
adopting IFRS 15 has been issued by CIPFA in advance of the 
Guidance Notes. Now that the Code has been issued, initial views 
have been confirmed; that due to the revenue streams of Local 
Authorities the impact of this standard is likely to be limited.

The standard is far more likely to impact on Local Authority Trading 
Companies who will have material revenue streams arising from 
contracts with customers. The Council will need to consider the 
impact of this on their own group accounts when that trading 
company is consolidated.

P
age 53

A
genda Item

 6



21

Audit Fees07

P
age 54

A
genda Item

 6



22

Audit Fees

Our fee for 2017/18 is based on the scale fee set by the PSAA and reflects our reporting in our 27 September 2018 Audit Results Report. 

Final Fee  

2017/18

Planned Fee

2017/18

Scale Fee 

2017/18

Final Fee 

2016/17

£ £ £ £

Total Audit Fee – Code work TBC* 47,129 47,129 53,410

Non-audit work HB grant claims 11,616 11,616 11,616 12,488

*We have proposed and agreed a fee variation of £20,871 in 2017/18 to take account of the additional work required in relation to the delays experienced with the 
audit plus extra work required as a result of a material amendment to the CIES and the additional VfM risks identified.  The delays in the audit caused the cessation of 
the audit visit in July with an additional 3 week visit in September.  The delays were in relation to obtaining sufficient evidence to support the audit opinion.  They 
were across a number of areas but included payroll, PPE, debtors, leases, capital grants, long term debtors, remuneration notes and disclosures more generally, 
income and expenditure testing, investment property, creditors, contracts, the collection fund and reserves.

This fee is subject to approval by the PSAA. 

We confirm we have not undertaken any non-audit work outside of the PSAA’s requirements. 

P
age 55

A
genda Item

 6



EY | Assurance | Tax | Transactions | Advisory

About EY
EY is a global leader in assurance, tax, transaction
and advisory services. The insights and quality
services we deliver help build trust and confidence
in the capital markets and in economies the world
over. We develop outstanding leaders who team to
deliver on our promises to all of our stakeholders.
In so doing, we play a critical role in building a better 
working world for our people, for our clients and for
our communities.

EY refers to the global organization, and may refer
to one or more, of the member firms of Ernst & Young
Global Limited, each of which is a separate legal entity.
Ernst & Young Global Limited, a UK company limited
by guarantee, does not provide services to clients.
For more information about our organization, please
visit ey.com.

© 2018 EYGM Limited.
All Rights Reserved.

ED None

EY-000070901-01 (UK) 07/18. CSG London.

In line with EY’s commitment to minimise its
impact on the environment, this document has
been printed on paper with a high recycled content.

This material has been prepared for general informational purposes
only and is not intended to be relied upon as accounting, tax, or other 
professional advice. Please refer to your advisors for specific advice.

ey.com

P
age 56

A
genda Item

 6



The UK firm Ernst & Young LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales with registered number OC300001 and is a member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited.
A list of members’ names is available for inspection at 1 More London Place, London SE1 2AF, the firm’s principal place of business and registered office. Ernst & Young LLP is a multi-
disciplinary practice and is authorised and regulated by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, the Solicitors Regulation Authority and other regulators. Further details
can be found at http://www.ey.com/UK/en/Home/Legal.

Ernst & Young LLP
1 More London Place
London SE1 2AF

Tel: + 44 20 7951 2000
Fax: + 44 20 7951 1345
ey.com

Private and confidential
The Members of the Joint Audit & Governance Committee
South Oxfordshire District Council and Vale of White
Horse District Council
135 Eastern Avenue
Milton Park
Milton
OX14 4SB

14 December 2018
Ref: HB1

Direct line: 0118 928 1167
Email: abrittain@uk.ey.com

Dear Members

Certification of claims and returns annual report 2017-18 South
Oxfordshire District Council and Vale of White Horse District Council

We are pleased to report on our certification and other assurance work. This report summarises the
results of our work on South Oxfordshire District Council and Vale of White Horse District Council (the
Councils) 2017-18 claims.

Scope of work
Local authorities claim large sums of public money in grants and subsidies from central government and
other grant-paying bodies and must complete returns providing financial information to government
departments. In some cases these grant-paying bodies and government departments require
appropriately qualified reporting accountants to certify the claims and returns submitted to them.

From 1 April 2015, the duty to make arrangements for the certification of relevant claims and returns and
to prescribe scales of fees for this work was delegated to the Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd
(PSAA) by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government.

For 2017-18, these arrangements required only the certification of the housing benefits subsidy claim. In
certifying this we followed a methodology determined by the Department for Work and Pensions.

Summary
Section 1 of this report outlines the results of our 2017-18 certification work and highlights the significant
issues.

We checked and certified the housing benefits subsidy claims with a total value of £27,569,523 (South
Oxfordshire District Council) and £26,919,969 (Vale of White Horse District Council). We met the
submission deadline. We did not issue a qualification letter.

For South Oxfordshire District Council, our certification work found minimal errors which the Council will
be correcting in the 18/19 claim. This was on review of areas with errors in the prior year, rather than the
initial testing and resulted in underpayments and could not have resulted in overpayments. As a result,
from the findings of work completed on the claim, no amendments were required.

For Vale of White Horse District Council, our certification work found no errors.

Page 57

Agenda Item 7



2

Fees for certification and other returns work are summarised in section 2. The housing benefits subsidy 
claim fees for 2017-18 were published by the Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) and are 
available on the PSAA’s website (www.psaa.co.uk).

We welcome the opportunity to discuss the contents of this report with you at the 28th January 2019 
Audit Committee.

Yours sincerely

Andrew Brittain
Associate Partner
Ernst & Young LLP
Enc

Page 58

Agenda Item 7



Certification of 
claims and returns 
annual report 
2017-18

December 2018

P
age 59

A
genda Item

 7



2

Contents

This report is made solely to the Joint Audit & Governance Committee and management of South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse District Councils. Our work has been undertaken so that we might 
state to the Joint Audit & Governance Committee and management of South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse District Councils those matters we are required to state to them in this report and for no 
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Joint Audit & Governance Committee and management of South Oxfordshire and 
Vale of White Horse District Councils for this report or for the opinions we have formed. It should not be provided to any third-party without our prior written consent.

Housing benefits 
subsidy claim01

Looking forward03

2017-18 
certification fees

02

V
F
M

P
age 60

A
genda Item

 7



3

Housing benefits subsidy claim01 01

P
age 61

A
genda Item

 7



4

Housing benefits subsidy claim – South Oxfordshire District Council 

Local Government administers the Government’s housing benefits scheme for tenants and can claim subsidies from the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) 
towards the cost of benefits paid.

The certification guidance requires reporting accountants to complete more extensive ‘40+’ or extended testing if initial testing identifies errors in the calculation of 
benefit or compilation of the claim. 40+ testing may also be carried out as a result of errors that have been identified in the certification of previous years claims.

In the prior year, we noted a small number of errors; these were all dealt with through small 100% population testing. We noted further errors within one area 
causing underpayments – these are being adjusted in the 18/19 claim and have no impact on the subsidy claim for 17/18. 

Scope of work Results

Value of claim presented for certification £27,569,523 

Amended/Not amended Not Amended – to be corrected in 18/19 (no impact on subsidy paid) 

Qualification letter No

Fee – 2017-18

Fee – 2016-17

£10,972

£9,623

P
age 62

A
genda Item

 7



5

Housing benefits subsidy claim – Vale of White Horse District Council

Local Government administers the Government’s housing benefits scheme for tenants and can claim subsidies from the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) 
towards the cost of benefits paid.

The certification guidance requires reporting accountants to complete more extensive ‘40+’ or extended testing if initial testing identifies errors in the calculation of 
benefit or compilation of the claim. 40+ testing may also be carried out as a result of errors that have been identified in the certification of previous years claims.

We found no errors – therefore extended testing was not necessary. 

Scope of work Results

Value of claim presented for certification £26,919,969

Amended/Not amended Not Amended

Qualification letter No

Fee – 2017-18

Fee – 2016-17

£11,616

£12,488

P
age 63

A
genda Item

 7



6

2017-18 certification fees02 01V
F
M

P
age 64

A
genda Item

 7



7

The PSAA determine a scale fee each year for the certification of the housing benefits subsidy claim. For 2017-18, these scale fees were published by the Public 
Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA’s) and are available on their website (www.psaa.co.uk).

2017-18 certification feesV
F
M

Claim or return 2017-18 2017-18 2016-17

Actual fee
£

Indicative fee
£

Actual fee
£

Housing benefits subsidy claim

South Oxfordshire District Council 10,972 10,972 9.623

Vale of White Horse District Council 11,616 11,616 12,488

P
age 65

A
genda Item

 7



8

Looking forward03 01

P
age 66

A
genda Item

 7



9

Looking forward

2018/19 and beyond

From 2018/19, the Council is responsible for appointing their own reporting accountant to undertake the work on their claims in accordance with the instructions 
determined by the relevant grant paying body. 

As your appointed auditor for the financial statements audit, we are pleased that for 2018/19, the Councils have appointed us to act as reporting accountants in 
relation to the housing benefit schemes. 

We welcome this opportunity to continue undertaking this work for the Councils providing a seamless quality service, drawing on vast array of experienced and 
knowledgeable public sector professionals in these areas, whilst realising the synergies and efficiencies that are achieved by undertaking both the audit and grant 
work.

P
age 67

A
genda Item

 7



EY | Assurance | Tax | Transactions | Advisory

About EY
EY is a global leader in assurance, tax, transaction and advisory 
services. The insights and quality services we deliver help build 
trust and confidence in the capital markets and in economies the 
world over. We develop outstanding leaders who team to deliver 
on our promises to all of our stakeholders. In so doing, we play a 
critical role in building a better working world for our people, for 
our clients and for our communities.
EY refers to the global organization, and may refer to one or 
more, of the member firms of Ernst & Young Global Limited, each 
of which is a separate legal entity. Ernst & Young Global Limited, a 
UK company limited by guarantee, does not provide services to 
clients. For more information about our organization, please visit 
ey.com.

© 2017 EYGM Limited.
All Rights Reserved.

ED None

This material has been prepared for general informational purposes only and is not 
intended to be relied upon as accounting, tax, or other professional advice. Please refer 
to your advisors for specific advice.

ey.com

P
age 68

A
genda Item

 7



Joint Audit and Governance 
Committee

Report of Internal Audit Manager
Author: Victoria Hughes
Telephone: 01235 422430
Textphone: 18001 01235 422510
E-mail: victoria.hughes@southandvale.gov.uk
SODC cabinet member responsible: Councillor David Dodds
Tel: 01844 212891
E-mail: david.dodds@southoxon.gov.uk
VWHDC cabinet member responsible: Councillor Robert Sharp
Telephone: 07771 760549
E-mail: robert.sharp@whitehorsedc.gov.uk

To: Audit and Governance Committee
DATE: 28 January 2019

Internal audit activity report quarter three 
2018/2019 
Recommendations

(a)  That members note the content of the report

Purpose of Report 

1. The purpose of this report is to summarise the outcomes of recent internal audit activity 
at both councils for the committee to consider.  The committee is asked to review the 
report and the main issues arising and seek assurance that action will be/has been taken 
where necessary. 

2 The contact officer for this report is Victoria Hughes, Internal Audit Manager for South 
Oxfordshire District Council (SODC) and Vale of White Horse District Council (VWHDC), 
telephone 01235 422430.

Page 69

Agenda Item 8

mailto:victoria.hughes@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:david.dodds@southoxon.gov.uk
mailto:robert.sharp@whitehorsedc.gov.uk


Strategic Objectives 

3. Delivery of an effective internal audit function will support the councils in meeting their 
strategic objectives.

Background 

4. Internal audit is an independent assurance function that primarily provides an objective 
opinion on the degree to which the internal control environment supports and promotes 
the achievements of the council’s objectives.  It assists the councils by evaluating the 
adequacy of governance, risk management, controls and use of resources through its 
planned audit work and recommending improvements where necessary. After each audit 
assignment, internal audit has a duty to report to management its findings on the control 
environment and risk exposure and recommend changes for improvements where 
applicable.  Managers are responsible for considering audit reports and taking the 
appropriate action to address control weaknesses. 

 
5. Assurance ratings given by internal audit indicate the following:

Full assurance: There is a good system of internal control designed to meet the system 
objectives and the controls are being consistently applied. 

Substantial assurance: There is a sound system of internal control designed to meet 
the system objectives and the controls are being applied.

Satisfactory assurance: There is basically a sound system of internal control although 
there are some minor weaknesses and/or there is evidence that the level of non-
compliance may put some minor system objectives at risk.

Limited assurance: There are some weaknesses in the adequacy of the internal control 
system which put the system objectives at risk and/or the level of non-compliance puts 
some of the system objectives at risk.

Nil assurance: Control is weak leaving the system open to significant error or abuse 
and/or there is significant non-compliance with basic controls.

6. Each recommendation is given one of the following risk ratings:

High Risk: Fundamental control weakness for senior management action

Medium Risk: Other control weakness for local management action

Low Risk: Recommended best practice to improve overall control

Page 70

Agenda Item 8



2018/2019 Audit Reports

7. As at 31 December 2018, since the last audit and governance committee meeting the 
following audits and follow up reviews have been completed:

Completed Audits

Full Assurance: 0
Substantial Assurance: 1
Satisfactory Assurance: 3
Limited Assurance: 1
Nil Assurance: 0

Assurance 
Rating To

ta
l R

ec
s

H
ig

h 
R

is
k 

N
o.

 A
gr

ee
d

M
ed

iu
m

 R
is

k

N
o.

 A
gr

ee
d

Lo
w

 R
is

k

N
o.

 A
gr

ee
d

Joint
1. Brown Bins 1819 Limited 7 2 2 0 0 5 5
Planning Appeals 1819 Satisfactory 6 0 0 3 3 3 3
Discretionary Grants 1819 Satisfactory 9 0 0 3 3 6 6
Street Naming & Numbering 1819 Satisfactory 7 0 0 3 3 4 4
NNDR 1819 Substantial 5 0 0 1 1 4 4
SODC 
None
VWHDC
None

Follow Up Reviews

Initial 
Assurance 
Given N

o.
 o

f R
ec

s

Im
pl

em
en

te
d

Pa
rt

ly
 

Im
pl

em
en

te
d

N
ot

 
Im

pl
em

en
te

d

O
ng

oi
ng

N
o 

lo
ng

er
 

ap
pl

ic
ab

le

Joint
Tree Management & 
Inspections 1718 Satisfactory 4 3 1 0 0 0

Emergency Planning 
1718 Satisfactory 6 1 4 0 1 0

SODC
None
VWHDC
None

Page 71

Agenda Item 8



8. Appendix 1 of this report sets out the key points and findings relating to the completed 
audits which have received limited or nil assurance, and satisfactory or full assurance 
reports which members have asked to be presented to committee 

9. Members of the committee are asked to seek assurance from the internal audit reports 
and/or respective managers that the agreed actions have been or will be undertaken 
where necessary.  

10. A copy of each report has been sent to the appropriate service manager, the section 151 
officer and the relevant member portfolio holder. In addition, reports are now published 
on the councils’ intranet and limited assurance reports are reviewed by the strategic 
management team.

11. Internal audit continues to carry out a six month follow up on all non-financial and non-
key financial audits to establish the implementation status of agreed recommendations.   
All key financial system recommendations are followed up as part of the annual 
assurance cycle.

Overdue Recommendations

12. Following on from the management restructure, the who’s who section of the intranet has 
not been updated, and a date for completion has not been confirmed. Since the 
recommendations database relies on the who’s who contacts, the update and relaunch of 
the recommendations database for monitoring and reporting overdue recommendations 
has been delayed.  A revised report will be presented to committee as soon as full 
functionality is resumed.  Auditors continue with formal follow up work, but the 
recommendations database will facilitate a more pro-active approach.

Financial Implications

13. There are no financial implications attached to this report.

Legal Implications

14. None.

Risks

15.  Identification of risk is an integral part of all audits.

VICTORIA HUGHES
INTERNAL AUDIT MANAGER

 

Page 72

Agenda Item 8



APPENDIX 1

1. Brown Bins 2018/2019

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 This report details the internal audit review of procedures, controls and the 
management of risk in relation to brown bins.  The audit has been undertaken 
in accordance with the 2018/2019 audit plan agreed with the audit and 
governance committee of South Oxfordshire District Council (SODC) and 
Vale of White Horse District Council (VWHDC).  The audit has a priority score 
of 19.  The audit approach is provided in the audit framework in Appendix 1.

1.2 The following areas have been covered during the course of this review to 
provide assurance that:

 Appropriate procedures are in place for covering processes in 
providing the brown bin service;

 Income is appropriately processed and reconciled to budget income 
and management information;

 An appropriate mechanism is in place to manage brown bin renewals, 
amendments and cancellations;

 Appropriate reconciliations are undertaken including the matching of 
the contractor and councils’ records for brown bins customers;

 The provision of brown bins is controlled in accordance with 
contractual terms;

 Complaints and queries are managed and recorded appropriately.

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 The councils provide an optional service to collect residents’ garden waste on 
a fortnightly basis using brown wheeled bins.  The scheme is administered by 
Capita exchequer services and bin collections are made by the councils’ 
waste contractor Biffa.

2.2 There are currently 26,064 households in the South Oxfordshire district using 
the garden waste service of which 99.26% pay their annual subscription via 
direct debit.  In 2018/2019 to date (September 2018), SODC has received 
£798,671.00 in garden waste income.

2.3 There are currently 22,025 households in the Vale of White Horse district 
using the garden waste service of which 99.36% at VWHDC pay their annual 
subscription via direct debit.  In 2018/2019 to date (September 2018), 
VWHDC received £578,680.00 in garden waste income.

3. PREVIOUS AUDIT REPORTS

3.1 Brown bins was last subject to an internal audit review in October 2013 and 
one joint recommendation was raised.  The recommendation was agreed.  A 
full assurance opinion was issued.

3.2 The one recommendation has been implemented.  No recommendations 
have been restated as a result of our work in this area.

Page 73

Agenda Item 8



4. 2018/2019 AUDIT ASSURANCE

4.1 Limited assurance: There are some weaknesses in the adequacy of the 
internal control system which put the system objectives at risk and/or the 
level of non-compliance puts some of the system objectives at risk.

4.2 Seven recommendations have been raised in this review.  Two high risk and 
five low risk.

Page 74

Agenda Item 8



5. MAIN FINDINGS

5.1 Procedures

5.1.1 Procedures are in place for the day-to-day processes of brown bins.  The 
procedures are version controlled, however, review found that not all Capita 
owned procedures have been reviewed since the start of the five councils’ 
partnership in August 2016, with one procedure last reviewed in November 
2012.  It is noted that the brown bin procedures are available to all garden 
waste team members within Capita exchequer services (Capita).

5.1.2 Guidance relating to waste and recycling, which includes garden waste, is 
available to residents of both South and Vale via the councils’ websites.  The 
guidance includes, collection calendar, missed collection details, contact 
details, etc.  Review of the guidance on the websites confirmed that the 
information is appropriate, relevant and up-to-date.

5.1.3 Area assurance: Substantial
One recommendation has been made as a result of our work in this area (Rec 
1).

5.2 Income

5.2.1 Residents in both districts have the option to have a garden waste collection 
service, which is chargeable.  The garden waste charge is reviewed on an 
annual basis and increased in line with inflation as at the end of September of 
each year.  It is noted that the inflation rate as at the end of September 2017 
was 3.9%, which was used to determine 2018/2019 garden waste charge.  
However, in December 2017, VWHDC submitted a service reduction proposal 
to the Star Chamber, as part of the budget setting process, to increase the 
garden waste charge by more than inflation to generate more income and to 
bring the charge in line with SODC, which was agreed.  The 2018/2019 
garden waste charge of £40.50 was appropriately approved at both councils’ 
Full Council meetings in February 2018, as part of the revenue budget 
approval process.

5.2.2 In March 2018, the approved 2018/2019 garden waste charge was emailed to 
Capita accounts receivable management to update the Agresso system, 
however, this was not filtered down to the relevant team member, until it was 
queried in April 2018.  As a result, in April 2018, 254 SODC and 177 VWHDC 
out of 1,926 SODC and 2,074 (13.19% SODC and 8.53% VWHDC) 
customers were incorrectly invoiced the previous financial year’s garden 
waste charge.  A total financial loss of £489.00 at SODC and £537.00 at 
VWHDC was incurred, and the total amount of £1,026.00 was written off.

5.2.3 Of the total number of residents signed up to the garden waste collection 
service, 99.26% of residents in SODC and 99.36% of residents in VWHDC 
pay for their garden waste collection service via direct debit (DD).  Therefore, 
0.74% at SODC and 0.64% at VWHDC are exempt from paying via DD.  To 
obtain exemption, the councils must receive a written request, which the 
reason is approved by either the head of housing and environment or 
environmental health manager.  The councils’ waste team holds an exemption 
spreadsheet, which is completed when a request is received.  Review of the 
spreadsheet found that since January 2018 to date (August 2018) there were 
nine (four SODC and five VWHDC) exemption requests made.  Review of the 

Page 75

Agenda Item 8



nine exemption requests found that evidence of one written request could not 
be found, all exemption decisions were appropriately approved, and Capita 
exchequer services were notified of the exemption decisions.  It is noted that 
the councils’ waste team has now set up an electronic folder to file the written 
requests, which are also linked to the request on the exemption spreadsheet.

5.2.4 For garden waste customers paying via DD, payment is taken from their 
account 25 days after invoice date, while non-DD payers have 28 days prior 
to receiving a first reminder.  Review of 20 (ten SODC and ten VWHDC) new 
customers (DD payers) and 20 (ten SODC and ten VWHDC) existing 
customers (DD payers) confirmed that invoices were efficiently raised with the 
correct amount and payment was received within the required timescale.  For 
exempt customers, review of nine exemption requests found that the invoices 
were raised efficiently with the correct amount, however, one invoice was not 
paid within 28 days.  It is noted though that a first reminder notice was issued 
to the delay in payment.

5.2.5 Area assurance: Substantial
One recommendation has been made as a result of our work in this area 
(Recs 2).

5.3 Renewals, amendments and cancellations

5.3.1 Garden waste customers are entered onto a subscription within the accounts 
receivable system, so that the invoice is generated every 12 months, 
automatically renewing the garden waste collection service.  If a customer 
wants to cancel the service, they must notify the councils at least five working 
days prior to the DD date, and if cancelled part way through the year, refunds 
are not given.  As the renewal of garden waste is automatic and continual, 
internal audit reviewed 20 (ten SODC and ten VWHDC) existing customers 
and confirmed that renewal invoices are raised 12 months after the previous 
year’s invoice was raised.

5.3.2 Changes to a customer’s situation or amendments to their records are made 
upon instruction of the customer to Capita.  If the customer changes 
residence and takes the brown bin with them, Capita notifies Biffa via email to 
amend their records.  If the customer moves address and leaves the brown 
bin, the cancellation process is followed, as per below (5.3.3).

5.3.3 Residents are required to notify Capita if they require the garden waste 
collection to be cancelled.  Capita cancels the customer account on the 
Agresso financial system and every evening sends an alert to Biffa via email 
to cancel the account on Biffa’s Whitespace system and be taken off the 
round sheets (i.e. Biffa collection schedule).  Review of 20 (ten SODC and ten 
VWHDC) cancellations to service found that the accounts are cancelled on 
the Agresso system, however five VWHDC automated cancellation alerts 
were not sent to Biffa.  The reason for the failure in these five automated 
alerts are not known and are being investigated. Review also found that ten 
(five SODC and ten VWHDC) cancellations were not taken off the round 
sheets.

5.3.3 Area assurance: Satisfactory
Two recommendations have been made as a result of our work in this area 
(Recs 3 and 4).

Page 76

Agenda Item 8



5.4 Records reconciliation

5.4.1 Both Capita exchequer services and Biffa have a customer database.  Capita 
exchequer services hold their records within the Agresso system, which gives 
the relevant details required about the customer, including payment details.  
Biffa maintain their records using the Whitespace software system and the 
round sheets.  It is noted that the Whitespace system is used for refuse and 
recycling and is not a unique database for garden waste.

5.4.2 Due to there being two separate databases, Capita exchequer services email 
notifications to Biffa every evening of any new customers, cancellations of 
service and any replacement/additional bins require delivery.  Review of 20 
(ten SODC and ten VWHDC) new customers and 20 (ten SODC and ten 
VWHDC) cancellations of service found that five cancellation notification 
emails were not sent to Biffa, but all 20 new customer notifications were sent.

5.4.3 A reconciliation is currently not being performed between the records held by 
Capita and Biffa.  This is due to delays in Capita entering unique property 
reference number (UPRN) onto each customer account on the Agresso 
system.  Review of 20 (ten SODC and ten VWHDC) new customers and 20 
(ten SODC and ten VWHDC) existing customers found that five VWHDC new 
accounts on the Agresso financial system did not state the UPRN.

5.4.4 Area assurance: Satisfactory
Two recommendations have been made as a result of our work in this area 
(Recs 5 and 6).

5.5 Contractual terms

5.5.1 The provision of brown bins for garden waste forms part of the household 
waste collection, street cleansing and ancillary services contract with Biffa, 
which commenced on 3 June 2009 and was extended on 11 April 2014.  The 
contract includes performance standards, financial requirements and 
customer service standards.  Performance against key indicators set out in 
the contract and are discussed at monthly meetings attended by the councils’ 
waste team and by Biffa representatives.  It is noted that performance is 
reported to Scrutiny Committee on an annual basis.

5.5.2 As part of the five councils’ partnership, Capita’s exchequer services team 
deal with the day-to-day queries regarding garden waste and manage the 
garden waste customer records.  Capita’s performance targets for debtors, 
include garden waste and will be reviewed as part of the sundry debtors 
2018/2019 audit review.  Monthly debtors’ meetings are in place and attended 
by the councils and Capita representatives; however, review of the last 
meeting minutes found that garden waste is not discussed.

5.5.3 Area assurance: Substantial
One recommendation has been made as a result of our work in this area (Rec 
7).

5.6 Complaints and queries

5.6.1 Queries and/or informal complaints are received by the councils in various 
ways, i.e. email, telephone, online form.  Queries are entered onto the Ocella 
system and included on the technical officer’s work plan for investigation.  

Page 77

Agenda Item 8



Since September 2017 to date (September 2018), the councils have received 
seven (four SODC and three VWHDC) queries.  Review of the seven queries 
confirmed that they are dealt with adequately as the queries are entered onto 
the system, allocated to a technical officer and incorporated into their 
workplan, and visited and actioned appropriately.

5.6.2 The councils’ have a complaints procedure in place, which is available to 
residents of both districts via the councils’ websites, if they need to make a 
formal complaint.  There are two complaints stages and the procedures state 
the timescales of when complaints must be responded to within each stage.  
Review of the complaints report established that since 1 March 2018 to date 
(September 2018) there have been two (one SODC and one VWHDC) formal 
complaints relating to the garden waste service.  Review of the two formal 
complaints confirmed that the complaints were responded to in line with the 
councils’ complaints procedures.

5.6.3 Area assurance: Full
No recommendations have been made as a result of our work in this area.

6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

6.1 Internal audit would like to take this opportunity to thank all staff involved for 
their assistance with the audit.

7. CATEGORISATION OF RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1 To assist management in using our reports, we have categorised our 
recommendations according to their level of priority as follows:

High risk Fundamental control weakness for 
senior management action

Recs 2 and 6

Medium risk Other control weakness for local 
management action

Low risk Recommended best practice to 
improve overall control

Recs 1, 3, 4, 5 and 7

Page 78

Agenda Item 8



OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS
PROCEDURES

1. Written procedures (Low Risk)
Rationale Recommendation Responsibility
Best Practice
All garden waste procedures are 
up-to-date and in line with current 
working processes.

Findings
From our review of 30 Capita 
garden waste procedures, 11 were 
last reviewed and updated prior to 
the start of the 5CP contract (01 
August 2016), with one of these 
procedures last reviewed in 
November 2012.

Risk
If garden waste procedures are not 
up-to-date, there is risk of the 
written processes not being in line 
with current working process, 
resulting in inconsistencies and/or 
errors from staff.

a) Capita owned garden waste 
procedures should be reviewed and 
updated to ensure that the written 
procedures reflect the actual 
agreed processes.

b) Capita should establish a regular, 
agreed timetable for reviewing 
procedures in the future.

Transitional Finance 
Team Leader (Capita)

Management Response Implementation 
Due Date

Recommendation is Agreed
The procedure notes will be updated over the Christmas period when the 
phones are going to be quiet.  We will also be archiving some of the 
procedures that are no longer used.

Management response: Transitional Finance Team Leader (Capita)

31 December 2018

Page 79

Agenda Item 8



INCOME

2. New garden waste fees (High Risk)
Rationale Recommendation Responsibility
Best Practice
Capita update the parameters on the 
accounts receivable module with the new 
year’s garden waste fees, as soon as the 
new fee charges are received from the 
councils’ waste team.

Findings
On the 14 March 2018, the councils’ waste 
team emailed Capita the 2018/2019 garden 
waste charges, which is £40.50 for both 
councils.  However, this was not filtered 
down to the relevant Capita team member 
and as such the parameter on the accounts 
receivable module was not updated.

On the 3 April 2018, a member of Capita’s 
garden waste team contacted the councils’ 
waste team regarding the new garden 
waste charges as the councils’ websites 
have been changed and they were not 
made aware of the new charges.

Therefore, the waste team sent another 
email with the 2018/2019 garden waste 
charges to Capita.

Internal audit reviewed the accounts 
receivable module for garden waste 
invoices issued in April 2018, filtering down 
to invoices raised for the 2017/2018 garden 
waste charge (£39.00 SODC and £37.50 
VWHDC) and found that the amount of 
income lost by councils was £1,026.00 
(£489.00 SODC and £537.00 VWHDC).  
The accounts receivable ledger was 
subsequently updated with the current year 
charge on 3 April 2018, and the total lost 
income of £1,026.00 was written off.

Risk
If the parameters on the accounts 
receivable module are not updated with the 
new garden waste charges, there is a risk 
of customers not paying the agreed fees 
resulting in a financial implication to the 
councils.

a) A reminder should be sent to 
Capita accounts receivable 
team to ensure that the new 
garden waste fees are 
filtered down to the correct 
team member to update the 
parameter on the accounts 
receivable module.

b) As soon as the parameter is 
updated on the accounts 
receivable module, Capita 
should send a confirmation 
email notifying the councils’ 
waste team, with evidence, 
that the parameter has been 
correctly updated.

Staff Officer

Management Response Implementation 
Due Date

Recommendation is Agreed
When I email the team and system administration I can copy in the waste team, 
so they are aware that I have informed them of the price increase to be 
updated.  System administration cannot update the price until the last minute 
though to ensure that people prior to 1 April are not charged the wrong price.  
Also, when system administration confirms that the price is updated, either they 
copy in the waste team or I can forward the email.

Management response: Transitional Finance Team Leader (Capita)

1 April 2018

Page 80

Agenda Item 8



RENEWALS, AMENDMENTS & CANCELLATIONS

3. Cancellation notification (Low Risk)
Rationale Recommendation Responsibility
Best Practice
A cancellation notification email is sent to 
Biffa to update their records as soon as the 
customer notifies Capita to cancel the 
garden waste service.

Findings
A sample of 20 (ten SODC and ten 
VWHDC) cancelled garden waste accounts 
between the period of 1 July 2017 and 31 
July 2018 were selected and review found 
that on five occasions Biffa did not receive 
a cancellation notification from Capita, 
therefore the service was not cancelled on 
the Whitespace system and on Biffa’s 
round sheets.

Risk
If the cancellation notification email is not 
sent to Biffa, there is a risk of the customer 
receiving a free garden waste service 
resulting in reputational implications to the 
councils.

Capita exchequer services 
should ensure that as soon as a 
customer cancels their garden 
waste collection service, an 
email notification is sent to Biffa 
to update their records.

Transitional Finance 
Team Leader 
(Capita)

Management Response Implementation 
Due Date

Recommendation is Agreed
This was an error on our end and has now been rectified.

Management response: Transitional Finance Team Leader (Capita)

Immediate

Page 81

Agenda Item 8



4. Address deletion (Low Risk)
Rationale Recommendation Responsibility
Best Practice
After Biffa receives the cancellation 
notification email, the round sheets are 
updated to remove the customer address.

Findings
A sample of 20 (ten SODC and ten 
VWHDC) cancelled garden waste accounts 
between the period of 1 July 2017 and 31 
July 2018 were selected and review found 
that ten cancellations were not taken off 
Biffa’s round sheets.

Risk
If Biffa do not delete the addresses off the 
round sheets, there is a risk that the waste 
operatives still go to the address and collect 
garden waste resulting in reputational 
implications to the councils as the resident 
is being provided with a free service.

Biffa should delete the address 
off the round sheets as soon as 
the cancellation notification is 
received.

Waste Business 
Support Team Leader

Management Response Implementation 
Due Date

Recommendation is Agreed
Biffa will be reminded at the next Operational minuted meeting that they should 
delete the address off the round sheets as soon as the cancellation notification 
is received. The waste team will carry out an audit sample to ensure this is 
happening. 

Management response: Environmental Services Manager

31 December 2018

Page 82

Agenda Item 8



RECORDS RECONCILIATION

5. Unique Property Reference Number (UPRN) (Low Risk)
Rationale Recommendation Responsibility
Best Practice
All customer accounts on the accounts 
receivable module should have a unique 
property reference number (UPRN).

Findings
A sample of 20 (ten SODC and ten 
VWHDC) new garden waste accounts 
between the period of 1 July 2017 and 31 
July 2018 were selected and review found 
that five VWHDC new accounts did not 
have a UPRN on their accounts receivable 
account.

Risk
If the customer accounts on the accounts 
receivable module do not have a UPRN, 
there is a risk that the records do not 
reconcile between council’s and Biffa’s 
records, and not being able identify the 
errors. 

a) A retrospective review of all 
existing records should be 
performed to ensure that 
each record has a UPRN.

b) Moving forward, a UPRN 
should be entered on all 
new garden waste 
accounts, when set up onto 
the Agresso system, so that 
regular reconciliations can 
be undertaken between the 
Agresso system and Biffa’s 
Whitespace system.

Staff Officer

Management Response Implementation 
Due Date

Recommendation is Agreed
The UPRN’s have now all been updated and the full customer lists for both 
SODC and VWHDC have been submitted to the councils’ waste team.

Management response: Transitional Finance Team Leader (Capita)

Implemented

Page 83

Agenda Item 8



6. Records reconciliation (High Risk)
Rationale Recommendation Responsibility
Best Practice
A regular reconciliation between both 
Capita’s garden waste records and Biffa’s 
records is undertaken.

Findings
The councils hold two sets of records of the 
garden waste customers.  One set of 
records are held on the Agresso system, 
which is managed by the Capita accounts 
receivable team and the other set of 
records are held on the Whitespace 
system, which is managed by Biffa.

If a resident or customer wants to either:
 start receiving the garden waste service,
 make any amendments to their 

customer records, or
 cancel the service,

they are required to contact Capita, who will 
undertake the necessary additions, 
amendments or cancellations on the 
Agresso system.

A notification email is sent to Biffa every 
evening, so that the necessary additions, 
amendments or cancellations has been 
made on the Whitespace system, so that 
both records are the same, i.e. if the 
account is cancelled on the Agresso 
system, the Whitespace system should also 
be cancelled, so that the garden waste 
collection service to that property is 
stopped.

To confirm this, both sets of records should 
be reconciled; however, a reconciliation is 
not performed to confirm that the 
information both records reconcile.

Furthermore, from a review of 20 (ten 
SODC and ten VWHDC) cancellations of 
service selected between the period of 1 
July 2017 to 31 July 2018, internal audit 
found that on five (three SODC & two 
VWHDC) occasions, Capita did not send an 
email notifying Biffa of the cancellation to 
garden waste service and the were not 
cancelled on the Whitespace system; 
therefore, discrepancies between both 
systems were noted.

Risk
If a reconciliation is not performed of the 
records kept on the accounts receivable 
module and the records kept on the 
Whitespace system, there is a risk of the 
records not balancing, resulting in either 
residents receiving a garden waste 
collection when their accounts are 
cancelled, or residents who are signed up 
to the service not receiving their garden 
waste collection.

a. A reconciliation should be 
performed between both 
Capita’s garden waste 
records (Agresso system) 
and Biffa’s records 
(Whitespace system) to 
ensure that both records are 
complete, accurate and that 
the garden waste collection 
service is only provided to 
residents that pay for the 
service.

b. A decision should be made 
to establish a regular, agreed 
timetable for reconciliation of 
garden waste records 
between Capita and Biffa.

Waste Business 
Support Team 
Leader

Transitional Finance 
Team Leader 
(Capita)

Page 84

Agenda Item 8



Management Response Implementation 
Due Date

Recommendation is Agreed
A reconciliation will take place by Biffa as soon as all the relevant information is 
provided to them by Capita. This will then be undertaken every six months 
provided the information is readily available from Capita.

Management response: Environmental Services Manager

31 December 2018

Page 85

Agenda Item 8



CONTRACTUAL TERMS

7. Debtors’ meeting with Capita (Low Risk)
Rationale Recommendation Responsibility
Best Practice
Monthly debtors’ meetings between the 
councils and Capita include garden waste as 
an agenda item, to which a representative 
from the councils’ waste team is present.

Findings
SODC & VWHDC have a contract with Capita 
Plc.  This is part of the five councils’ 
partnership (5CP) which started on 1 August 
2016.  It is noted that Capita Plc were 
managing brown bin customer records as part 
of the exchequer services contract prior to the 
5CP and continue to manage the customer 
records.

On a monthly basis, the revenues & benefits 
client manager has debtors’ meetings with 
Capita, however review of the last meeting 
minutes (16 August 2018) found that the 
meetings did not discuss the garden waste 
service.

Risk
If a member of the waste team is not present 
and garden waste not on the agenda, there is 
a risk of the service not being discussed, 
resulting in possible issues not being 
identified or resolved. 

The monthly debtors’ 
meetings between the 
councils and Capita 
representatives should 
include an agenda item for 
garden waste, as the day-to-
day dealings with the garden 
waste customers and their 
records are undertaken by 
Capita.

Revenues and 
Benefits Manager

Management Response Implementation 
Due Date

Recommendation is Agreed
An agenda item (and appropriate invites) will be added to the next Debtors’ 
meeting, which is next held on 31 October 2018 at 10am.

Management response: Revenues and Benefits Manager

31 October 2018

 

Page 86

Agenda Item 8



Joint Audit and Governance 
Committee

Report of Internal Audit Manager
Author: Victoria Hughes
Telephone: 01235 422430
Textphone: 18001 01235 422510
E-mail: victoria.hughes@southandvale.gov.uk
SODC cabinet member responsible: Councillor David Dodds
Tel: 01844 212891
E-mail: david.dodds@southoxon.gov.uk
VWHDC cabinet member responsible: Councillor Robert Sharp
Telephone: 07771 760549
E-mail: robert.sharp@whitehorsedc.gov.uk

To: Audit and Governance Committee
DATE: 28 January 2019

Internal audit management report 
quarter three 2018/2019
 
Recommendation(s)

(a) That members note the content of the report.

Purpose of report

1. The purpose of this report is:

 to report on management issues within internal audit;

 to summarise the progress against the 2018/2019 audit plan up to 31 
December 2018; and

 to summarise the priorities for quarter four 2018/2019.

Page 87

Agenda Item 9

mailto:victoria.hughes@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:david.dodds@southoxon.gov.uk
mailto:robert.sharp@whitehorsedc.gov.uk


2. The contact officer for this report is Victoria Hughes, Internal Audit Manager for 
South Oxfordshire District Council (SODC) and Vale of White Horse District 
Council (VWHDC), telephone 01235 422430.

Strategic objectives

3. Delivery of an effective internal audit function will support the councils in 
meeting their strategic objectives.

Background 

4. The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) from 1 April 2017 states 
that the head of internal audit should prepare a risk-based audit plan, which 
should outline the assignments to be carried out and the resource requirements 
to deliver the plan, for audit committee approval. The joint committee approved 
the 2018/2019 annual internal audit plan on 26 March 2018.

5. The PSIAS also states that the head of internal audit must periodically report on 
performance relative to the plan.  

Management issues

6. As of 26 November 2018, Fiona Kaluza was seconded internally to assist with 
an investigation.  An agency auditor was used to back-fill the auditor position 
from 26 November 2018 for a period of six weeks. 

As of 4 December 2018, a corporate fraud officer was engaged for a period of 
four months to perform an independent assessment of the current state of the 
corporate fraud and cyber security risks across SODC and VWHDC. 

From 3 January 2019 and 26 January 2019, Fiona Kaluza and Sandy Bayley 
have taken on new roles within the councils respectively.  An agency auditor 
has been in place since 16 January 2019 to back-fill the auditor position, and 
will be used for a period of six weeks.  Recruitment for the two auditor posts is 
in progress; however, the auditor vacancies will impact the delivery of the 
2018/2019 audit plan. 

Progress against the 2018/2019 audit plan

7. Progress against the approved audit plan has been calculated for the quarter 
and year to date and is summarised in appendix 1 attached.

8. Performance figures to date are as follows:
Actuals by Quarter

Target YTD
Q1 

18/19
Q2 

18/19
Q3 

18/19
Q4 

18/19
Chargeable
(identifiable client and/or specific 
IA deliverable)

74% 69.5% 78% 76% 75.5% -

Non-Chargeable 
(corporate, not IA deliverable) 9% 11.5% 4.5% 9% 9% -
Planned Lost
(i.e. leave) 15% 17.5% 16% 13.5% 14% -
Unplanned Lost
(i.e. study, sickness) 2% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% -

Page 88

Agenda Item 9



9. As at 31 December 2018 the status of audit work against the 2018/2019 audit 
plan is as follows:

Planned 

Strategic, operational and financial assurance work known and approved by the 
joint audit and governance committee.

2018/2019 Planned Complete Draft
In 

progress
To 

commence
Planned 24 7 0 9 8
Joint 24 7 0 9 8
SODC 0 0 0 0 0
VWHDC 0 0 0 0 0

Ad-hoc

Unplanned project work based on agreed terms of reference with the audit 
manager (i.e. implementation of new systems) and responsive work issued and 
agreed by the section 151 officer, members or senior management team (i.e. 
investigations).

2018/2019 Requested Complete Draft
In 

progress
To 

commence
Ad-hoc 0 0 0 0 0
Joint 0 0 0 0 0
SODC 0 0 0 0 0
VWHDC 0 0 0 0 0

Follow up 

Work undertaken to ensure that agreed recommendations have been 
implemented.  The number of follow-up audits is a rolling number, all internal 
audit reports are followed up after six months unless the area is subject to an 
annual review.

2018/2019 Requested Complete Draft
In 

progress
To 

commence
Follow up 0 3 0 1 5
Joint 0 3 0 0 0
SODC 0 0 0 0 0
VWHDC 0 0 0 0 0

Page 89

Agenda Item 9



Priorities for 2018/2019 quarter four (Jan 2019 - Mar 2019)

10. The priorities for quarter four are to:
 

 Complete the 2018/2019 audit plan.
 Recruit permanent staff into vacant auditor posts.
 Develop draft 2019/2020 audit plan.
 Review and update the internal audit charter.

11. Remaining 2018/2019 planned audit work can be reviewed in appendix 2. 

Financial implications

12. There are no financial implications attached to this report.

Legal implications

13. None.

Risk implications

14. Identification of risk is an integral part of all audits.

VICTORIA HUGHES
INTERNAL AUDIT MANAGER

Page 90

Agenda Item 9



PLANNED AUDIT 2018/2019

System Name

As at 31 December 2018

Brown Bins (19) 20

SODC 10.0 7 2 2 0 0 5 5 0

VWHDC 10.0 7 2 2 0 0 5 5 0

Capital Management and Accounting (21) 14

SODC 0.0

VWHDC 0.0

Council Tax (23) 20

SODC 9.5

VWHDC 9.5

Creditor Payments (27) 20

SODC 0.0

VWHDC 0.0

Discretionary Grants (20) 16

SODC 12.5 9 0 0 3 3 6 6 0

VWHDC 12.5 9 0 0 3 3 6 6 0

General Ledger (24) 20

SODC 10.0

VWHDC 10.0

Health & Safety (20) 20

SODC 0.0

VWHDC 0.0

Housing Benefits and CTRS (21) 30

SODC 2.5

VWHDC 2.5

Housing Development (18) 20

SODC 10.0 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 0

VWHDC 10.0 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 0

HR Management (16) 20

SODC 7.0

VWHDC 7.0

Insurance (27) 16

SODC 1.0

VWHDC 1.0

Lone Working & Officer Security (23) 14

SODC 0.0

VWHDC 0.0

NNDR (23) 20

SODC 10.0 5 0 0 1 1 4 4 0

VWHDC 10.0 5 0 0 1 1 4 4 0

Payroll (28) 36

SODC 13.5

VWHDC 13.5

Petty Cash Procedures (17) 4

SODC 0.0

VWHDC 0.0

Planning Appeals (15) 20

SODC 11.5 6 0 0 3 3 3 3 0

VWHDC 11.5 6 0 0 3 3 3 3 0

Pro-active Anti-Fraud Review (26) 14

SODC 2.5

VWHDC 2.5

Procurement (27) 20

SODC 0.0

VWHDC 0.0

Property Management (24) 20

SODC 0.0

VWHDC 0.0

Risk Management (28) 14

SODC 0.0

VWHDC 0.0

Street Naming & Numbering (4) 8

SODC 5.5 7 0 0 3 3 4 4 0

VWHDC 5.5 7 0 0 3 3 4 4 0

Sundry Debtors (24) 20

SODC 0.0

VWHDC 0.0

Travel & Subsistence (18) 16

SODC 9.0 8 2 2 3 3 3 3 0

VWHDC 9.0 8 2 2 3 3 3 3 0

Treasury Management (21) 14

SODC 6.5

VWHDC 6.5

None

None

Full
Substantial

Satisfactory
Limited

Nil

Full
Substantial

Satisfactory
Limited

Nil

Full
Substantial

Satisfactory
Limited

Nil

0

0

4

0

1
1
3
2

43 4 4 14 14 25

43 4

1
1
3
2

25

14 14

VWHDC PLANNED AUDIT TOTALS 218 121

0

SODC PLANNED AUDIT TOTALS 218 121

Satisfactory

In Progress

In Progress

25 25

Completed

Full

To Commence Q4

In Progress

To Commence Q4

Satisfactory

Satisfactory

In Progress

Completed

To Commence Q4

APPENDIX 1

Satisfactory

H
ig

h

Limited

To Commence Q4

In Progress

To Commence Q4

In Progress

In Progress

Completed

Completed

Full

Substantial

In Progress

Completed

Satisfactory

Substantial

IA PLANNED AUDIT TOTALS

0

86 0505028

Limited

To Commence Q4

In Progress

2888436 242.0

6
4

2
2

JOINT

M
e
d

iu
m

N
o

. 
A

g
re

e
dStatus

A
u

d
it

 

A
ll
o

c
a
ti

o
n

T
o

ta
l 
D

a
y
s
 

U
s
e
d

Exception Issues

L
o

w

N
o

. 
A

g
re

e
d

N
o

. 
A

g
re

e
d

Limited

Completed

N
o

. 
o

f 
R

e
c
sAudit Opinion

T
o

ta
l 
N

o
t 

A
g

re
e
d

VWHDC

SODC

To Commence Q4

Completed

To Commence Q4

Satisfactory

Limited

Page 91

Agenda Item 9



FOLLOW UP OF AUDITS FROM 2017/2018

System Name Total Days 

Used

Original Audit Opinion Issued Total No. of Recs 

Agreed

Im
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

P
a

rt
ly

 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

N
o

t 
Im

p
le

m
e
n

te
d

O
n

g
o

in
g

N
o

 L
o

n
g

e
r 

a
p

p
li

c
a

b
le

N
e
w

 

re
c

o
m

m
e

n
d

a
ti

o
n

s

Training and Development (2nd report) 2016/2017 1 Limited 4 0 0 3 0 1 0

Property Management 2017/2018 0.5 Satisfactory 5 0 0 4 0 1 0

Credit Card Usage 2017/2018 1 Limited 10 2 2 3 3 0 0

Tree Management and Inspections 2017/2018 0.5 Satisfactory 4 3 1 0 0 0 0

Emergency Planning 2017/2018 0.5 Satisfactory 6 1 4 0 1 0 0

None

None

FOLLOW UP AUDITS 2018/2019

System Name Total Days 

Used

Original Audit Opinion Issued Total No. of Recs 

Agreed

Im
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

P
a

rt
ly

 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

N
o

t 
Im

p
le

m
e
n

te
d

O
n

g
o

in
g

N
o

 L
o

n
g

e
r 

a
p

p
li

c
a

b
le

N
e
w

 

re
c

o
m

m
e

n
d

a
ti

o
n

s

None

None

None

IA FOLLOW UP DURING 18/19 TOTALS 2.5 9 2 2 10 3 2 0

JOINT FOLLOW UP TOTALS 2.5 9 2 2 10 3 2 0

SODC FOLLOW UP TOTALS 0.0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

VWHDC FOLLOW UP TOTALS 0.0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SODC

JOINT

SODC

VWHDC

VWHDC

P
age 92

A
genda Item

 9



UNPLANNED WORK 2018/2019

CONSULTANCY

System Name Status Audit Allocation Total Days Used Requested By

Post room checks Completed N/A 7 Random check following 2017/2018 information

Research following councillor query N/A N/A 1 Head of Corporate Services

Assistance with corporate services project across multiple service teams Completed N/A 32.5 Head of Corporate Services

CONTINGENCY

System Name Status Audit Allocation Total Days Used Requested By

None N/A N/A N/A N/A

None N/A N/A N/A N/A

None N/A N/A N/A N/A

SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT

System Name Status Audit Allocation Total Days Used Requested By

None N/A N/A N/A N/A

None N/A N/A N/A N/A

None N/A N/A N/A N/A

AD-HOC ADVICE 

System Name Status Audit Allocation Total Days Used Requested By

General audit advice to service teams (incl chasing for information) N/A N/A 0 N/A

General audit advice to service teams (incl chasing for information) N/A N/A 11 N/A

General audit advice to service teams (incl chasing for information) N/A N/A 11 N/A

JOINT

VWHDC

JOINT

SODC

JOINT

VWHDC

SODC

JOINT

SODC

VWHDC

VWHDC

SODC

P
age 93

A
genda Item

 9



AUDIT PLAN SCHEDULE 2018/2019 (As at 31 December 2018) APPENDIX 2

PLANNED AUDITS

PRIORITY April May June July August September October November December January February March
JOINT 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 1

JA
G

C

2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4

JA
G

C

1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 1 2

JA
G

C

3 4 5 1 2 3 4 1 2 3

JA
G

C

4
Brown Bins 19
Capital Mgt & Accounting 21
Council Tax 23
Creditor Payments 27
Discretionary Grants 20
General Ledger 24
Health & Safety 20
Housing Benefits & Council Tax Reduction 21
Housing Development 18
HR Management 16
Insurance 27
Lone Working and Officer Security 23
NNDR 23
Payroll 28
Petty Cash Procedures 17
Planning Appeals 15
Pro-active Anti-Fraud Review 26
Procurement 27
Property Management 24
Risk Management 28
Street Naming & Numbering 4
Sundry Debtors 24
Travel & Subsistence 18
Treasury Management 21
SODC
None
VWHDC
None

FOLLOW UP AUDITS

PRIORITY April May June July August September October November December January February March
JOINT 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 1

JA
G

C
 

2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4

JA
G

C

1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 1 2

JA
G

C

3 4 5 1 2 3 4 1 2 3

JA
G

C

4
Training and Development 1516 (follow up of 2nd report)
Property Management 1718
Credit Card Usage 1718
Budgetary Control 1718
Emergency Planning 1718
Tree Management and Inspections 1718
SODC
None
VWHDC
None

UNPLANNED AUDITS

PRIORITY April May June July August September October November December January February March
JOINT 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 1

JA
G

C

2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4

JA
G

C

1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 5 1 2

JA
G

C

3 4 5 1 2 3 4 1 2 3

JA
G

C

4
None
SODC
None
VWHDC
None

Key
Projected Start Date
In Progress
Draft Issued
Complete
No longer applicable/ revised arrangements
Deferred until 2019/2020
Confidential - tbc

P
age 94

A
genda Item

 9



 Joint Audit and Governance 
Committee
Report of Head of Finance

Author: Emily Hunt
Telephone: 01749 341496
E-mail: emily.hunt@southandvale.gov.uk
SODC cabinet member responsible: Councillor David Dodds
Telephone: 01844 212891
E-mail:  david.dodds@southoxon.gov.uk

VWHDC cabinet member responsible: Councillor Robert Sharp
Telephone: 01367 710549
E-mail: robert.sharp@whitehorsedc.gov.uk

To: Joint Audit and Governance Committee; Cabinet; Council
DATE: 28 January by Joint Audit and Governance Committee

31 January (S) / 1 February (V) by Cabinet 
14 February (S) / 13 February (V) by Council 

Treasury management mid-year monitoring report 
2018/19

Recommendations

That Joint Audit and Governance Committee:

1. notes the treasury management mid-year monitoring report 2018/19, and
2. is satisfied that the treasury activities are carried out in accordance with the 

treasury management strategy and policy.

That Cabinet:

3. considers any comments from Joint Audit and Governance Committee and       
recommends council to approve the report.

Purpose of report

1. The report fulfils the legislative requirements to ensure the adequate monitoring of the 
treasury management activities and that each council’s prudential indicators are 
reported to their respective council mid-year (i.e.: as at 30 September).  The report 
provides details of the treasury activities for the first six months of 2018/19 and an 
update on the current economic conditions with a view to the remainder of the year.

Page 95

Agenda Item 10

mailto:emily.hunt@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:robert.sharp@whitehorsedc.gov.uk


Strategic objectives 

2. Managing the finances of the authority in accordance with the treasury management 
strategy will help to ensure that resources are available to deliver its services and 
meet the council’s strategic objectives.

Background

Treasury management

3. This report has been written in accordance with the requirements of the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management (revised 2017).

4. The primary requirements of the Code are as follows: 

 Creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy Statement which 
sets out the policies and objectives of the Council’s treasury management 
activities.

 Creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices which set out the 
manner in which the Council will seek to achieve those policies and objectives.

 Receipt by the full council of an annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
- including the Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision 
Policy - for the year ahead, a Mid-Year Review Report and an Annual Report, 
(stewardship report), covering activities during the previous year.

 Delegation by the Council of responsibilities for implementing and monitoring 
treasury management policies and practices and for the execution and 
administration of treasury management decisions.

5. This mid-year report has been prepared in compliance with CIPFA’s Code of Practice 
on Treasury Management, and covers the following:

 An economic update for the first part of the 2018/19 financial year;
 A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual 

Investment Strategy;
 A review of the Councils’ investment portfolio for 2018/19;
 A review of the Councils’ borrowing strategy for 2018/19;
 A review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 2018/19.

6. The first main function of the treasury management service is to ensure the councils’ 
cash flow is adequately planned, with surplus monies being invested in low risk 
counterparties, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering optimising 
investment return. This Treasury Management Strategy determines to whom the 
council can lend, and this is the manifestation of its risk appetite.

7. The second main function of the treasury management service is to ensure funding for 
the Councils’ capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need 
of the Council, essentially the longer-term cash flow planning to ensure the Councils 
can meet their capital spending operations. This management of longer term cash may 

Page 96

Agenda Item 10



involve arranging long or short-term loans, or using longer term cash flow surpluses, 
and on occasion any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet risk or cost 
objectives. 

8. Accordingly, treasury management is defined as:

“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash 
flows, its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective 
control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 
performance consistent with those risks.”

9. The 2018/19 treasury management strategy was approved by each council in 
February 2018.  This report summarises the treasury activity and performance for the 
first six months of 2018/19 against those prudential indicators and benchmarks set for 
the year.  It also provides an opportunity to review and subsequently revise limits if 
required.  Full council is required to approve this report and any amendments to the 
Treasury Management Strategy.

Treasury activity

10. The mid-year performance of the two councils is summarised in the tables below1.  

 South

Treasury 
investments 

£000

Non-
treasury 

loan £000

Sub 
Total 
£000

Property  
investment 

£000

Overall 
total 
£000

1 Average investment balance 149,265 15,000 164,265 5,075 169,340 
2 Budgeted investment income 1,160 311 1,470   
3 Actual investment income 818 312 1,130 336 1,466 
4 surplus/(deficit) (3) - (2) (342) 2 (340)   
5 Annualised rate of return 1.10% 4.16% 1.38% 13.22% 1.73%

  For property, the balance shown is the fair value of investment properties as at 31 March 2018.

11.The forecast outturn position as at September 2018, based on known investments 
and maturities and an estimate for future earnings is shown in the table below:

  
South Oxfordshire 
District Council

Vale of White Horse 
District Council

 Annual budget as per MTFP £2,940,000 £450,000
 Forecast outturn £2,689,640 £830,970
 Variance against budget -£250,360 £380,970
 Borrowing Nil Nil

 Vale

Treasury 
investments 

£000

Property  
investment 

£000
Overall total 

£000
1 Average investment balance 73,370 8,442 81,811 
2 Budgeted investment income 225   
3 Actual investment income 400 172 572 
4 surplus/(deficit) (3) - (2) 175   
5 Annualised rate of return 1.09% 4.09% 1.40%

Page 97

Agenda Item 10



12. The Councils remain restricted regarding financial institutions meeting their 
investment criteria.  When it is possible, investments will be placed with highly rated 
institutions for a longer duration with a view to increasing the weighted average 
maturity of the portfolio, but this has meant that overall there are less suitable 
counterparties available to the councils to deposit with.

13. SODC.  The latest estimate is that income receivable on cash investments will be 
below budget by £250,000. Interest rates have not increased as projected in the 
18/19 budget setting report. The average rate received during 18/19 was 1.73 per 
cent and the budget was set at a rate of 2.10 per cent. 

14. Officers monitor the performance of the unit trust holding on a regular basis.  When 
the value reaches £14 million, a disposal of £2 million is made.  During the first six 
months of 2018/19 the value of unit trusts has been just below the £14 million 
threshold and no disposals have been made.

15. VWHDC.  The latest estimate is that income receivable on cash investments will be 
above budget by £381,000.  This is due to higher than budgeted cash balances 
resulting from the pausing of a number of schemes in the capital programme. It is 
also due to the council holding a significant amount of government grant funding prior 
to spend. 

Performance measurement

16. A list of investments as at 30 September is shown in Appendices A1 and A2.  All 
investments were with approved counterparties.  The average return on these 
investments is shown above in the table at paragraph 5.  South has performed better 
than Vale because it holds more long-term loans at higher rates and equities as a 
result of its larger investment base.

17. The councils’ performance against benchmarks for the first six months of the year are 
detailed in Appendices A3 and A4.  All benchmarks have been achieved except the 
CCLA benchmark which measures performance from the investment date rather than 
performance in the year.  Performance for the year to date of 4.59 per cent is higher 
that the short term benchmark of 4.54 per cent.   

Treasury management limits on activity

18. Each council is required by the Prudential Code to report on the limits set each year 
in their respective Treasury Management Strategies.  The purpose of these limits is to 
ensure that the activity of the treasury functions remain within certain parameters, 
thereby mitigating risk and reducing the impact of an adverse movement in interest 
rates.  However, if these limits are set to be too restrictive they will impair the 
opportunities to reduce costs/improve performance.  The performance against the 
limits for both councils are shown in appendices B1 and B2.

Debt activity during 2018/19

19. During the first six months of 2018/19 there has been no need for either of the 
councils to borrow.  The Head of Finance will continue to take a prudent approach to 
the councils’ debt strategies.  The prudential indicators and limits set out in 
appendices B1 and B2 provide the scope and flexibility for either of the councils to 
borrow in the short-term up to the maximum limits, if ever such a need arose within 

Page 98

Agenda Item 10



the cash flow management activities of the authority in order to achieve its service 
objectives.

Interest Rate Forecast and Economic Forecast 

20.The Council’s treasury advisor, Link Asset Services, has provided the following 
forecast:

Quoted by link Asset Services 26 November 2018

21.The flow of generally positive economic statistics after the end of the quarter ended 30 
June meant that it came as no surprise that the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC)  
came to a decision on 2 August to make the first increase in Bank Rate above 0.5 per 
cent since the financial crash, to 0.75 per cent.  
However, the MPC emphasised again, that future Bank Rate increases would be 
gradual and would rise to a much lower equilibrium rate, (where monetary policy is 
neither expansionary of contractionary), than before the crash; indeed, they gave a 
figure for this of around 2.5 per cent in ten years’ time but they declined to give a 
medium-term forecast.  
We do not think that the MPC will increase Bank Rate in February 2019, ahead of the 
deadline in March for Brexit.  We also feel that the MPC is more likely to wait until 
August 2019, than May 2019, before the next increase, to be followed by further 
increases of 0.25 per cent in May and November 2020 to reach 1.5 percent. However, 
the cautious pace of even these limited increases is dependent on a reasonably orderly 
Brexit.

. 
The balance of risks to the UK

22.The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably neutral.
The balance of risks to increases in Bank Rate and shorter term PWLB rates, are 
probably also even and are broadly dependent on how strong GDP growth turns out, 
how slowly inflation pressures subside, and how quickly the Brexit negotiations move 
forward positively. 

Financial Implications

23.These are covered in the body of the report.
Legal implications

24.There are no significant legal implications as a result of the recommendations in this    
report.  Compliance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the 

Page 99

Agenda Item 10



Public Services and the CLG Local Government Investment Guidance provides 
assurance that the council’s investments are, and will continue to be, within its legal 
powers.

Administration

25. Capita have been contracted to undertake the Treasury Management since beginning 
of August 2016, the services have now been transferred to the financial accounting 
team in which are based out of the Shepton Mallet offices. The council still authorise 
daily dealings and receive regular reports from the team on current and future 
investments. 

Conclusion

26. This report provides details of the treasury management activities for the period 1 
April 2018 to 30 September 2018 and the mid-year prudential indicators to each 
respective council. 

27. Treasury activities at both councils have operated within the agreed parameters set 
out in their respective approved treasury management strategies. 

28. This report also provides the monitoring information for joint audit and governance 
committee to fulfil its role of scrutinising treasury management activity at each 
council.

Background papers

 CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management 2017
 CIPFA Prudential Code 2017
 CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services Guidance Notes 2018
 CIPFA statement 17.10.18 on borrowing in advance of need and investments in 

commercial properties
 CIPFA Bulletin 02 Treasury and Capital Management Update October 2018
 Statutory investment guidance where it has been updated in 2018 (English local 

authorities)
 Statutory MRP guidance where it has been updated in 2018 (English local authorities)
 Treasury Management Investment Strategy 2018/19 (South Oxfordshire & Vale of 

White Horse, February 2018)

Appendices

A1 – SODC List of investments as at 30 September 2018
A2 – VWHDC List of investments as at 30 September 2018
A3 – SODC Performance against benchmark
A4 – VWHDC Performance against benchmark
B1 – SODC Prudential Indicators
B2 – VWHDC Prudential Indicators
C1 – Note on Prudential Indicators

Page 100

Agenda Item 10



Appendix A1

A1 – 1

South Oxfordshire

Page 101

Agenda Item 10



Appendix A1

A1 – 1

South Oxfordshire Continued

Page 102

Agenda Item 10



Appendix A2

A2 – 1

Vale of White Horse District Council

Page 103

Agenda Item 10



Appendix A3

A3 – 1

South Oxfordshire District Council

Investment returns achieved against benchmark   

  
Benchmark 

Return
Actual 
Return

Growth 
(Below)/abov
e Benchmark Benchmarks

  
Bank & Building Society deposits - 
internally managed 0.67% 1.73% 1.06% 3 Month LIBID
Equities 6.00% 7.51% 1.51% FTSE All Shares Index
      

 All benchmarks managed by the treasury team were met in the first six months of the 
year.  

CCLA

Annualised total return performance    
Performance to 28 September 2018 1 year 3 years 5 years
The local authorities property fund 7.61% 6.60% 10.91%
Benchmark - IPD property index 9.47% 7.72% 10.97%

 The CCLA investment is a long term holding.  The above table shows the performance of 
the fund as a whole and the longer term performance should be used as a guide to 
returns achievable in the medium term.

 South invested £5 million into the fund and in the first six months of 2018/19, achieved a 
return of 4.59 per cent calculated as a ratio of income over the market value held as at 30 
September 2018.  This is not the same basis upon which the performance of the fund 
above is calculated. 

Page 104

Agenda Item 10



Appendix A4

Vale of White Horse District Council

Investment returns achieved against benchmark   
 Benchmark 

return
Actual return Growth 

(below)/above 
benchmark

Benchmarks

 % % %  
Internally managed - Bank & 
Building Society deposits 0.67% 1.40% 0.73%

3-month 
LIBID

     

 All benchmarks managed by the treasury team were met in the first six months of 
the year.  

CCLA

Annualised total return performance    
Performance to 28 September 2018 1 year 3 years 5 years
The local authorities property fund 7.61% 6.60% 10.91%
Benchmark - IPD property index 9.47% 7.72% 10.97%

 The CCLA investment is a long term holding.  The above table shows the 
performance of the fund as a whole and the longer-term performance should be 
used as a guide to returns achievable in the medium term.

 Vale invested £2 million into the fund and in the first six months of 2018/19, 
achieved a return of 4.59 per cent calculated as a ratio of income over the market 
value held as at 30 September 2018.  This is not the same basis upon which the 
performance of the fund above is calculated.

Page 105

Agenda Item 10



Appendix B1

B1 - 1

South Oxfordshire District Council

Prudential indicators as at 30th September 2018   
 2018/19 Actual as at

 
Original 

Estimate 30-Sep
Debt £m £m
Authorised limit for external debt  
Borrowing 30 0
Other long term liabilities 0 0
 30 0
Operational boundary for external debt  
Borrowing 25 0
Other long term liabilities 0 0
 25 0
Interest rate exposures  
Maximum fixed rate borrowing 100% 0
Maximum variable rate borrowing 100% 0
  
Investments  
Interest rate exposures  
Limits on fixed interest rates 100% 77%
Limits on variable interest rates 50 18
  
Principal sums invested > 364 days  
Upper limit for principal sums invested >364 days 70 22
    

Page 106

Agenda Item 10



Appendix B2

B2 - 1

Vale of White Horse District Council

Prudential indicators as at 30th September 2018   
  2018/19 Actual  as at

 
Original 
estimate 30-Sep

 £m £m
Authorised limit for external debt  
Borrowing 30 0
Other long term liabilities 5 0
 35 0
Operational boundary for external debt  
Borrowing 25 0
Other long term liabilities 0 0
 25 0
Interest rate exposures  
Maximum fixed rate borrowing 100% 0
Maximum variable rate borrowing 100% 0
  
Investments  
Interest rate exposures  
Limits on fixed interest rates 100% 82%
Limits on variable interest rates 50 12
  
Principal sums invested > 364 days  
Upper limit for principal sums invested >364 days 40 8
    

Page 107

Agenda Item 10



Appendix C1

C1 - 1

Prudential indicators – explanatory note

Debt

There are two limits on external debt: the ‘Operational Boundary’ and the ‘Authorised 
Limit’.   Both are consistent with the current commitments, existing plans and the 
proposals in the budget report for capital expenditure and financing, and with 
approved treasury management policy statement and practices.  They are both based 
on estimates of most likely, but not worst case scenario.  

The key difference is that the Authorised Limit cannot be breached without prior 
approval of the Council.  It therefore includes more headroom to take account of 
eventualities such as delays in generating capital receipts, forward borrowing to take 
advantage of attractive interest rates, use of borrowing in place of operational leasing, 
“invest to save” projects, occasional short term borrowing to cover temporary revenue 
cash flow shortfalls as well as an assessment of risks involved in managing cash 
flows.  

The Operational Boundary is a more realistic indicator of the likely position.

Interest rate exposures

The maximum proportion of interest on borrowing which is subject to fixed/variable 
rate of interest.

Investments

Interest rate exposure

The purpose of these indicators is to set ranges that will limit exposure to interest rate 
movement. The indicator required by the Treasury Management Code considers the 
net position of borrowing and investment and is based on principal sums outstanding.

Principal sums invested

This indicator sets a limit on the level of investments that can be made for more than 
364 days.

Page 108

Agenda Item 10



 
 

Treasury Management and Investment 

Strategy 2019/20  

Recommendations 
 
That Joint Audit & Governance Committee approves each of the following key elements of 
this report, and recommends these to Cabinet: 

1. To approve the treasury management strategy 2019/20 set out in appendix A to 
this report; 
 

2. To approve the prudential indicators and limits for 2019/20 to 2021/22 as set out in, 
appendix A. 

 
3. To approve the annual investment strategy 2019/20 set out in appendix A, (paragraphs 

40 to 81) and the lending criteria detailed in table 5.  
 

That Cabinet considers any comments from committee and recommends Council to approve 
report. 

Report to: 

 

Joint Audit & Governance Committee 

Cabinet 

Council 

Report of Head of Finance 

Author: Emily Hunt  

Telephone:  01749 341496 

E-mail: Emily.hunt@southandvale.gov.uk 

. 
 

Cabinet member responsible:  Councillor David Dodds 
Telephone: 01844 212891 
E-mail:  david.dodds@southoxon.gov.uk 
 
 
To: AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE on 28 January 2019 
 CABINET on     31 January 2019 
 COUNCIL on     14 February 2019 

 

Page 109

Agenda Item 11



 
 

Purpose of report 
 
1. This report presents the council’s Treasury Management Strategy (TMS) for 

2019/20. This sets out how the council’s treasury service will support financing of 
capital investment decisions, and how treasury management operates day to 
day. It sets out the limitations on treasury management activity informed by the 
prudential indicators, within which the council’s treasury function must operate. 
The strategy is included as appendix A to the report. This report includes the 
three elements required by legislation as follows: 
 
 The prudential indicators required by the CIPFA Prudential Code 2017 for 

Capital Finance in Local Authorities and CIPFA TM code of Practice 2017; 
 

 The annual investment strategy. This sets out the council’s criteria for 
selecting counterparties and limiting exposure to the risk of loss on its 
investments. 
 

 A statutory duty to approve a minimum revenue provision policy statement. 
(appendix A, paragraph 15-19). 

 
It is a requirement of the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management 2017 
that this report is approved by full Council on an annual basis. 

 
Strategic objectives 
 
2. Managing the finances of the authority in accordance with the treasury 

management strategy will help to ensure that resources are available to deliver 
its services and meet the council’s strategic objectives. 

 
Background 
 
3. Treasury management is the planning of the council’s cash flows, its banking, 

money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks. 

 
4. The funding of the council’s capital expenditure is also a function of treasury 

management. The capital programme provides a guide to the funding needs of 
the council and informs long-term cash flow plans to ensure that the council can 
meet its capital spending obligations. 

 
5. Treasury investments are effectively what the council does with its cash 

resources before it is spent on the provision of services and the funding of the 
capital programme. All expenditure of a capital nature is managed through the 
council’s capital programme and is not covered by this report. 

 
6. The treasury management and annual investment strategy set out the council’s 

policies for managing investments and confirms the council gives priority to the 
security and liquidity of those investments. It also includes the prudential 
indicators for the next three years; these demonstrate that the council’s capital 

Page 110

Agenda Item 11



 
 

investment plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable. 
 

7. The council’s treasury management strategy 2019/20 is attached in 
appendix A. Whilst every attempt has been made to minimise the technical 
content of this report, it is, by its very nature and the need for compliance with 
associated guidance, technical in parts. A glossary of terms in appendix G should 
aid members understanding of some technical terms used in the report. 

 
8. CIPFA has reviewed the previous ‘Prudential code’ and the ‘Treasury 

Management Code of Practice’ the revisions take into consideration; 
 
 A local authority should define its risk appetite and its governance processes 

for managing risk, alongside also assessing the risks and rewards of 
significant investments over the long term. This is opposed to the usual 
three to five years that most local authority financial planning has been 
conducted over, to ensure the long term financial sustainability of the 
authority.  

 
 The Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG) and 

Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy (CIPFA) have 
extended the meaning of ‘investments’ to include both financial and non-
financial investments.  This report deals solely with financial investments, 
(as managed by the treasury management team).  Non-financial 
investments, essentially the purchase of income yielding assets, are 
covered in the Capital Strategy. 

 
 The Prudential Code has also expressed concern that local authorities 

should ensure that an authority’s approach to commercial activities should 
be proportional to its overall resources. 

 
 A local authority should have access to the appropriate level of expertise to 

be able to operate safely in all areas of investment and capital expenditure, 
and to involve members adequately in making properly informed decisions 
on such investments. 

 
The Treasury Management Strategy for 2019/20 has been compiled in line with the 
revisions in the above code. 

 
Recommended changes to the treasury management strategy 
 
9. Council approved the 2018/19 treasury management strategy on 14 February 

2018. The proposed strategy for 2019/20 includes the changes detailed below, 
which cabinet is asked to recommend to council: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 111

Agenda Item 11



 
 

 
Counterparty limits 
 
10. Over the last year it has been acknowledged that there needs to be an 

amendment to the counterparty limits in regard to Building Societies that are 
unrated. This is to allow for further safeguarding of the council’s funds. As a result 
of this we have revised the counterparty limits below; 

 
 Unrated Building Societies or Building Societies with a rating of BBB or lower 

we propose to introduce a maximum of £10 million split with the below asset 
valuation limits. 
 

 Building societies - assets > £5,000 million maximum of £10 million 
investment. 

 Building societies - assets > £3,000 million maximum of £8 million 
investment. 

 Building societies - assets > £1,000 million maximum of £6 million 
investment.   
 

 Building Societies of a minimum fitch rating of BBB+ to move to a maximum 
investment of £15 million. 

 
11. In respect of the above for current investments held with unrated building 

societies, the new limits will take effect on maturity of existing loans.   
 
12. Considering the above changes, we have increased the counterparty limit for 

Local Authorities’ up to £20 million to accommodate the reduced limits on building 
societies. 

 
13. This decision has been made with consideration to the local Government Act 

2003 sections 13 - No Local Authority can offer Security to a Lender and there is 
specific regulation on loans to Local Authorities which makes clear that all loans 
are secured on future revenues and this includes the ability to take legal action if 
any debts are not repaid. 

 
Investment type addition 
 
14. To allow a wider choice of investment in the future, two investment types are to 

be added to the list of permissible investments. There are no current plans to 
invest in these investments. 

 
1. Multi Assets Funds;  

A multi-asset class, also known as a multiple-asset class or multi-asset fund, 
is a combination of asset classes (such as cash, equity or bonds) used as an 
investment. A multi-asset class investment contains more than one asset 
class, thus creating a group or portfolio of assets. The weights and types of 
classes vary according to the individual investor. 
 

2. Ultra-Dated/Short dated bonds;  

Page 112

Agenda Item 11



 
 

A type of bond fund that invests only in fixed-income instruments with very 
short-term maturities. An ultra-short bond fund will ideally invest in 
instruments with maturities around one year. This investing strategy tends to 
offer higher yields than money market instruments, with less price fluctuations 
than a typical short-term fund. 

 
 
Financial implications and risk assessment 

 
15. This report and all associated policies and strategies set out clearly the 

parameters the council must work within. It is important that the council follows 
the approved treasury management strategy which is designed to help protect 
the council’s finances by managing its risk exposure. 
  

16. In the last year interest rates have slowly risen seeing the base rate rise in 
August, this is to make the first increase in Bank Rate above 0.5 per cent since 
the financial crash of 2008, from 0.5 per cent to 0.75 per cent. 

 
17. The next increase in Bank Rate is therefore forecast by our advisors to be in May 

2019, followed by increases in February and November 2020, before ending up 
at 2.0 per cent in February 2022. 

 
18. The table below gives an estimate of the investment income achievable for the 

next five years;  
 

Table 1: Medium term investment income forecast     

    2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

    £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

          

Forecast as at January 2019 2,950 2,879 2,987 2,890 2,636 

                

 
 
The 2019/20 budget setting report and medium term financial plan will take into 
account the latest projections of anticipated investment income.  
  
Legal implications 
 
19. There are no significant legal implications as a result of the recommendations in 

this report. Compliance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury 
Management in the Public Services, the CLG Local Government Investment 
Guidance provides assurance that the council’s investments are, and will 
continue to be, within its legal powers. 

 
20. The council must approve any amendment to the treasury management strategy 

and annual investment strategy in accordance with the Local Government Act 
2003 (the Act), the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the 
Public Services and the CLG Local Government Investment Guidance under 
Section 15(1) (a) Local Government Act 2003 and CIPFA Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance. 

Page 113

Agenda Item 11



 
 

 
Conclusion 
 
21. This report provides details of the proposed changes to the treasury management 

strategy and the annual investment strategy for 2019/20 which are appended to 
this report, together with the prudential indicators for approval to council. These 
documents provide the parameters within which the council’s treasury 
management function will operate. 

 
Background papers 

 

 CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management 2017 
 CIPFA Prudential Code 2017 
 CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services Guidance Notes 2018 
 CIPFA statement 17.10.18 on borrowing in advance of need and investments 

in commercial properties  
 CIPFA Bulletin 02 Treasury and Capital Management Update October 2018 
 Statutory Guidance on Local Government Investments (3rd Edition)  
 Statutory Guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision 

 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20  
Appendix B Economic Background  
Appendix C Risk and performance benchmarking 
Appendix D Explanation of Prudential and Treasury Indicators 
Appendix E TMP1 extract 
Appendix F Extension to the responsibilities of the S151 officer 
Appendix G Glossary of terms 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 114

Agenda Item 11



 
 

 

 

Appendix A 

Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20 
 
Introduction 
 
1. The first main function of the treasury management services is to ensure the 

council’s cash flow is adequately planned, with cash being available when it is 
needed.  Surplus monies are invested in low risk counterparties or instruments 
commensurate with the council’s low risk appetite, providing adequate liquidity 
initially before considering investment return. The second main function of the 
treasury management service is the funding of the council’s capital plans.   

 
2. Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the treasury 

function, these activities are generally classed as non-treasury activities, (arising 
usually from capital expenditure), and are separate from the day to day treasury 
management activities. 

 
3. CIPFA defines treasury management as: 

 
“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, 
its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of 
the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks.” 

 
4. Revised reporting is required for the 2019/20 reporting cycle due to revisions of the 

Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG) Investment 
Guidance, the MHCLG Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Guidance, the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code and 
the CIPFA Treasury Management Code.  The primary reporting changes include 
the introduction of a capital strategy, to provide a longer-term focus to the capital 
plans, and greater reporting requirements surrounding any commercial activity 
undertaken under the Localism Act 2011.  The capital strategy is being reported 
separately. 

 
Treasury Management reporting 

5. The Council is currently required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three main 
treasury reports each year, which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates and 
actuals.   

a) Prudential and treasury indicators and treasury strategy (this report) - The first, 
and most important report is forward looking and covers: 

 the capital plans, (including prudential indicators); 

 a minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy, (how residual capital 
expenditure is charged to revenue over time); 

Page 115

Agenda Item 11



 
 

 the treasury management strategy, (how the investments and borrowings 
are to be organised), including treasury indicators; and  

 an investment strategy, (the parameters on how investments are to be 
managed). 

 

b) A mid-year treasury management report – This is primarily a progress report 
and will update members on the capital position, amending prudential indicators 
as necessary, and whether any policies require revision. 

 

c) An annual treasury report – This is a backward-looking review document and 
provides details of a selection of actual prudential and treasury indicators and 
actual treasury operations compared to the estimates within the strategy. 

 
Scrutiny 

6. The above reports are required to be adequately scrutinised before being 
recommended to the Council. This role is undertaken by the Joint Audit and 
Governance Committee. 

Treasury Management Strategy for 2019/20 

7. The strategy for 2019/20 covers the areas below: 

 the capital expenditure plans and the associated prudential indicators; 

 the minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy. 

 the current treasury position; 

 treasury indicators which limit the treasury risk and activities of the Council; 

 prospects for interest rates; 

 the borrowing strategy; 

 policy on borrowing in advance of need; 

 debt rescheduling; 

 the investment strategy; 

 creditworthiness policy; and 

 the policy on use of external service providers. 

 

8. These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003 (the 
Act), the CIPFA Prudential Code, MHCLG MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Treasury 
Management Code and MHCLG Investment Guidance. 

 
Councillor and officer training 
 
9. The CIPFA Code requires the Head of Finance to ensure that members with 

responsibility for treasury management receive adequate training in treasury 
management. This especially applies to members responsible for scrutiny. The 
training needs of treasury management officers are periodically reviewed.  

10. Capita have been contracted to undertake the Treasury Management since 
beginning of August 2016, the services have now been transferred to the 
financial accounting team in which are based out of the Shepton Mallet offices. 

Page 116

Agenda Item 11



 
 

The council still authorise daily dealings and receive regular reports from the 
team on current and future investments.  

 
 
 
Capital Prudential Indicators 
 
11. The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury management 

activity. The output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected in the prudential 
indicators, which are designed to assist members’ overview and confirm capital 
expenditure plans. 

Treasury management consultants 

12. The Council uses Link Asset Services, Treasury solutions as its external treasury 
management advisors. 

 
13. The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions 

remains with the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not 
placed upon the services of our external service providers. All decisions will be 
undertaken with regards to all available information, including, but not solely, our 
treasury advisors. 

 
14. It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury 

management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. 
The Council will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by 
which their value will be assessed are properly agreed and documented and 
subjected to regular review.  

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy statement 2019/20 

15. MRP is the amount out of revenues set aside each year as a provision for debt 
i.e. the provision in respect of capital expenditure financed by borrowing. 

 
16. The council is required by regulation to approve an annual MRP policy before the 

start of the year to which it relates. Any in-year changes must also be submitted 
to the council for approval. 
 

17. A variety of options are provided to councils for the calculation of MRP. The 
council has chosen the “asset life method” as being most appropriate. Using this 
method MRP will be based on the estimated life of the asset, in accordance with 
the regulations (this option must be applied for any expenditure capitalised under 
a Capitalisation Direction). Repayments included in annual PFI or finance leases 
are applied as MRP. 

 
18. Currently, the council’s MRP liability is nil. This will remain the case unless capital 

expenditure is financed by external or internal borrowing. 
 
19. The council’s current capital programme will primarily be financed from internal 

resources. If borrowing is undertaken, then the council will be required by statute 
to set aside funds in the annual revenue budget to amortise the principal element 

Page 117

Agenda Item 11



 
 

of any borrowing – this is the MRP. There will also be a requirement to set aside 
revenue budget for the interest payments on any borrowing raised. Loans will 
generally be taken over the life of the assets being financed and amortised 
accordingly. The Head of Finance will determine the most appropriate repayment 
method, term of borrowing and duration of borrowing. As a general illustration, 
Table 1 below gives an example of the annual revenue costs associated with 
borrowing an amount of £2.5 million over a 50-year period, based on the current 
district tax base of 56,793 Band D equivalents: 

 

Table 1: Example MRP and interest calculation 
       

Loan Amount  £2,500,000    

       

Loan Duration  50 Years    

       

PWLB Interest  2.68%    

       

2019/20 Tax Base       56,793     

       

       

   £  

£ per Band 
D 

MRP Element  £50,000   0.88 
       

Annual Interest Cost  £67,000   1.18 

Total   £117,000   2.06 

     

Prospects for interest rate forecast and economic rate forecasts 

20. The Council has appointed Link Asset Services as its treasury advisor and part of 
their service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates. The 
following table gives their central view. 
 

Quoted by link Asset Services 26th November 2018 

 
 
21. The flow of generally positive economic statistics after the quarter ended 30 June 

meant that it came as no surprise that the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) 
came to a decision on 2 August 2018 to make the first increase in Bank Rate 
above 0.5 per cent since the financial crash, from 0.5 per cent to 0.75 per cent. 

Page 118

Agenda Item 11



 
 

Growth has been healthy since that meeting but is expected to weaken 
somewhat during the last quarter of 2018. 
 

22.  At their November meeting, the MPC left Bank Rate unchanged, but expressed 
some concern at the Chancellor’s fiscal stimulus in his Budget, which could 
increase inflationary pressures.  However, it is unlikely that the MPC would 
increase Bank Rate in February 2019, ahead of the deadline in March for Brexit.  
The next increase in Bank Rate is therefore forecast to be in May 2019, followed 
by increases in February and November 2020, before ending up at 2.0 per cent in 
February 2022. 

 
23. The overall longer run future trend is for gilt yields, and consequently PWLB 

rates, to rise, albeit gently.  However, over about the last 25 years, we have been 
through a period of falling bond yields as inflation subsided to, and then stabilised 
at, much lower levels than before, and supported by central banks implementing 
substantial quantitative easing purchases of government and other debt after the 
financial crash of 2008.  Quantitative easing, conversely, also caused a rise in 
equity values as investors searched for higher returns and purchased riskier 
assets. 

 
24. From time to time, gilt yields, and therefore PWLB rates, can be subject to 

exceptional levels of volatility due to geo-political, sovereign debt crisis, emerging 
market developments and sharp changes in investor sentiment. Such volatility 
could occur at any time during the forecast period. 

 
25. Economic and interest rate forecasting remains difficult with so many external 

influences weighing on the UK. The above forecasts, (and MPC decisions), will 
be liable to further amendment depending on how economic data and 
developments in financial markets transpire over the next year. Geopolitical 
developments, especially in the EU, could also have a major impact. Forecasts 
for average investment earnings beyond the three-year time horizon will be 
heavily dependent on economic and political developments.  

 
 
Treasury Limits for 2019/20 to 2021/22 

 
26. It is a statutory duty, under Section 3 of the Act and supporting regulations for the 

council to determine and keep under review how much it can afford to borrow. 
The amount so determined is called the “Affordable Borrowing Limit”. The 
Authorised Limit is the legislative limit specified in the Act. 
 

27. The council must have regard to the Prudential Code when setting the Authorised 
Limit, which essentially requires it to ensure that total capital expenditure remains 
within sustainable limits and, that the impact upon its future council tax is 
‘acceptable’. 

 
28. The Authorised Limit is set on a rolling basis, for the forthcoming financial year 

and two successive financial years. 
 

Page 119

Agenda Item 11



 
 

29. The following indicators set the parameters within which we manage the overall 
capital investment and treasury management functions. There are specific 
treasury activity limits, which aim to contain the activity of the treasury function in 
order to manage risk and reduce the impact of an adverse movement in interest 
rates. However, if these are set to be too restrictive they will impair the 
opportunities to reduce costs/improve performance. The limits are set out in table 
2 below. 

 
Cabinet is asked to recommend council to approve the limits: 

Table 2: Prudential indicators           

   2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

   Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

Debt  £m £m £m £m 

Authorised limit for external debt       

Borrowing  30 30 30 30 

Other long-term liabilities  0 0 0 0 

   30 30 30 30 

Operational boundary for external debt       

Borrowing  25 25 25 25 

Other long-term liabilities  0 0 0 0 

   25 25 25 25 

Interest rate exposures       

Maximum fixed rate borrowing  100% 100% 100% 100% 

Maximum variable rate borrowing  100% 100% 100% 100% 
        

Investments       

Interest rate exposures       

Limits on fixed interest rates  100% 100% 100% 100% 

Limits on variable interest rates  50 50 50 50 
        
Total principal sums invested for periods 
longer than a year” i.e. +365 days       

Upper limit for principal sums invested +365 days  70 70 70 70 

            
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 120

Agenda Item 11



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Current position 
The maturity structure of the council’s investments at 31 October 2018 was as 
follows: 

Table 3: maturity structure of investments at 31 October: 

 Total £000's % holding   

        

Call                1,654  1%   

Money market fund              11,685  8%   

Less than 6 months              58,500  38%   

6 months to 1 year              49,500  32%   

1 year +              15,000  10%   

CCLA - Property Fund                 5,000  3%   

Equities              12,743  8%   

Total investments            154,082  100%   
 
*The figure for total investments shown above excludes the £15 million 20-year loan to SOHA 
made in 2013/14 and the balance outstanding with Kaupthing Singer & Friedlander (KSF). 
 
Note: £154 million does not represent uncommitted resource the council has at its disposal. This 
amount includes council tax receipts held prior to forwarding to Oxfordshire County Council and 
the Police and Crime Commissioner for the Thames Valley, business rate receipts prior to 
payment to the government and committed capital and revenue balances. Details of the council’s 
uncommitted balances are provided in the annual budget and council tax setting report. 

 
30. The council holds as above, 89 per cent of its investments in the form of cash 

deposits, 79 per cent is invested for fixed terms with a fixed investment return 
and 9 per cent on call accounts, with the remainder held in non-cash deposits. 
Typically, the council restricts lending activity to UK institutions and the highest 
rated counterparties 

 
31. The council's considerations for investment will remain security, liquidity and yield 

– in that order. Officers undertaking Treasury Management will work towards the 
optimum profile distribution. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 121

Agenda Item 11



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Investment performance for the year to 31 October 2018 
 
32. The council’s budgeted investment return for 2018/19 is £2.940 million, and the 

actual interest received to date is shown as follows: 
 

Table 4: Investment interest earned by investment type 

    Interest Earned 

   Annual Actual  Annual Forecast 

Investment type  Budget to date Forecast Variation 

   £000 £000 £000 £000 

        

SOHA  623 312 621 (2) 

CCLA  294 144 299 5 

Unit Trusts  456 0 396 (60) 
Fixed term and call 
cash   1568 

       
776  1374 (194) 

Total interest   2,941 1,232 2,690 (251) 
 

Borrowing Strategy 2019/20 
 
33. The annual treasury management strategy has to set out details of the council’s 

borrowing requirement, any maturing debt which will need to be re-financed, and 
the effect this will have on the treasury position over the next three years. This 
council currently has no external debt and in general, the council will borrow for 
one of two purposes: 

 
 to support cash flow in the short-term; 
 To fund capital investment over the medium to long term. 

 
34. Any borrowing undertaken will be within the scope of the boundaries given in the 

prudential indicators shown in Table 2, which allow for the council to borrow up to 
a maximum of £30 million, if such a need arose. This also allows short-term 
borrowing for the cash flow management activities of the authority. 

 
35. The existing capital programme can be financed from internal resources. 

Additional expenditure committed in the future can be financed either by use of 
reserves or internal borrowing or externally (through prudential borrowing). Any 
decision on borrowing will be taken by the Head of Finance based on the 
optimum cost to the council. 

 
36. Any borrowing for capital financing purposes will be assessed by the Head of 

Finance to be prudent, sustainable and affordable 
 

Page 122

Agenda Item 11



 
 

37. This strategy allows the Head of Finance to determine the most suitable 
repayment terms of any borrowing to demonstrate affordability and sustainability 
in the medium term financial plan if required. As a rule, the term of any borrowing 
will not be longer than the expected life of the capital asset being created. 

 
 
Policy on borrowing in advance of need 
 
38. The Council will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs purely in order to 

profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow in 
advance will be within forward approved Capital Financing Requirement estimates 
and will be considered carefully to ensure that value for money can be 
demonstrated and that the Council can ensure the security of such funds.  

 

39. Risks associated with any borrowing in advance activity will be subject to prior 
appraisal and subsequent reporting through the mid-year or annual reporting 
mechanism.  

 
Annual investment strategy  
 
40. The MHCLG and CIPFA have extended their definition of ‘investments’ to include 

both financial and non-financial investments.  This report deals solely with financial 
investments, (as managed by the treasury management team).  Non-financial 
investments, essentially the purchase of income yielding assets, are covered in the 
Capital Strategy, (a separate report). 

 
41. The Council’s investment policy has regard to the following: - 
 

 MHCLG’s Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”) 
 CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross 

Sectoral Guidance Notes 2017 (“the Code”)  
 CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2018   

 
42. The Council’s investment priorities will be security first, portfolio liquidity second 

and then yield, (return). 
 
43. The primary aim of the council’s investment strategy is to maintain the security and 

liquidity of its investments; yield or return on the investment will be a secondary 
consideration, subject to prudent security and liquidity. The council will ensure: 

 

 It has sufficient liquidity in its investments to cover cash flow. For this 
purpose, it has set out parameters for determining the maximum periods 
for which funds may prudently be committed. 
 

 It maintains a policy covering the categories of investment types it will 
invest in, criteria for choosing investment counterparties with adequate 
security, and monitoring their security. 

 
44. The strategy aims to provide a high degree of flexibility to take appropriate 

lending decisions, with a view to producing a portfolio with an even spread of 

Page 123

Agenda Item 11



 
 

maturity periods. This aim is to provide a more even and predictable investment 
return in the medium term. 

 
45. The council’s Head of Finance will ensure a counterparty list (a list of named 

institutions) is maintained in compliance with the recommended credit rating 
criteria (table 5) and will revise the criteria and submit any changes to the credit 
rating criteria to council for approval as necessary. 

 
Investment types 
 
46. The types of investment that the council can use are summarised below. These 

are split under the headings of ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ in accordance with 
the statutory guidance. 

 
Specified investment instruments 

 
47. These are sterling investments of not more than one year maturity, or those 

where the council has the right to be repaid within 12 months if it wishes. These 
would include sterling investments with: 

 
 UK government Debt Management Agency Deposit Facility (DMADF) 
 UK government – treasury stock (Gilts) with less than one year to maturity 
 Supranational bonds of less than one year’s duration 
 Deposits with UK local authorities 
 Pooled investment vehicles such as Money Market Funds (MMF) (AAA rated) 
 Deposits with banks and building societies (minimum F1/A- rated) 
 Certificates of deposits issued by banks and building societies 

(minimum rating as above) 
 
Non-specified investment instruments 
 
48. These are any other type of investment (i.e. investments not defined as specified, 

above). Examples of non-specified investments include any sterling investments 
with: 

 
 Supranational bonds of 1 to 10 years to maturity 
 UK treasury stock (Gilts) with a maturity of 1 to 10 years 
 Unrated building societies (minimum asset value £1 billion) 
 Bank and building society cash deposits up to 5 years (minimum F1/A- 

rated) 
 Deposits with UK local authorities up to 25 years to maturity 
 Corporate bonds 
 Pooled property, pooled bond funds and UK pooled equity funds 
 Diversified Income Fund 
 Multi-Asset Fund  
 Ultra-Dated/Short dated bond 
 Non-UCITS Retail Schemes (NURS) 

 
Other Non-specified investment instruments.  

Page 124

Agenda Item 11



 
 

 
49. Other non-specified investment instruments include: 
 

 Fixed term deposits with variable rate and variable maturities 
 Investment in Housing Associations  

 
 
Approach to investing 
 
50. The council holds approximately £111 million core cash balances which are 

available to invest for more than one year. This is expected to reduce over the 
medium term as the approved capital expenditure is incurred and not replenished 
by capital receipts. In addition, the council has funds that are available on a 
temporary basis to invest. These are held pending payment over to another body 
such as precept payments and council tax. The amount can vary between £5 
million and £15 million throughout the year and should only be invested short 
term (under one year). Investments will be made with reference to known cash 
flow requirements (liquidity). 

 
51. While rates remain historically low the council will aim to keep investments 

relatively short term but will continue to look for opportunities to fix lending in the 
medium term with highly rated institutions when possible for core cash balances. 
The aim is to increase the weighted average maturity of the portfolio in order to 
reduce maturity risk. 

 
52. Officers will continue to implement an operational strategy which provides tight 

controls on the investments placed. Where possible, opportunities to spread the 
investment risk over different types of instruments will be considered. 

 
53. Should market conditions deteriorate suddenly to the extent that the council is 

unable to place money with institutions with the necessary credit rating, it will 
make use of the UK Government deposit account (DMADF). 
 

54. The council has the authority to lend to other local authorities at market rates. 
Whilst investments with other local authorities are considered to be supported by 
central government, officers will consider the financial viability and sustainability 
of the individual local authority before any funds are advanced. 
 

55. Further investment in property funds will be looked at in more detail for 
consideration. In 2013/14 the council invested £5 million in the Churches 
Charities and Local Authorities pooled property investment fund (CCLA). 
 

56. Money market funds are mainly used for liquidity; they also provide security and 
spread portfolio risk. Officers will always monitor the council’s exposure to these 
funds in order to manage our security risk. 
 

57. Currently the council does not make use of an external fund manager. Whilst 
there are presently no plans for this situation to change, this will continue to be 
kept under review. 
 

Page 125

Agenda Item 11



 
 

58. Bond funds can be used to diversify the portfolio, whilst maintaining an element 
of liquidity and security. These will be considered and reviewed as an investment 
possibility to spread portfolio risk. 
 

59. One option to offer diversification in the council’s investment portfolio would be to 
make use of Ultra Short Dated / Short Dated Bond Funds (USDBF / SDBFs). 
Possible use of such funds would be intended for longer term investments than 
with traditional money market funds (i.e. for possible investment durations of 
three – six months).  
 

60. Unlike money market funds USDBF/SDBF have a variable net asset value 
(VNAV). This means the assets are ‘marked to market’ (re-valued to current 
market value) on a daily basis and the fund unit price adjusted accordingly. Under 
this calculation basis the unit price fluctuates and could, therefore, be higher or 
lower than the original investment when it is redeemed. Any use of the above 
funds would be restricted to the high-quality counterparty credit criteria as set out 
in Table 5 below. 
 

61. The council does not currently make use of certificates of deposit. Consideration 
will be given to their use to assist diversification of the investment portfolio. 
Certificates of deposit have the same level of ranking and security as ordinary 
fixed term deposits but have the option of being traded before maturity. 
Certificates of deposit are bought and sold on the stock market and their price 
can go up or down prior to their redemption date. If held to maturity the 
investment will return their issue value. The council would only normally look to 
enter such investments on a held to maturity basis. 

 
Counterparty selection 
 
62. Treasury management risk is the risk of loss of capital to the council. To minimise 

this risk, the council uses credit rating information when considering who to lend 
to. Link Asset Services provide the council with credit rating updates from all 
three ratings agencies – Standard & Poors, Fitch and Moodys. 

 
63. The council will not use the approach suggested by CIPFA of using the lowest 

rating from all three rating agencies in evaluating investment opportunity. This is 
because adopting this approach could leave the council with too few 
counterparties for the strategy to be workable. Instead, counterparty investment 
limits will be set by reference to all of the assigned ratings. 

 
64. Where counterparties fail to meet the minimum required criteria (Table 5 below) 

they will be omitted from the counterparty list. Any rating changes and rating 
watches (notification of a rating change) are provided to officers almost 
immediately after they occur, and this information is considered before any deal 
is entered into. Extreme market movements may result in a downgrade of an 
institution or removal from the council’s lending list. 
 

65. Additional requirements under the CIPFA Treasury Management Code require 
the council to supplement the credit rating data with operational market 
information such as credit default swaps (CDS), negative watches and outlooks, 

Page 126

Agenda Item 11



 
 

which are considered when assessing the security of counterparties. This 
additional information is used so that the council does not rely solely on the 
current credit ratings of counterparties. 
 

66. Where it is felt the council would benefit from utilising government guarantees 
provided by countries with an AAA rating, the council may lend to institutions 
covered by such guarantees. Any decision to lend in this way will be subject to 
consultation with the agreement of the cabinet member responsible for finance. 

 
Country and sector considerations 
 
67. The council has determined that it will only use approved counterparties outside 

the UK from countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AAA from Fitch 
Ratings. 

 
Counterparty limits 
 
68. In the normal course of the council’s cash flow operations it is expected that both 

specified and non-specified investments will be used for the control of liquidity as 
both categories allow for short term investments. The use of longer term 
instruments (greater than one year from inception to repayment) will fall in the 
non-specified investment category. These instruments will be used where the 
council’s liquidity requirements are safeguarded. The council will lend to 
institutions that meet the following criteria: 

 
 

Page 127

Agenda Item 11



 
 

 
69. The criteria for choosing counterparties provides a sound approach to 

investment. Whilst councillors are asked to approve the criteria in table 5, under 
exceptional market conditions the head of finance may temporarily restrict further 
investment activity to those counterparties considered of higher credit quality than 
the minimum criteria set out for approval. 

 
Fund managers 
 
70. The council does not currently employ any external fund managers. However, in 

the event of such an appointment, appointees will comply with this and 
subsequent treasury strategies. This strategy empowers the Section 151 officer 
to appoint such an external manager to manage a proportion of the council’s 
investment portfolio if this is advantageous. Situations in which this might be 
advantageous include benchmarking the performance of the treasury team; 
benefiting from the often-extensive credit risk and economic modelling resources 
of external fund managers and resources necessary to hold liquid instruments 
for trading. 

 

 
 
Table 5: Counterparty Limits      

    Minimum Fitch 
Long term 
Rating ( or 
equivalent) 

Counterparty Max. 
maturity 
period 

Maximum % 
of total 

investments    Limit 

Counterparty  £m     
        

Institutions with a minimum rating:  F1+ / AA- £15.0m 4 years 25% 

Institutions with a minimum rating:  F1+ / A+ £15.0m 3 years 25% 

Institutions with a minimum rating:  F1 / A- £15.0m 2 years 30% 

Institutions with a minimum rating:  F1 / A £15.0m 1 year 50% 

Banks - part nationalised UK  UK sovereign  £20.0m 4 years 100% 

Building societies - assets > £5000m  n/a £10.0m 12 months 70% 

Building societies - assets > £3000m  n/a £8.0m 12 months 60% 

Building societies - assets > £1000m  n/a £6.0 m 12 months 50% 

Building Societies  BBB+ £15.0m 12 Months 50% 

Local authorities, parish councils  n/a £20.0m 25 years 50% 

Money Market funds (CNAV)  AAA £20.0m liquid 100% 

Pooled bond fund  F1+/A+ £5.0m Variable 10% 

Pooled property fund  n/a £10.0m Variable 15% 

CCLA Diversified Income Fund   n/a £10.0m Variable 15% 

Multi - Asset Funds  AAA £10.0m Variable 15% 

Ultra-Short Dated/Short dated bond funds  AAA £10.0m Variable 15% 

Property related Investments  n/a £30.0m Variable 80% 

Corporate Bonds  F1+/A+ £5.0m Variable 10% 

Non-UCITS Retail Scheme (NURS)  n/a £5.0m Variable 15% 

Housing Associations  F1+/A+ £15.0m Variable 15% 

Managed Bond Funds  F1/A- £15.0m  Variable 15% 

Share capital / Equities (UK)  n/a £10.0m Variable 20% 

Supranationals  AAA £10.0m Variable 20% 

UK Government - gilts  UK sovereign  £15.0m  15 years 10% 

UK Government - DMADF  UK sovereign  No limit n/a 100% 

UK Government - Treasury Bills   UK sovereign  £15.0m  15 years 10% 

Page 128

Agenda Item 11



 
 

 
Risk and performance benchmarks 

 
71. A requirement of the Code is that security and liquidity benchmarks are 

considered and approved. This is in addition to yield benchmarks which are used 
to assess performance. The benchmarks are guidelines (not limits) so may be 
breached depending on the movement in interest rates and counterparty criteria. 
Their purpose is to allow officers to monitor the current trend position and amend 
the operational strategy depending on any changes. Any breach of the 
benchmarks will be reported, with an explanation in the mid-year or annual report 
to audit and corporate governance committee. Detailed information for the 
assessment of risk is shown in appendix C. 

 
72. Performance indicators are set to assess the adequacy of the treasury function 

over the year. These are distinct historic performance indicators, as opposed to 
the predominantly forward looking prudential indicators. The indicators used to 
assess the performance of the treasury function are: 

 
 Cash investments - 3-month LIBID rate. 
 Property related investments – IPD Balance Property Unit Trust Index. 
 Equities – FTSE all shares index 

 
73. The results of these indicators will be reported in both the annual mid-year and 

year end treasury reports. 
 
Policy on the use of treasury management advisors 
 

74. The council has a joint contract for treasury management advisors with Vale of 
White Horse District Council. Link Asset Services (was Capita Asset Services) 
provides a range of services which include: 

 
 technical support on treasury matters, capital finance issues, statutory 

reports; 
 economic forecasts and interest rate analysis; 
 credit ratings / market information service involving the three-main credit 

rating agencies; 
 strategic advice including a review of the investment and borrowing 

strategies and policy documents. 
 

75. The council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions 
remains with the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is 
not placed upon our external service providers. It also recognises that there is 
value in employing external providers of treasury management services in order 
to acquire access to specialist skills, resources and up to date market 
information. 

 
 
 
 

Page 129

Agenda Item 11



 
 

Treasury management scheme of delegation and the role of the Section 151 
officer 

 

76.  Council 

 receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies, practices 
and activities; 

 approval of annual strategy. 

 

77. Joint Audit and Governance Committee/ Cabinet  

 approval of/amendments to the organisation’s adopted clauses, treasury 
management policy statement and treasury management practices; 

 receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and acting on 
recommendations; 

 Ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury management function 

 

78.  Section 151 Officer/ Head of Finance  

 recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, 
reviewing the same regularly, and monitoring compliance; 

 submitting regular treasury management policy reports; 
 submitting budgets and budget variations; 
 reviewing the performance of the treasury management function; 
 ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the 

effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management function; 
 ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit; 
 Approving the selection of external service providers and agreeing terms of 

appointment.  

 

79. The above list of specific responsibilities of the S151 officer in the 2017 Treasury 
Management Code has not changed.  However, implicit in the changes in both 
codes, is a major extension of the functions of this role, especially in respect of 
non-financial investments, (which CIPFA has defined as being part of treasury 
management), this is detailed in appendix F. 

 
Summary 
 

80. Prior to the beginning of each financial year the council must approve the treasury 
management strategy. The strategy sets the parameters within which officers can 
manage the council’s cash flows and invest any surplus funds. 

 
81. This strategy provides a commentary on the current financial climate and sets out 

the council’s lending strategy in response to this. 

 

 

Page 130

Agenda Item 11



 
 

Appendix B 

ECONOMIC BACKGROUND 

GLOBAL OUTLOOK.  World growth has been doing reasonably well, aided by 
strong growth in the US.  However, US growth is likely to fall back in 2019 and, together 
with weakening economic activity in China, overall world growth is likely to weaken. 
 
Inflation has been weak during 2018 but, at long last, unemployment falling to 
remarkably low levels in the US and UK has led to a marked acceleration of wage 
inflation which is likely to prompt central banks into a series of increases in central 
rates. The EU is probably about a year behind in a similar progression.  
 
KEY RISKS - central bank monetary policy measures 
Looking back on nearly ten years since the financial crash of 2008 when liquidity 
suddenly dried up in financial markets, it can be assessed that central banks’ monetary 
policy measures to counter the sharp world recession were successful. The key 
monetary policy measures they used were a combination of lowering central interest 
rates and flooding financial markets with liquidity, particularly through unconventional 
means such as quantitative easing (QE), where central banks bought large amounts 
of central government debt and smaller sums of other debt. 
 
The key issue now is that that period of stimulating economic recovery and warding 
off the threat of deflation, is coming towards its close. A new period has already started 
in the US, and more recently in the UK, of reversing those measures i.e. by raising 
central rates and, (for the US), reducing central banks’ holdings of government and 
other debt. These measures are now required in order to stop the trend of a reduction 
in spare capacity in the economy, and of unemployment falling to such low levels that 
the re-emergence of inflation is viewed as a major risk. 
 
UK. The flow of positive economic statistics since the end of the first quarter this year 
has shown that pessimism was overdone about the poor growth in quarter 1 when 
adverse weather caused a temporary downward blip.  Quarter 1 at 0.1 per cent growth 
in GDP was followed by a return to 0.4 per cent in quarter 2; quarter 3 is expected to 
be robust at around +0.6 per cent but quarter 4 is expected to weaken from that level. 
 
It is unlikely that the MPC would increase Bank Rate in February 2019, ahead of the 
deadline in March for Brexit.  Getting parliamentary approval for a Brexit agreement 
on both sides of the Channel will take well into spring next year.  However, in view of 
the hawkish stance of the MPC at their November meeting, the next increase in Bank 
Rate is now forecast to be in May 2019.  The following increases are then forecast to 
be in February and November 2020 before ending up at 2.0 per cent in February 2022. 
 
Inflation.  The Consumer Price Index (CPI) measure of inflation has been falling from 
a peak of 3.1 per cent in November 2017 to 2.4 per cent in October. In the November 
Bank of England quarterly inflation report, inflation was forecast to still be marginally 
above its 2 per cent inflation target two years ahead, (at about 2.1 per cent), given a 
scenario of minimal increases in Bank Rate.   This inflation forecast is likely to be 
amended upwards due to the Bank’s inflation report being produced prior to the 
Chancellor’s announcement of a significant fiscal stimulus in the Budget; this is likely 

Page 131

Agenda Item 11



 
 

to add 0.3per cent to GDP growth at a time when there is little spare capacity left in 
the economy, particularly of labour. 
 
As for the labour market figures in September, unemployment at 4.1 per cent was 
marginally above a 43 year low of 4 per cent on the Independent Labour Organisation 
measure.  A combination of job vacancies hitting an all-time high, together with 
negligible growth in total employment numbers, indicates that employers are now 
having major difficulties filling job vacancies with suitable staff.  It was therefore 
unsurprising that wage inflation picked up to 3.2 per cent, (3-month average regular 
pay, excluding bonuses). This meant that in real terms, (i.e. wage rates less CPI 
inflation), earnings are currently growing by about 0.8 per cent, the highest level since 
2009. This increase in household spending power is likely to feed through into 
providing some support to the overall rate of economic growth in the coming months. 
This tends to confirm that the MPC was right to start on a cautious increase in Bank 
Rate in August as it views wage inflation in excess of 3 per cent as increasing 
inflationary pressures within the UK economy.    
 
In the political arena, there is a risk that the current Conservative minority government 
may be unable to muster a majority in the Commons over Brexit.  However, our central 
position is that Prime Minister May’s government will endure, despite various setbacks, 
along the route to reaching an orderly Brexit in March 2019.  If, however, the UK faces 
a general election in the next 12 months, this could result in a potential loosening of 
monetary and fiscal policy and therefore medium to longer dated gilt yields could rise 
on the expectation of a weak pound and concerns around inflation picking up. 
 
Eurozone.  Growth was 0.4 per cent in quarters 1 and 2 but fell back to 0.2 per cent 
in quarter 3, though this is probably just a temporary dip.  In particular, data from 
Germany has been mixed and it could be negatively impacted by US tariffs on a 
significant part of manufacturing exports e.g. cars.   For that reason, although growth 
is still expected to be in the region of nearly 2 per cent for 2018, the horizon is less 
clear than it seemed just a short while ago. Having halved its quantitative easing 
purchases of debt in October 2018 to €15bn per month, the European Central Bank 
has indicated it is likely to end all further purchases in December 2018. Inflationary 
pressures are starting to build gently so it is expected that the ECB will start to increase 
rates towards the end of 2019. 
 
INTEREST RATE FORECASTS 
The interest rate forecasts provided by Link Asset Services in paragraph 3.2 are 
predicated on an assumption of an agreement being reached on Brexit between the 
UK and the EU. In the event of an orderly non-agreement exit, it is likely that the Bank 
of England would take action to cut Bank Rate from 0.75 per cent in order to help 
economic growth deal with the adverse effects of this situation. This is also likely to 
cause short to medium term gilt yields to fall. If there was a disorderly Brexit, then any 
cut in Bank Rate would be likely to last for a longer period and also depress short and 
medium gilt yields correspondingly. It is also possible that the government could act 
to protect economic growth by implementing fiscal stimulus.  
 
The balance of risks to the UK 
 The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably neutral. 

Page 132

Agenda Item 11



 
 

 The balance of risks to increases in Bank Rate and shorter term PWLB rates, 
are probably also even and are broadly dependent on how strong GDP growth 
turns out, how slowly inflation pressures subside, and how quickly the Brexit 
negotiations move forward positively.  

 
One risk that is both an upside and downside risk, is that all central banks are now 
working in very different economic conditions than before the 2008 financial crash as  
there has been a major increase in consumer and other debt due to the exceptionally 
low levels of borrowing rates that have prevailed for ten years since 2008. This means 
that the neutral rate of interest in an economy, (i.e. the rate that is neither expansionary 
nor deflationary), is difficult to determine definitively in this new environment, although 
central banks have made statements that they expect it to be much lower than before 
2008. Central banks could therefore either over or under do increases in central 
interest rates. 
 
Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates currently 
include:  
 Brexit – if it were to cause significant economic disruption and a major downturn 

in the rate of growth. 
 Bank of England monetary policy takes action too quickly, or too far, over the 

next three years to raise Bank Rate and causes UK economic growth, and 
increases in inflation, to be weaker than we currently anticipate.  

 
Upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates 
 Brexit – if both sides were to agree a compromise that removed all threats of 

economic and political disruption.  
 The Fed causing a sudden shock in financial markets through misjudging the 

pace and strength of increases in its Fed. Funds Rate and in the pace and 
strength of reversal of QE, which then leads to a fundamental reassessment by 
investors of the relative risks of holding bonds, as opposed to equities.  This 
could lead to a major flight from bonds to equities and a sharp increase in bond 
yields in the US, which could then spill over into impacting bond yields around 
the world. 

 The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases in Bank 
Rate and, therefore, allows inflation pressures to build up too strongly within the 
UK economy, which then necessitates a later rapid series of increases in Bank 
Rate faster than we currently expect.  

 UK inflation, whether domestically generated or imported, returning to 
sustained significantly higher levels causing an increase in the inflation premium 
inherent to gilt yields.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 133

Agenda Item 11



 
 

Appendix C  

 
Benchmarking and Monitoring Security, Liquidity and Yield in the Investment 
Service. 
 
1. These benchmarks are targets and so may be exceeded from time to time. Any 
variation will be reported, along with supporting reasons, in the Annual Treasury 
Report. 
 
2. Yield. The local benchmark currently used to assess the performance of cash 
investments is the level of returns contrasted against the London Interbank Bid 
(LIBID) three month rate. This is the interest rate a bank would be willing to pay to 
borrow from another bank for three months. 
Property related investments are benchmarked against the IPD Balanced Property 
Unit Trust Index. 
 
3. Liquidity. Liquidity is defined as the council “having adequate, though not 
excessive, cash resources, borrowing arrangements, overdrafts or standby facilities 
to enable it at all times to have the level of funds available to it which are necessary 
for the achievement of its business/service objectives” (CIPFA Treasury 
Management Code of Practice). 
 
4. In respect of this area, the council shall seek to: 
 
 maintain a minimal balance held in the council’s main bank account at the 

close of each working day. Transfers to the councils call accounts, MMF and 
investments will be arranged in order to achieve this, while maintaining access 
to adequate working capital at short notice. 

 use the authorised bank overdraft facility or short term borrowing where there is 
clear business case for doing so, to cover working capital requirements at short 
notice 

 
5. Security of the investments.  
 
In the context of benchmarking, assessing security is very much more a subjective 
area to assess. Security is currently evidenced by the application of minimum credit 
quality criteria to investment counterparties, primarily through the use of credit 
ratings supplied by the three main credit rating agencies (Fitch, Moody’s and 
Standard and Poor’s). Whilst this approach embodies security considerations, 
benchmarking levels of risk is more problematic. One method to benchmark security 
risk is to assess the historic level of default against the minimum criteria used in the 
Council’s investment strategy. The table beneath shows average defaults for 
differing periods of investment grade products for each Fitch long term rating 
category over the last 20-30 years. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 134

Agenda Item 11



 
 

Average defaults for differing periods of investment 
 
Long 
term rating  

1 year  2 years  3 years  4 years  5 years 

AA  0.04%  0.10% 0.18% 0.27% 0.36% 
A  0.05%  0.15%  0.28%  0.42%  0.59% 
BBB  0.16%  0.44%  0.77%  1.15%  1.55% 
 
6. The council’s minimum long term (i.e. plus 365 day duration) rating criteria is 
currently “A-”. For comparison, the average expectation of default for a two year 
investment in a counterparty with an “A” long term rating would be 0.15 per cent of 
the total investment (e.g. for a £1m investment the average loss would be £1,500). 
This is an average - any specific counterparty loss is likely to be higher. These 
figures act as a proxy benchmark for risk across the portfolio. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 135

Agenda Item 11



 
 

 
Appendix D 
 

Explanation of Prudential and Treasury Indicators 
Prudential borrowing permits local government organisations to borrow to fund 
capital spending plans provided they could demonstrate their affordability. Prudential 
indicators are the means to demonstrate affordability. 
 
Authorised limit for external debt – this is the maximum limit for external 
borrowing. This is the statutory limit determined under section 3(1) of the Local 
Government Act 2003. This limit is set to allow sufficient headroom for day to day 
operational management of cash flows. 
 
Operational boundary for external debt – this is set as the more likely amount that 
may be required for day to day cash flow. 
 
Upper limit for fixed and variable interest rate exposure – these limits allow the 
council flexibility in its investment and borrowing options. 
 
Upper limit for total principal sums invested for over 365 days – the amount it is 
considered can be prudently invested for periods in excess of a year 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 136

Agenda Item 11



 
 

 
Appendix E 
 
Treasury Management Practice (TMP) 1 – credit and counterparty risk 
management 
 
The CLG issued Investment Guidance in 2010, and this forms the structure of the 
council’s policy below. 

The key aim of the guidance is to maintain the current requirement for councils to 
invest prudently, and that priority is given to security and liquidity before yield. In order 
to facilitate this objective, the guidance requires this council to have regard to the 
CIPFA publication Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice and 
Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes. In accordance with the code, the head of finance has 
produced its treasury management practices (TMPs). This part, TMP1(1), covering 
investment counterparty policy requires approval each year 

 
The key requirements of both the Code and the investment guidance are to set an 
annual investment strategy, as part of its annual treasury strategy for the following 
year, covering the identification and approval of following: 
 

 the strategy guidelines for decision making on investments, particularly non-
specified investments.  

 the principles to be used to determine the maximum periods for which funds 
can be committed. 

 specified investments that the Council will use. These are high security (i.e. 
high credit rating, although this is defined by the Council, and no guidelines 
are given), and high liquidity investments in sterling and with a maturity of no 
more than a year. 

 non-specified investments, clarifying the greater risk implications, identifying 
the general types of investment that may be used and a limit to the overall 
amount of various categories that can be held at any time. 

 
The investment policy proposed for the Council is: 
 
Strategy guidelines – The main strategy guidelines are contained in the body of the 
treasury strategy statement. 
 
Specified investments – These investments are sterling investments of not more 
than one-year maturity, or those which could be for a longer period but where the 
Council has the right to be repaid within 12 months if it wishes.  These are 
considered low risk assets where the possibility of loss of principal or investment 
income is small.  These would include sterling investments which would not be 
defined as capital expenditure with: 
 

 UK government Debt Management Agency Deposit Facility (DMADF) 
 UK government – treasury stock (Gilts) with less than one year to maturity 
 Supranational bonds of less than one year’s duration 
 Deposits with UK local authorities 

Page 137

Agenda Item 11



 
 

 Pooled investment vehicles such as Money Market Funds (MMF) (AAA rated) 
 Deposits with banks and building societies (minimum F1/A-) 
 Certificates of deposits issued by banks and building societies (minimum 

rating as above) covers pooled investment vehicles, such as money market 
funds, rated AAA by Standard and Poor’s, Moody’s and / or Fitch rating 
agencies. 
 

Within these bodies, and in accordance with the Code, the council has set additional 
criteria to set the time and amount of monies which will be invested in these bodies. 
These criteria are as stated in table 5 to this report. 
 
Non-specified investments 
These are any other type of investment (i.e. not defined or specified above). The 
identification and rationale supporting the selection of these other investments and 
the maximum limits to be applied are as set out in Table 5. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 138

Agenda Item 11



 
 

Appendix F 
 
Extension to the specific responsibilities of the S151 officer as per the 
Treasury Management code 
 

The below list of specific responsibilities of the S151 officer in the 2017 Treasury 
Management Code has not changed.  However, implicit in the changes in both 
codes, is a major extension of the functions of this role, especially in respect of non-
financial investments, (which CIPFA has defined as being part of treasury 
management); 

 

 preparation of a capital strategy to include capital expenditure, capital financing, 
non-financial investments and treasury management, with a long-term 
timeframe. 

 ensuring that the capital strategy is prudent, sustainable, affordable and 
prudent in the long term and provides value for money 

 ensuring that due diligence has been carried out on all treasury and non-
financial investments and is in accordance with the risk appetite of the authority 

 ensure that the authority has appropriate legal powers to undertake expenditure 
on non-financial assets and their financing 

 ensuring the proportionality of all investments so that the authority does not 
undertake a level of investing which exposes the authority to an excessive level 
of risk compared to its financial resources 

 ensuring that an adequate governance process is in place for the approval, 
monitoring and ongoing risk management of all non-financial investments and 
long term liabilities 

 provision to members of a schedule of all non-treasury investments including 
material investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures, loans and financial 
guarantees  

 ensuring that members are adequately informed and understand the risk 
exposures taken on by an authority 

 ensuring that the authority has adequate expertise, either in house or externally 
provided, to carry out the above 

 creation of Treasury Management Practices which specifically deal with how 
non treasury investments will be carried out and managed, to include the 
following 

o Risk management (TMP1 and schedules), including investment and risk 
management criteria for any material non-treasury investment portfolios; 

  
o Performance measurement and management (TMP2 and schedules), 

including methodology and criteria for assessing the performance and 
success of non-treasury investments;          

  
o Decision making, governance and organisation (TMP5 and schedules), 

including a statement of the governance requirements for decision 
making in relation to non-treasury investments; and arrangements to 

Page 139

Agenda Item 11



 
 

ensure that appropriate professional due diligence is carried out to 
support decision making; 

  
o Reporting and management information (TMP6 and schedules), 

including where and how often monitoring reports are taken; 
  
o Training and qualifications (TMP10 and schedules), including how the 

relevant knowledge and skills in relation to non-treasury investments will 
be arranged. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 140

Agenda Item 11



 
 

Appendix G 
 
GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 

Authorised Limit  
The maximum amount of external debt at any one time in the 
financial year. 

Basis Point (BP)  1/100th of 1%, i.e. 0.01% 
Base Rate  Minimum lending rate of a bank or financial institution in the UK. 

Benchmark  
A measure against which the investment policy or performance of a 
fund manager can be compared. 

Bill of Exchange  A financial instrument financing trade. 

Callable Deposit  

A deposit placed with a bank or building society at a set rate for a 
set amount of time. However, the borrower has the right to repay 
the funds on pre-agreed dates, before maturity. This decision is 
based on how market rates have moved since the deal was agreed. 
If rates have fallen the likelihood of the deposit being repaid rises, 
as cheaper money can be found by the borrower. 

Cash Fund 
Management 

Fund management is the management of an investment portfolio of 
cash on behalf of a private client or an institution, the receipts and 
distribution of dividends and interest, and all other administrative 
work in connection with the portfolio. 

Certificate of 
Deposit (CD) 

Evidence of a deposit with a specified bank or building society 
repayable on a fixed date. They are negotiable instruments and 
have a secondary market; therefore, the holder of a CD is able to 
sell it to a third party before the maturity of the CD. 

Commercial 
Paper 

Short-term obligations with maturities ranging from 2 to 270 days 
issued by banks, corporations and other borrowers. Such 
instruments are unsecured and usually discounted, although some 
may be interest bearing. 

Corporate Bond  

Strictly speaking, corporate bonds are those issued by companies. 
However, the term is used to cover all bonds other than those 
issued by governments in their own currencies and includes issues 
by companies, supranational organisations and government 
agencies. 

Counterparty  
Another (or the other) party to an agreement or other market 
contract (e.g. lender/borrower/writer of a swap/etc.) 

CDS  

Credit Default Swap – a swap designed to transfer the credit 
exposure of fixed income products between parties. The buyer of a 
credit swap receives credit protection, whereas the seller of the 
swap guarantees the credit worthiness of the product. By doing 
this, the risk of default is transferred from the holder of the fixed 
income security to the seller of the swap. 

CFR  Capital Financing Requirement. 
CIPFA  Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy. 
CLG  Department for Communities and Local Government. 

Derivative  

A contract whose value is based on the performance of an 
underlying financial asset, index or other investment, e.g. an option 
is a derivative because its value changes in relation to the 
performance of an underlying stock. 

Page 141

Agenda Item 11



 
 

DMADF  
Deposit Account offered by the Debt Management Office, 
guaranteed by the UK government. 

 

ECB  

European Central Bank – sets the central interest rates in the EMU 
area. The ECB determines the targets itself for its interest rate 
setting policy; this is the keep inflation within a band of 0 to 2 per 
cent. It does not accept that monetary policy is to be used to 
manage fluctuations in unemployment and growth caused by the 
business cycle. 

Enhanced Cash 
Funds 

A pooled investment fund. Longer dated investment than a MMF 
and, unlike a MMF, enhanced cash funds have variable asset 
value. Assets are marked to market on a daily basis and the unit 
prices vary accordingly. Investments can be withdrawn on a notice 
basis (the length of which depends on the fund) although such 
funds would typically be used for investments of 3 to 6 month 
duration. 

Equity  
A share in a company with limited liability. It generally enables the 
holder to share in the profitability of the company through dividend 
payments and capital gain. 

Forward Deal  
The act of agreeing today to deposit funds with an institution for an 
agreed time limit, on an agreed future date, at an agreed rate. 

Forward Deposits  Same as forward dealing (above). 
Fiscal Policy  The government policy on taxation and welfare payments. 
GDP  Gross Domestic Product. 

Gilt  
Registered British government securities giving the investor an 
absolute commitment from the government to honour the debt that 
those securities represent. 

Mark to Market 
Accounting 

Accounting on the basis of the “fair value” of an asset or liability, 
based on the current market price. As a result, values will change 
with market conditions. 

Minimum 
Revenue 
Provision 

This is a prudent sum set aside each year to offset the principal 
repayment of any loan to smooth the impact on the local taxpayer. 

Money Market 
Fund 

A well rated, highly diversified pooled investment vehicle whose 
assets mainly comprise of short-term instruments. It is very similar 
to a unit trust, however a MMF relies on loans to companies rather 
than share holdings. 

Monetary Policy 
Committee (MPC) 

Government body that sets the bank rate (commonly referred to as 
being base rate). Their primary target is to keep inflation within 
plus or minus 1 per cent of a central target of 2.5 per cent in two 
years’ time from the date of the monthly meeting of the committee. 
Their secondary target is to support the government in maintaining 
high and stable levels of growth and employment. 

Non-UCITS Retail 
Scheme (NURS) – 

Undertakings for collective investments are funds authorised to be 
sold in the UK that are required to meet standards set by the UK 
services regulator. An example is property funds. 

Operational 
Boundary 

The most likely, prudent but not worst case scenario of external 
debt at any one time. 

Other Bonds Pooled funds investing in a wide range of bonds. 

Page 142

Agenda Item 11



 
 

PWLB  Public Works Loan Board. 
QE  Quantitative Easing. 

Retail Price Index  
Measurement of the monthly change in the average level of prices 
at the retail level weighted by the average expenditure pattern of 
the average person. 

Sovereign Issues 
(Ex UK Gilts) 

Bonds issued or guaranteed by nation states but excluding UK 
government bonds. 

Supranational 
Bonds 

Bonds issued by supranational bodies, e.g. European Investment 
Bank. The bonds – also known as Multilateral Development Bank 
bonds – are generally AAA rated and behave similarly to gilts, but 
pay a higher yield (“spread”) given their relative illiquidity when 
compared with gilts. 

Treasury Bill  
Treasury bills are short-term debt instruments issued by the UK or 
other governments. They provide a return to the investor by virtue 
of being issued at a discount to their final redemption value. 

 
 
 
 

Page 143

Agenda Item 11



 

 
 

 
 

Treasury Management and Investment 

Strategy 2019/20  

Recommendations 
 
That Joint Audit & Governance Committee approves each of the following key elements of 
this report, and recommends these to Cabinet: 

1. To approve the treasury management strategy 2019/20 set out in appendix A to 
this report; 

2.  
To approve the prudential indicators and limits for 2019/20 to 2020/21 as set out in, 
appendix A. 
 

3. To approve the annual investment strategy 2019/20 set out in appendix A, 
(paragraphs 41 to 82) and the lending criteria detailed in table 5.  

That Cabinet considers any comments from committee and recommends Council to approve 
report. 

 
 
 

Report to: 
 

Joint Audit & Governance Committee 

Cabinet 

Council 

Report of Head of Finance  

Author: Emily Hunt  

Telephone:  01749 341496 

E-mail: Emily.hunt@southandvale.gov.uk 

. 
 

VWHDC cabinet member responsible: Councillor Robert Sharp 
Telephone: 0136 771 0549 
E-mail: robert.sharp@whitehorsedc.gov.uk 
 
 
To: JOINT AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE on 28 January 2019 
 CABINET on     01 February 2019 
 COUNCIL on     13 February 2019 

Page 144

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

Purpose of report 
 
1. This report presents the council’s Treasury Management Strategy (TMS) for 

2019/2020. This sets out how the council’s treasury service will support financing 
of capital investment decisions, and how treasury management operates day to 
day. It sets out the limitations on treasury management activity informed by the 
prudential indicators, within which the council’s treasury function must operate. 
The strategy is included as appendix A to the report. This report includes the 
three elements required by legislation as follows: 
 

 The prudential and Treasury indicators required by the CIPFA 
Prudential Code 2017 for Capital Finance in Local Authorities and CIPFA 
TM code of Practice 2017; 
 

 The annual investment strategy. This sets out the council’s criteria for 
selecting counterparties and limiting exposure to the risk of loss on its 
investments. 

 
 A statutory duty to approve a minimum revenue provision policy 

statement, (appendix A, paragraph 15-19). 
 
It is a requirement of the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management 2017 
that this report is approved by full Council on an annual basis. 

 
Strategic objectives 
 
2. Managing the finances of the authority in accordance with the treasury 

management strategy will help to ensure that resources are available to deliver 
its services and meet the council’s strategic objectives. 

 
Background 
 
3. Treasury management is the planning of the council’s cash flows, its banking, 

money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks. 
 

4. The funding of the council’s capital expenditure is also a function of treasury 
management. The capital programme provides a guide to the funding needs of 
the council and informs long-term cash flow plans to ensure that the council can 
meet its capital spending obligations. 

 
5. Treasury investments are effectively what the council does with its cash 

resources before it is spent on the provision of services and the funding of the 
capital programme. All expenditure of a capital nature is managed through the 
council’s capital programme and is not covered by this report.  

 
6. The treasury management and annual investment strategy set out the council’s 

policies for managing investments and confirms the council gives priority to the 
security and liquidity of those investments. It also includes the prudential 

Page 145

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

indicators for the next three years; these demonstrate that the council’s capital 
investment plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable. 
 

7. The council’s treasury management strategy 2019/20 is attached in 
appendix A. Whilst every attempt has been made to minimise the technical 
content of this report, it is, by its very nature and the need for compliance with 
associated guidance, technical in parts. A glossary of terms in appendix G should 
aid members understanding of some technical terms used in the report. 

 
8. CIPFA has reviewed the previous ‘Prudential code’ and the ‘Treasury 

Management Code of Practice’ the revisions take into consideration; 
 

 A local authority should define its risk appetite and its governance processes 
for managing risk, alongside also assessing the risks and rewards of significant 
investments over the long term. This is opposed to the usual three to five years 
that most local authority financial planning has been conducted over, to ensure 
the long term financial sustainability of the authority.  
 

 The Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG) and 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy (CIPFA) have extended 
the meaning of ‘investments’ to include both financial and non-financial 
investments.  This report deals solely with financial investments, (as managed 
by the treasury management team).  Non-financial investments, essentially the 
purchase of income yielding assets, are covered in the Capital Strategy 

 
 The Prudential Code has also expressed concern that local authorities should 

ensure that an authority’s approach to commercial activities should be 
proportional to its overall resources. 
 

 A local authority should have access to the appropriate level of expertise to be 
able to operate safely in all areas of investment and capital expenditure, and to 
involve members adequately in making properly informed decisions on such 
investments. 

 
The Treasury Management Strategy for 2019/20 has been compiled in line with the 
revisions in the above code. 

 

Recommended changes to the treasury management strategy 
 
9. Council approved the 2018/19 treasury management strategy on 14 February 

2018. The proposed strategy for 2019/20 includes the changes detailed below, 
which cabinet is asked to recommend to council: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 146

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

Counterparty limits 
 
10. Over the last year it has been acknowledged that there needs to be an 

amendment to the counterparty limits in regard to Building Society’s that are 
unrated. This is to allow for further safeguarding of the council’s funds. As a result 
of this we have revised the counterparty limits below; 

 
 Unrated Building Societies or Building Societies with a rating of BBB or lower 

with an Asset Value of > £1,000 million move to maximum of £3 million.  
  

 Building Societies of a minimum fitch rating of BBB+ move to a maximum 
investment of £7 million. 

 
11. In respect of the above for current investments held with unrated building 

societies, the new limits will take effect on maturity of existing loans.   
 
12. Considering the above changes, we have increased the ‘maximum per cent of 

total limit’ on local authorities to 50 per cent to accommodate the reduced limits 
on building societies. 

 

13. This decision has been made with consideration to the local Government Act 
2003 sections 13 - No LA can offer Security to a Lender and there is specific 
regulation on loans to Local Authorities which makes clear that all loans are 
secured on future revenues and this includes the ability to take legal action if any 
debts are not repaid. 

 

Investment type addition 
 
14. To allow a wider choice of investment in the future, two investment types are to 

be added to the list of permissible investments. There are no current plans to 
invest in these investments. 

 
1. Multi Assets Funds;  

A multi-asset class, also known as a multiple-asset class or multi-asset fund, 
is a combination of asset classes (such as cash, equity or bonds) used as an 
investment. A multi-asset class investment contains more than one asset 
class, thus creating a group or portfolio of assets. The weights and types of 
classes vary according to the individual investor. 
 

2. Ultra-Dated/Short dated bonds;  
A type of bond fund that invests only in fixed-income instruments with very 
short-term maturities. An ultra-short bond fund will ideally invest in 
instruments with maturities around one year. This investing strategy tends to 
offer higher yields than money market instruments, with less price fluctuations 
than a typical short-term fund. 

 
 

Page 147

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

Financial implications and risk assessment 
 
15. This report and all associated policies and strategies set out clearly the 

parameters the council must work within. It is important that the council follows 
the approved treasury management strategy which is designed to help protect 
the council’s finances by managing its risk exposure. 
  

16. In the last year interest rates have slowly risen seeing the base rate rise in August, 
this is to make the first increase in Bank Rate above 0.5 per cent since the financial 
crash in 2008, from 0.5 per cent to 0.75 per cent. 
 

17. The next increase in Bank Rate is therefore forecast by our advisors to be in May 
2019, followed by increases in February and November 2020, before ending up at 
2.0 per cent in February 2022. Quoted by link Asset Services 26th November 2018 
 

18. The table below gives an estimate of the investment income achievable for the 
next five years;  

 

Table 1: Medium term investment income forecast     

    

 
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

    £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

          
Forecast as at January 
2019 796 864 992 815 710 

                

 
 
The 2019/20 budget setting report and medium term financial plan will take into 
account the latest projections of anticipated investment income.  
  
Legal implications 
 
19. There are no significant legal implications as a result of the recommendations in 

this report. Compliance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury 
Management in the Public Services, the CLG Local Government Investment 
Guidance provides assurance that the council’s investments are, and will 
continue to be, within its legal powers. 

 
20. The council must approve any amendment to the treasury management strategy 

and annual investment strategy in accordance with the Local Government Act 
2003 ( the Act), the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the 
Public Services and the CLG Local Government Investment Guidance under 
Section 15(1) (a) Local Government Act 2003 and CIPFA Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance. 

 
 

 
 

Page 148

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

Conclusion 
 
21. This report provides details of the proposed changes to the treasury management 

strategy and the annual investment strategy for 2019/20 which are appended to 
this report, together with the prudential indicators for approval to council. These 
documents provide the parameters within which the council’s treasury 
management function will operate. 

 
 
Background papers 

 

 CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management 2017 
 CIPFA Prudential Code 2017 
 CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services Guidance Notes 2018 
 CIPFA statement 17.10.18 on borrowing in advance of need and investments 

in commercial properties 
 CIPFA Bulletin 02 Treasury and Capital Management Update October 2018 
 Statutory Guidance on Local Government Investments (3rd Edition)  

Statutory Guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision  
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20 
Appendix B Economic Background 
Appendix C Risk and performance benchmarking 
Appendix D Explanation of Prudential and Treasury Indicators 
Appendix E TMP1 extract 
Appendix F Extension to the responsibilities of the S151 officer 
Appendix G Glossary of terms 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 149

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

Appendix A 

Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20 
 
Introduction 
 

1. The first main function of the treasury management services is to ensure the 
council’s cash flow is adequately planned, with cash being available when it is 
needed.  Surplus monies are invested in low risk counterparties or instruments 
commensurate with the council’s low risk appetite, providing adequate liquidity 
initially before considering investment return. The second main function of the 
treasury management service is the funding of the council’s capital plans.   

 
2. Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the 

treasury function, these activities are generally classed as non-treasury 
activities, (arising usually from capital expenditure), and are separate from the 
day to day treasury management activities. 

 
3. CIPFA defines treasury management as: 
 
“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, 
its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of 
the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks.” 
 
4. Revised reporting is required for the 2019/20 reporting cycle due to revisions of 

the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG) 
Investment Guidance, the MHCLG Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
Guidance, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy (CIPFA) 
Prudential Code and the CIPFA Treasury Management Code.  The primary 
reporting changes include the introduction of a capital strategy, to provide a 
longer-term focus to the capital plans, and greater reporting requirements 
surrounding any commercial activity undertaken under the Localism Act 2011.  
The capital strategy is being reported separately. 

  
Treasury Management reporting 

5. The Council is currently required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three 
main treasury reports each year, which incorporate a variety of policies, 
estimates and actuals.   

a) Prudential and treasury indicators and treasury strategy (this report) - The 
first, and most important report is forward looking and covers: 

 the capital plans, (including prudential indicators); 

 a minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy, (how residual capital 
expenditure is charged to revenue over time); 

 the treasury management strategy, (how the investments and 
borrowings are to be organised), including treasury indicators; and  

Page 150

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

 an investment strategy, (the parameters on how investments are to be 
managed). 

 

b) A mid-year treasury management report – This is primarily a progress report 
and will update members on the capital position, amending prudential 
indicators as necessary, and whether any policies require revision. 

 

c) An annual treasury report – This is a backward-looking review document 
and provides details of a selection of actual prudential and treasury 
indicators and actual treasury operations compared to the estimates within 
the strategy. 

 
Scrutiny 

6. The above reports are required to be adequately scrutinised before being 
recommended to the Council. This role is undertaken by the Joint Audit and 
Governance Committee. 

Treasury Management Strategy for 2019/20 

7. The strategy for 2019/20 covers the areas below: 

 the capital expenditure plans and the associated prudential indicators; 

 the minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy. 

 the current treasury position; 

 treasury indicators which limit the treasury risk and activities of the Council; 

 prospects for interest rates; 

 the borrowing strategy; 

 policy on borrowing in advance of need; 

 debt rescheduling; 

 the investment strategy; 

 creditworthiness policy; and 

 the policy on use of external service providers. 

 

8. These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, 
(the Act) the CIPFA Prudential Code, MHCLG MRP Guidance, the CIPFA 
Treasury Management Code and MHCLG Investment Guidance. 

 
Councillor and officer training 
 

9. The CIPFA Code requires the Head of Finance to ensure that members with 
responsibility for treasury management receive adequate training in treasury 
management.  This especially applies to members responsible for scrutiny. The 
training needs of treasury management officers are periodically reviewed.  

 
10. Capita have been contracted to undertake the Treasury Management since 

beginning of August 2016, the services have now been transferred to the 
financial accounting team in which are based out of the Shepton Mallet 

Page 151

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

offices. The council still authorise daily dealings and receive regular reports 
from the team on current and future investments.  

 
Capital Prudential Indicators 

11. The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury 
management activity. The output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected in 
the prudential indicators, which are designed to assist members’ overview and 
confirm capital expenditure plans. 

Treasury management consultants 
 

12. The Council uses Link Asset Services, Treasury solutions as its external 
treasury management advisors. 

 
13. The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions 

remains with the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is 
not placed upon the services of our external service providers. All decisions will 
be undertaken with regards to all available information, including, but not solely, 
our treasury advisors. 

 
14. It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury 

management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and 
resources. The Council will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the 
methods by which their value will be assessed are properly agreed and 
documented and subjected to regular review.  

 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy statement 2019/20 
 

15. MRP is the amount out of revenues set aside each year as a provision for 
debt i.e. the provision in respect of capital expenditure financed by borrowing. 

 
16. The council is required by regulation to approve an annual MRP policy before 

the start of the year to which it relates. Any in-year changes must also be 
submitted to the council for approval. 

 
17. A variety of options are provided to councils for the calculation of MRP. The 

council has chosen the “asset life method” as being most appropriate. Using 
this method MRP will be based on the estimated life of the asset, in 
accordance with the regulations (this option must be applied for any 
expenditure capitalised under a Capitalisation Direction). Repayments 
included in annual PFI or finance leases are applied as MRP. 

 
18. Currently, the council’s MRP liability is nil. This will remain the case unless 

capital expenditure is financed by external or internal borrowing. 
 

19. The council’s current capital programme will primarily be financed from 
internal resources. If borrowing is undertaken, then the council will be required 
by statute to set aside funds in the annual revenue budget to amortise the 
principal element of any borrowing – this is the MRP. There will also be a 
requirement to set aside revenue budget for the interest payments on any 

Page 152

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

borrowing raised. Loans will generally be taken over the life of the assets 
being financed and amortised accordingly. The Head of Finance will 
determine the most appropriate repayment method, term of borrowing and 
duration of borrowing. As a general illustration, Table 1 below gives an 
example of the annual revenue costs associated with borrowing an amount of 
£2.5 million over a 50 year period, based on the current district tax base of 
50,706 Band D equivalents. 

 

Table 1: Example MRP and interest calculation 
       

Loan Amount  £2,500,000    

       

Loan Duration  50 Years    

       

PWLB Interest  2.68%    

       

2019/20 Tax Base       51,706     

       

       

   £  

£ per Band 
D 

MRP Element  £50,000   0.97 
       

Annual Interest Cost  £67,000   1.30 

Total   £117,000   2.26 

 

Prospects for interest rate forecast and economic rate forecasts 

20. The Council has appointed Link Asset Services as its treasury advisor and part 
of their service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates. The 
following table gives their central view. 

 
Quoted by link Asset Services 26th November 2018 

         
 

21. The flow of generally positive economic statistics after the quarter ended 30 
June meant that it came as no surprise that the Monetary Policy Committee 
(MPC) came to a decision on 2 August 2018 to make the first increase in Bank 
Rate above 0.5 per cent since the financial crash, from 0.5 per cent to 0.75 per 
cent. Growth has been healthy since that meeting but is expected to weaken 
somewhat during the last quarter of 2018.  

Page 153

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

22. At their November meeting, the MPC left Bank Rate unchanged, but expressed 
some concern at the Chancellor’s fiscal stimulus in his Budget, which could 
increase inflationary pressures.  However, it is unlikely that the MPC would 
increase Bank Rate in February 2019, ahead of the deadline in March for Brexit.  
The next increase in Bank Rate is therefore forecast to be in May 2019, followed 
by increases in February and November 2020, before ending up at 2.0 per cent 
in February 2022. 

 
23. The overall longer run future trend is for gilt yields, and consequently PWLB 

rates, to rise, albeit gently.  However, over about the last 25 years, we have 
been through a period of falling bond yields as inflation subsided to, and then 
stabilised at, much lower levels than before, and supported by central banks 
implementing substantial quantitative easing purchases of government and 
other debt after the financial crash of 2008.  Quantitative easing, conversely, 
also caused a rise in equity values as investors searched for higher returns and 
purchased riskier assets.   

 

24. From time to time, gilt yields, and therefore PWLB rates, can be subject to 

exceptional levels of volatility due to geo-political, sovereign debt crisis, 

emerging market developments and sharp changes in investor sentiment. Such 

volatility could occur at any time during the forecast period. 

 

25. Economic and interest rate forecasting remains difficult with so many external 

influences weighing on the UK. The above forecasts, (and MPC decisions), will 

be liable to further amendment depending on how economic data and 

developments in financial markets transpire over the next year. Geopolitical 

developments, especially in the EU, could also have a major impact. Forecasts 

for average investment earnings beyond the three-year time horizon will be 

heavily dependent on economic and political developments.  

Treasury Limits for 2019/20 to 2021/22 
 

26. It is a statutory duty, under Section 3 of the Act and supporting regulations for 
the council to determine and keep under review how much it can afford to 
borrow. The amount so determined is called the “Affordable Borrowing Limit”. 
The Authorised Limit is the legislative limit specified in the Act. 
 

27. The council must have regard to the Prudential Code when setting the 
Authorised Limit, which essentially requires it to ensure that total capital 
expenditure remains within sustainable limits and in particular, that the impact 
upon its future council tax is ‘acceptable’. 

 
28. The Authorised Limit is set on a rolling basis, for the forthcoming financial 

year and two successive financial years. 
 

29. The following indicators set the parameters within which we manage the 
overall capital investment and treasury management functions. There are 
specific treasury activity limits, which aim to contain the activity of the treasury 
function in order to manage risk and reduce the impact of an adverse 

Page 154

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

movement in interest rates. However, if these are set to be too restrictive they 
will impair the opportunities to reduce costs/improve performance. The limits 
are set out in table 2 below. 

 
Cabinet is asked to recommend council to approve the limits: 

Table 2: Prudential indicators           

   2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

   Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

Debt  £m £m £m £m 

Authorised limit for external debt       

Borrowing  30 30 30 30 

Other long term liabilities  5 5 5 5 

   35 35 35 35 

Operational boundary for external debt       

Borrowing  25 25 25 25 

Other long term liabilities  5 5 5 5 

   30 30 30 30 

Interest rate exposures       

Maximum fixed rate borrowing  100% 100% 100% 100% 

Maximum variable rate borrowing  100% 100% 100% 100% 
        

Investments       

Interest rate exposures       

Limits on fixed interest rates  100% 100% 100% 100% 

Limits on variable interest rates  50 50 50 50 
        
Total principal sums invested for periods longer 
than a year” ie +365 days        

Upper limit for principal sums invested +365days  40 40 40 40 

            

Current position 
30.The maturity structure of the council’s investments at 31 October 2018 was as 
follows: 

Table 3: maturity structure of investments at 31st October  

  Total 
% Holding 

  
  £000   

Call          -    0%   

Money market fund   10,765  13%   

Less than 6 months   44,500  53%   

6 months to 1 year   18,000  22%   

1 year +      8,000  10%   

CCLA - Property Fund     2,000  2%   

Total Investments   83,265  100%   
Note: £83 million does not represent uncommitted resource the council has at its disposal. This 
amount includes council tax receipts held prior to forwarding to Oxfordshire County Council and the 

Page 155

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

Police and Crime Commissioner for the Thames Valley, business rate receipts prior to payment to the 
government and committed capital and revenue balances. Details of the council’s uncommitted 
balances are provided in the annual budget and council tax setting report. 

 
31.The council currently holds all of its investments in the form of either cash 
deposits or a managed property fund (£2 million with CCLA), the majority of which 
have been placed for fixed terms with a fixed investment return. 

 
32.The council's considerations for investment will remain security, liquidity and yield 
– in that order. Officers undertaking Treasury Management will work towards the 
optimum profile distribution. 
 

Investment performance for the year to 31 October 2018. 
 
33.The council’s budgeted investment return for 2018/19 is £0.450 million, and the 
actual interest received to date is shown as follows: 
 

Table 4: Investment interest earned by investment type   

    Interest Earned 

   Annual Actual  Annual Forecast 

Investment type  Budget to date Forecast Variation 

   £000 £000 £000 £000 

Fixed term and call cash  334        498         745           411  
        

CCLA  116          56  86          (30) 

Total interest   450 554 831 381 

 
 
Borrowing Strategy 2019/20 
 
34.The annual treasury management strategy has to set out details of the council’s 
borrowing requirement, any maturing debt which will need to be re-financed, and the 
effect this will have on the treasury position over the next three years. This council 
currently has no external debt and in general, the council will borrow for one of two 
purposes; 

 
 to support cash flow in the short-term; 
 To fund capital investment over the medium to long term. 

 
35.  Any borrowing undertaken will be within the scope of the boundaries given in 

the prudential indicators shown in Table 2, which allow for the council to borrow 
up to a maximum of £30 million, if such a need arose. This also allows short-
term borrowing for the cash flow management activities of the authority. 

 
36. The existing capital programme can be financed from internal resources. 

Additional expenditure committed in the future can be financed either by use of 
reserves or internal borrowing or externally (through prudential borrowing). Any 
decision on borrowing will be taken by the Head of Finance based on the 
optimum cost to the council. 

 

Page 156

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

37. Any borrowing for capital financing purposes will be assessed by the Head of 
Finance to be prudent, sustainable and affordable 

 
38. This strategy allows the Head of Finance to determine the most suitable 

repayment terms of any borrowing to demonstrate affordability and sustainability 
in the medium term financial plan if required. As a general rule, the term of any 
borrowing will not be longer than the expected life of the capital asset being 
created. 

 
 
Policy on borrowing in advance of need 
 

39. The Council will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs purely in order 
to profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow 
in advance will be within forward approved Capital Financing Requirement 
estimates and will be considered carefully to ensure that value for money can be 
demonstrated and that the Council can ensure the security of such funds.  

 

40. Risks associated with any borrowing in advance activity will be subject to prior 
appraisal and subsequent reporting through the mid-year or annual reporting 
mechanism.  

 
Annual investment strategy 2019/20 
 

41. The MHCLG and CIPFA have extended their definition of ‘investments’ to 
include both financial and non-financial investments.  This report deals solely 
with financial investments, (as managed by the treasury management team).  
Non-financial investments, essentially the purchase of income yielding assets, 
are covered in the Capital Strategy, (a separate report). 

 
42. The Council’s investment policy has regard to the following: - 

 
 MHCLG’s Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”) 
 CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross 

Sectoral Guidance Notes 2017 (“the Code”)  
 CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2018   

 
43. The Council’s investment priorities will be security first, portfolio liquidity second 

and then yield, (return). 
 

44. The primary aim of the council’s investment strategy is to maintain the security 
and liquidity of its investments; yield or return on the investment will be a 
secondary 
consideration, subject to prudent security and liquidity. The council will ensure: 

 

 It has sufficient liquidity in its investments to cover cash flow. For this purpose, 
it has set out parameters for determining the maximum periods for which 
funds may prudently be committed. 
 

Page 157

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

 It maintains a policy covering the categories of investment types it will invest 
in, criteria for choosing investment counterparties with adequate security, and 
monitoring their security. 

 
45. The strategy aims to provide a high degree of flexibility to take appropriate 

lending decisions, with a view to producing a portfolio with an even spread of 
maturity periods. This aim is to provide a more even and predictable investment 
return in the medium term. 

 
46. The council’s Head of Finance will ensure a counterparty list (a list of named 

institutions) is maintained in compliance with the recommended credit rating 
criteria (table 5) and will revise the criteria and submit any changes to the credit 
rating criteria to council for approval as necessary. 

 
Investment types 
 

47. The types of investment that the council can use are summarised below. These 
are split under the headings of ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ in accordance with 
the statutory guidance. 

 
Specified investment instruments 

 
48. These are sterling investments of not more than one-year maturity, or those 

where the council has the right to be repaid within 12 months if it wishes. These 
would include sterling investments with: 

 
 UK government Debt Management Agency Deposit Facility (DMADF) 
 UK government – treasury stock (Gilts) with less than one year to maturity 
 Supranational bonds of less than one year’s duration 
 Deposits with UK local authorities 
 Pooled investment vehicles such as Money Market Funds (MMF) (AAA rated) 
 Deposits with banks and building societies (minimum F1/A- rated) 
 Certificates of deposits issued by banks and building societies (minimum 

rating as above) 
 
Non-specified investment instruments 
 

49. These are any other type of investment (i.e. investments not defined as 
specified, above). Examples of non-specified investments include any sterling 
investments with: 

 
 Supranational bonds of 1 to 10 years to maturity 
 UK treasury stock (Gilts) with a maturity of 1 to 10 years 
 Unrated building societies (minimum asset value £1 billion) 
 Bank and building society cash deposits up to 5 years (minimum F1/A- rated) 
 Deposits with UK local authorities up to 25 years to maturity 
 Corporate bonds 
 Pooled property, pooled bond funds and UK pooled equity funds 
 Diversified Income Fund 

Page 158

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

 Multi-Asset Fund  
 Ultra-Dated/Short dated bond 
 Non-UCITS Retail Schemes (NURS) 

 
Other Non-specified investment instruments.  
 

50. Other non-specified investment instruments include: 
 

 Fixed term deposits with variable rate and variable maturities 
 
Approach to investing 
 

51. The council holds approximately £40 million core cash balances which are 
available to invest for more than one year. This is expected to reduce over the 
medium term as the approved capital expenditure is incurred and not 
replenished by capital receipts. In addition, the council has funds that are 
available on a temporary basis to invest. These are held pending payment over 
to another body such as precept payments and council tax. The amount can 
vary between £5 million and £15 million throughout the year and should only be 
invested short term (under one year). Investments will be made with reference 
to known cash flow requirements (liquidity). 

 
52. While rates remain historically low the council will aim to keep investments 

relatively short term but will continue to look for opportunities to fix lending in the 
medium term with highly rated institutions when possible for core cash 
balances. The aim is to increase the weighted average maturity of the portfolio 
in order to reduce maturity risk. 

 
53. Officers will continue to implement an operational strategy which provides tight 

controls on the investments placed. Where possible, opportunities to spread the 
investment risk over different types of instruments will be considered. 

 
54. Should market conditions deteriorate suddenly to the extent that the council is 

unable to place money with institutions with the necessary credit rating, it will 
make use of the UK Government deposit account (DMADF). 

 
55. The council has the authority to lend to other local authorities at market rates. 

Whilst investments with other local authorities are considered to be supported 
by central government, officers will consider the financial viability and 
sustainability of the individual local authority before any funds are advanced. 

 
56. Further investment in property funds will be looked at in more detail for 

consideration. In 2013/14 the council invested £2 million in the Churches 
Charities and Local Authorities pooled property investment fund (CCLA). 

 
57. Money market funds are mainly used for liquidity; they also provide security and 

spread portfolio risk. Officers will always monitor the council’s exposure to these 
funds in order to manage our security risk. 

 

Page 159

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

58. Currently the council does not make use of an external fund manager. Whilst 
there are presently no plans for this situation to change, this will continue to be 
kept under review. 

 
59. Bond funds can be used to diversify the portfolio, whilst maintaining an element 

of liquidity and security. These will be considered and reviewed as an 
investment 
possibility to spread portfolio risk. 

 
60. One option to offer diversification in the council’s investment portfolio would be 

to make use of Ultra Short Dated / Short Dated Bond Funds (USDBF / SDBFs).. 
Possible use of such funds would be intended for longer term investments than 
with traditional money market funds (i.e. for possible investment durations of 
three – six months).  

 
61. USDBF/SDBF have a variable net asset value (VNAV). This means the assets 

are ‘marked to market’ (re-valued to current market value) on a daily basis and 
the fund unit price adjusted accordingly. Under this calculation basis the unit 
price fluctuates and could, therefore, be higher or lower than the original 
investment when it is redeemed. Any use of the above funds would be restricted 
to the high-quality counterparty credit criteria as set out in Table 5 below. 

 
62. The council does not currently make use of certificates of deposit. Consideration 

will be given to their use to assist diversification of the investment portfolio. 
Certificates of deposit have the same level of ranking and security as ordinary 
fixed term deposits but have the option of being traded before maturity. 
Certificates of deposit are bought and sold on the stock market and their price 
can go up or down prior to their redemption date. If held to maturity the 
investment will return their issue value. The council would only normally look to 
enter into such investments on a held to maturity basis. 

 
Counterparty selection 
 

63. Treasury management risk is the risk of loss of capital to the council. To 
minimise this risk, the council uses credit rating information when considering 
who to lend to. Link Asset Services provide the council with credit rating updates 
from all three ratings agencies – Standard & Poors, Fitch and Moodys. 

 
64. The council will not use the approach suggested by CIPFA of using the lowest 

rating from all three rating agencies in evaluating investment opportunity. This is 
because adopting this approach could leave the council with too few 
counterparties for the strategy to be workable. Instead, counterparty investment 
limits will be set by reference to all of the assigned ratings. 

 
65. Where counterparties fail to meet the minimum required criteria (Table 5 below) 

they will be omitted from the counterparty list. Any rating changes and rating 
watches (notification of a rating change) are provided to officers almost 
immediately after they occur, and this information is considered before any deal 
is entered into. Extreme market movements may result in a downgrade of an 
institution or removal from the council’s lending list. 

Page 160

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

 
66. Additional requirements under the CIPFA Treasury Management Code require 

the council to supplement the credit rating data with operational market 
information such as credit default swaps (CDS), negative watches and outlooks, 
which are considered when assessing the security of counterparties. This 
additional information is used so that the council does not rely solely on the 
current credit ratings of counterparties. 

 
67. Where it is felt the council would benefit from utilising government guarantees 

provided by countries with an AAA rating, the council may lend to institutions 
covered by such guarantees. Any decision to lend in this way will be subject to 
consultation with the agreement of the cabinet member responsible for finance. 

 
Country and sector considerations 
 

68. The council has determined that it will only use approved counterparties outside 
the UK from countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AAA from Fitch 
Ratings. 

 
Counterparty limits 
 

69. In the normal course of the council’s cash flow operations it is expected that 
both specified and non-specified investments will be used for the control of 
liquidity as both categories allow for short term investments. The use of longer 
term instruments (greater than one year from inception to repayment) will fall in 
the non-specified investment category. These instruments will be used where 
the council’s liquidity requirements are safeguarded. The council will lend to 
institutions that meet the following criteria: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 161

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

Table 5: Counterparty Limits      

    Minimum Fitch 
Long term 
Rating ( or 
equivalent) 

Counterparty Max. 
maturity 
period 

Maximum % 
of total 

investments    Limit 

Counterparty  £m    
        

Institutions with a minimum rating:  F1+ / AA- £10.0m 5 years 100% 

Institutions with a minimum rating:  F1 / A- £10.0m 2 year 80% 

Institutions with a minimum rating:  F2/BBB £5.0m 1 year 70% 

Banks - part nationalised UK  UK sovereign £15.0m 3 years 100% 

Banks - house bank  n/a £5.0m 3 months 20% 

Building societies > £1000m  n/a £3.0m 12 months 50% 

Building Societies  BBB+ £7 m 12 Months 50% 

Local authorities, parish councils  n/a £20.0m 25 years 50% 

Money Market funds (CNAV)  AAA £20.0m liquid 100% 

Pooled property funds - CCLA  n/a £7.0m Variable 15% 

Corporate Bonds  AA- £5.0m Variable 40% 

CCLA Diversified Income Fund   n/a £3.0m Variable 10% 

Multi - Asset Funds  AAA £3.0m Variable 10% 

Ultra Short dated/Short Dated bond Funds  AAA £3.0m Variable 10% 

Non-UCITS Retail Scheme (NURS)  n/a £3.0m Variable 15% 

Managed Bond Funds  n/a £15.0m  Variable 70% 

Share capital  / Equities (UK)  n/a £3.0m Variable 20% 

Supranationals  AAA £10.0m 10 years 50% 

UK Government - gilts  UK sovereign No limit 25 years 20% 

UK Government - DMADF  UK sovereign No limit 12 Months 100% 

UK Government - Treasury Bills   UK sovereign No limit 6 Months 100% 

  
 

70. The criteria for choosing counterparties provides a sound approach to 
investment. Whilst councillors are asked to approve the criteria in table 5, under 
exceptional market conditions the head of finance may temporarily restrict 
further investment activity to those counterparties considered of higher credit 
quality than the minimum criteria set out for approval. 

 
Fund managers 
 

71. The council does not currently employ any external fund managers. However, in 
the event of such an appointment, appointees will comply with this and 
subsequent treasury strategies. This strategy empowers the Section 151 officer 
to appoint such an external manager to manage a proportion of the council’s 
investment portfolio if this is advantageous. Situations in which this might be 
advantageous include benchmarking the performance of the treasury team; 
benefiting from the often-extensive credit risk and economic modelling 
resources of external fund managers and resources necessary to hold liquid 
instruments for trading. 

Page 162

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

 
Risk and performance benchmarks 

 
72. A requirement of the Code is that security and liquidity benchmarks are 

considered and approved. This is in addition to yield benchmarks which are 
used to assess performance. The benchmarks are guidelines (not limits) so may 
be breached depending on the movement in interest rates and counterparty 
criteria. Their purpose is to allow officers to monitor the current trend position 
and amend the operational strategy depending on any changes. Any breach of 
the benchmarks will be reported, with an explanation in the mid-year or annual 
report to audit and corporate governance committee. Detailed information for 
the assessment of risk is shown in appendix C. 

 
73. Performance indicators are set to assess the adequacy of the treasury function 

over the year. These are distinct historic performance indicators, as opposed to 
the predominantly forward looking prudential indicators. The indicators used to 
assess the performance of the treasury function are: 

 
 Cash investments - 3-month LIBID rate. 
 Property related investments – IPD Balance Property Unit Trust Index. 

 
74. The results of these indicators will be reported in both the annual mid-year and 

yearend treasury reports. 
 
Policy on the use of treasury management advisors 
 

75. The council has a joint contract for treasury management advisors with South 
Oxfordshire District Council. Link Asset Services (was Capita Asset Services) 
provides a range of services which include: 

 
 technical support on treasury matters, capital finance issues, statutory 

reports; 
 economic forecasts and interest rate analysis; 
 credit ratings / market information service involving the three-main 

credit rating agencies; 
 strategic advice including a review of the investment and borrowing 

strategies and policy documents. 
 

76. The council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions 
remains with the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is 
not placed upon our external service providers. It also recognises that there is 
value in employing external providers of treasury management services in order 
to acquire access to specialist skills, resources and up to date market 
information. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 163

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

Treasury management scheme of delegation and the role of the Section 151 
officer 
 

77.  Council 

 receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies, practices 
and activities; 

 approval of annual strategy. 

 

78. Joint Audit and Governance Committee/ Cabinet  

 approval of/amendments to the organisation’s adopted clauses, treasury 
management policy statement and treasury management practices; 

 receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and acting on 
recommendations; 

 Ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury management function 

 

79.  Section 151 Officer/ Head of Finance  

 recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, 
reviewing the same regularly, and monitoring compliance; 

 submitting regular treasury management policy reports; 
 submitting budgets and budget variations; 
 reviewing the performance of the treasury management function; 
 ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the 

effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management function; 
 ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit; 
 Approving the selection of external service providers and agreeing terms of 

appointment.  

 

80. The above list of specific responsibilities of the S151 officer in the 2017 
Treasury Management Code has not changed.  However, implicit in the 
changes in both codes, is a major extension of the functions of this role, 
especially in respect of non-financial investments, (which CIPFA has defined as 
being part of treasury management), (See Appendix G). 

 
 
Summary 
 

81. Prior to the beginning of each financial year the council must approve the 
treasury management strategy. The strategy sets the parameters within which 
officers can manage the council’s cash flows and invest any surplus funds. 

 
82. This strategy provides a commentary on the current financial climate and sets 

out the council’s lending strategy in response to this. 
 
 

 

Page 164

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

Appendix B 

ECONOMIC BACKGROUND 

GLOBAL OUTLOOK.  World growth has been doing reasonably well, aided by 
strong growth in the US.  However, US growth is likely to fall back in 2019 and, together 
with weakening economic activity in China, overall world growth is likely to weaken. 
 
Inflation has been weak during 2018 but, at long last, unemployment falling to 
remarkably low levels in the US and UK has led to a marked acceleration of wage 
inflation which is likely to prompt central banks into a series of increases in central 
rates. The EU is probably about a year behind in a similar progression.  
 
KEY RISKS - central bank monetary policy measures 
Looking back on nearly ten years since the financial crash of 2008 when liquidity 
suddenly dried up in financial markets, it can be assessed that central banks’ monetary 
policy measures to counter the sharp world recession were successful. The key 
monetary policy measures they used were a combination of lowering central interest 
rates and flooding financial markets with liquidity, particularly through unconventional 
means such as quantitative easing (QE), where central banks bought large amounts 
of central government debt and smaller sums of other debt. 
 
The key issue now is that that period of stimulating economic recovery and warding 
off the threat of deflation, is coming towards its close. A new period has already started 
in the US, and more recently in the UK, of reversing those measures i.e. by raising 
central rates and, (for the US), reducing central banks’ holdings of government and 
other debt. These measures are now required in order to stop the trend of a reduction 
in spare capacity in the economy, and of unemployment falling to such low levels that 
the re-emergence of inflation is viewed as a major risk. 
 
UK. The flow of positive economic statistics since the end of the first quarter this year 
has shown that pessimism was overdone about the poor growth in quarter 1 when 
adverse weather caused a temporary downward blip.  Quarter 1 at 0.1 per cent growth 
in GDP was followed by a return to 0.4 per cent in quarter 2; quarter 3 is expected to 
be robust at around +0.6 per cent but quarter 4 is expected to weaken from that level. 
 
It is unlikely that the MPC would increase Bank Rate in February 2019, ahead of the 
deadline in March for Brexit.  Getting parliamentary approval for a Brexit agreement 
on both sides of the Channel will take well into spring next year.  However, in view of 
the hawkish stance of the MPC at their November meeting, the next increase in Bank 
Rate is now forecast to be in May 2019.  The following increases are then forecast to 
be in February and November 2020 before ending up at 2.0 per cent in February 2022. 
 
Inflation.  The Consumer Price Index (CPI) measure of inflation has been falling from 
a peak of 3.1 per cent in November 2017 to 2.4 per cent in October. In the November 
Bank of England quarterly inflation report, inflation was forecast to still be marginally 
above its 2 per cent inflation target two years ahead, (at about 2.1 per cent), given a 
scenario of minimal increases in Bank Rate.   This inflation forecast is likely to be 
amended upwards due to the Bank’s inflation report being produced prior to the 
Chancellor’s announcement of a significant fiscal stimulus in the Budget; this is likely 

Page 165

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

to add 0.3 per cent to GDP growth at a time when there is little spare capacity left in 
the economy, particularly of labour. 
 
As for the labour market figures in September, unemployment at 4.1 per cent was 
marginally above a 43 year low of 4 per cent on the Independent Labour Organisation 
measure.  A combination of job vacancies hitting an all-time high, together with 
negligible growth in total employment numbers, indicates that employers are now 
having major difficulties filling job vacancies with suitable staff.  It was therefore 
unsurprising that wage inflation picked up to 3.2 per cent, (3-month average regular 
pay, excluding bonuses). This meant that in real terms, (i.e. wage rates less CPI 
inflation), earnings are currently growing by about 0.8 per cent, the highest level since 
2009. This increase in household spending power is likely to feed through into 
providing some support to the overall rate of economic growth in the coming months. 
This tends to confirm that the MPC was right to start on a cautious increase in Bank 
Rate in August as it views wage inflation in excess of 3 per cent as increasing 
inflationary pressures within the UK economy.    
 
In the political arena, there is a risk that the current Conservative minority government 
may be unable to muster a majority in the Commons over Brexit.  However, our central 
position is that Prime Minister May’s government will endure, despite various setbacks, 
along the route to reaching an orderly Brexit in March 2019.  If, however, the UK faces 
a general election in the next 12 months, this could result in a potential loosening of 
monetary and fiscal policy and therefore medium to longer dated gilt yields could rise 
on the expectation of a weak pound and concerns around inflation picking up. 
 
Eurozone.  Growth was 0.4 per cent in quarters 1 and 2 but fell back to 0.2 per cent 
in quarter 3, though this is probably just a temporary dip.  In particular, data from 
Germany has been mixed and it could be negatively impacted by US tariffs on a 
significant part of manufacturing exports e.g. cars.   For that reason, although growth 
is still expected to be in the region of nearly 2 per cent for 2018, the horizon is less 
clear than it seemed just a short while ago. Having halved its quantitative easing 
purchases of debt in October 2018 to €15bn per month, the European Central Bank 
has indicated it is likely to end all further purchases in December 2018. Inflationary 
pressures are starting to build gently so it is expected that the ECB will start to increase 
rates towards the end of 2019. 
 
INTEREST RATE FORECASTS 
The interest rate forecasts provided by Link Asset Services in paragraph 3.2 are 
predicated on an assumption of an agreement being reached on Brexit between the 
UK and the EU. In the event of an orderly non-agreement exit, it is likely that the Bank 
of England would take action to cut Bank Rate from 0.75 per cent in order to help 
economic growth deal with the adverse effects of this situation. This is also likely to 
cause short to medium term gilt yields to fall. If there was a disorderly Brexit, then any 
cut in Bank Rate would be likely to last for a longer period and also depress short and 
medium gilt yields correspondingly. It is also possible that the government could act 
to protect economic growth by implementing fiscal stimulus.  
 
 
 
 

Page 166

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

The balance of risks to the UK 
 The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably neutral. 
 The balance of risks to increases in Bank Rate and shorter term PWLB rates, 

are probably also even and are broadly dependent on how strong GDP growth 
turns out, how slowly inflation pressures subside, and how quickly the Brexit 
negotiations move forward positively.  

 
One risk that is both an upside and downside risk, is that all central banks are now 
working in very different economic conditions than before the 2008 financial crash as  
there has been a major increase in consumer and other debt due to the exceptionally 
low levels of borrowing rates that have prevailed for ten years since 2008. This means 
that the neutral rate of interest in an economy, (i.e. the rate that is neither expansionary 
nor deflationary), is difficult to determine definitively in this new environment, although 
central banks have made statements that they expect it to be much lower than before 
2008. Central banks could therefore either over or under do increases in central 
interest rates. 
 
Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates currently 
include:  

 Brexit – if it were to cause significant economic disruption and a major  
downturn in the rate of growth. 

 Bank of England monetary policy takes action too quickly, or too far, over the 
next three years to raise Bank Rate and causes UK economic growth, and 
increases in inflation, to be weaker than we currently anticipate.  

 
Upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates 

 Brexit – if both sides were to agree a compromise that removed all threats of 
economic and political disruption.  

 The Fed causing a sudden shock in financial markets through misjudging 
the pace and strength of increases in its Fed. Funds Rate and in the pace and 
strength of reversal of QE, which then leads to a fundamental reassessment by 
investors of the relative risks of holding bonds, as opposed to equities.  This 
could lead to a major flight from bonds to equities and a sharp increase in bond 
yields in the US, which could then spill over into impacting bond yields around 
the world. 

 The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases in Bank 
Rate and, therefore, allows inflation pressures to build up too strongly within the 
UK economy, which then necessitates a later rapid series of increases in Bank 
Rate faster than we currently expect.  

 UK inflation, whether domestically generated or imported, returning to 
sustained significantly higher levels causing an increase in the inflation 
premium inherent to gilt yields.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 167

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

 
 
Appendix C 
 
Benchmarking and Monitoring Security, Liquidity and Yield in the Investment 
Service. 
 
1. These benchmarks are targets and so may be exceeded from time to time. Any 
variation will be reported, along with supporting reasons, in the Annual Treasury 
Report. 
 
2. Yield. The local benchmark currently used to assess the performance of cash 
investments is the level of returns contrasted against the London Interbank Bid 
(LIBID) three-month rate. This is the interest rate a bank would be willing to pay to 
borrow from another bank for three months. 
Property related investments are benchmarked against the IPD Balanced Property 
Unit Trust Index. 
 
3. Liquidity. Liquidity is defined as the council “having adequate, though not 
excessive, cash resources, borrowing arrangements, overdrafts or standby facilities 
to enable it at all times to have the level of funds available to it which are necessary 
for the achievement of its business/service objectives” (CIPFA Treasury 
Management Code of Practice). 
 
4. In respect of this area, the council shall seek to: 
 

 maintain a minimal balance held in the council’s main bank account at 
the close of each working day. Transfers to the councils call accounts, 
MMF and investments will be arranged in order to achieve this, while 
maintaining access to adequate working capital at short notice. 
 

 use the authorised bank overdraft facility or short term borrowing where 
there is clear business case for doing so, to cover working capital 
requirements at short notice 

 
5. Security of the investments.  
 
In the context of benchmarking, assessing security is very much more a subjective 
area to assess. Security is currently evidenced by the application of minimum credit 
quality criteria to investment counterparties, primarily through the use of credit 
ratings supplied by the three main credit rating agencies (Fitch, Moody’s and 
Standard and Poor’s). Whilst this approach embodies security considerations, 
benchmarking levels of risk is more problematic. One method to benchmark security 
risk is to assess the historic level of default against the minimum criteria used in the 
Council’s investment strategy. The table beneath shows average defaults for 
differing periods of investment grade products for each Fitch long term rating 
category over the last 20-30 years. 
 
 

Page 168

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

 
 
 
Average defaults for differing periods of investment 
Long 
term rating  

1 year  2 years  3 years  4 years  5 years 

AA  0.04%  0.10% 0.18% 0.27% 0.36% 
A  0.05%  0.15%  0.28%  0.42%  0.59% 
BBB  0.16%  0.44%  0.77%  1.15%  1.55% 
 
6. The council’s minimum long term (i.e. plus 365 day duration) rating criteria is 
currently “A-”. For comparison, the average expectation of default for a two year 
investment in a counterparty with an “A” long term rating would be 0.15 per cent of 
the total investment (e.g. for a £1m investment the average loss would be £1,500). 
This is an average - any specific counterparty loss is likely to be higher. These 
figures act as a proxy benchmark for risk across the portfolio. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 169

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

Appendix D 
 

Explanation of Prudential and Treasury Indicators 
Prudential borrowing permits local government organisations to borrow to fund 
capital spending plans provided they could demonstrate their affordability. Prudential 
indicators are the means to demonstrate affordability. 
 
Authorised limit for external debt – this is the maximum limit for external 
borrowing. This is the statutory limit determined under section 3(1) of the Local 
Government Act 2003. This limit is set to allow sufficient headroom for day to day 
operational management of cash flows. 
 
Operational boundary for external debt – this is set as the more likely amount that 
may be required for day to day cash flow. 
 
Upper limit for fixed and variable interest rate exposure – these limits allow the 
council flexibility in its investment and borrowing options. 
 
Upper limit for total principal sums invested for over 365 days – the amount it is 
considered can be prudently invested for periods in excess of a year 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 170

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

Appendix E 
 
Treasury Management Practice (TMP) 1 – credit and counterparty risk 
management 
 
The CLG issued Investment Guidance in 2010, and this forms the structure of the 
council’s policy below. 

The key aim of the guidance is to maintain the current requirement for councils to 
invest prudently, and that priority is given to security and liquidity before yield. In order 
to facilitate this objective, the guidance requires this council to have regard to the 
CIPFA publication Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice and 
Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes. In accordance with the code, the head of finance has 
produced its treasury management practices (TMPs). This part, TMP1(1), covering 
investment counterparty policy requires approval each year 

 
The key requirements of both the Code and the investment guidance are to set an 
annual investment strategy, as part of its annual treasury strategy for the following 
year, covering the identification and approval of following: 
 

 the strategy guidelines for decision making on investments, particularly non-
specified investments.  

 the principles to be used to determine the maximum periods for which funds 
can be committed. 

 specified investments that the Council will use. These are high security (i.e. 
high credit rating, although this is defined by the Council, and no guidelines 
are given), and high liquidity investments in sterling and with a maturity of no 
more than a year. 

 non-specified investments, clarifying the greater risk implications, identifying 
the general types of investment that may be used and a limit to the overall 
amount of various categories that can be held at any time. 

 
The investment policy proposed for the Council is: 
 
Strategy guidelines – The main strategy guidelines are contained in the body of the 
treasury strategy statement. 
 
Specified investments – These investments are sterling investments of not more 
than one-year maturity, or those which could be for a longer period but where the 
Council has the right to be repaid within 12 months if it wishes.  These are 
considered low risk assets where the possibility of loss of principal or investment 
income is small.  These would include sterling investments which would not be 
defined as capital expenditure with: 
 

 UK government Debt Management Agency Deposit Facility (DMADF) 
 UK government – treasury stock (Gilts) with less than one year to maturity 
 Supranational bonds of less than one year’s duration 
 Deposits with UK local authorities 
 Pooled investment vehicles such as Money Market Funds (MMF) (AAA rated) 
 Deposits with banks and building societies (minimum F1/A-) 

Page 171

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

 Certificates of deposits issued by banks and building societies (minimum 
rating as above) covers pooled investment vehicles, such as money market 
funds, rated AAA by Standard and Poor’s, Moody’s and / or Fitch rating 
agencies. 
 

Within these bodies, and in accordance with the Code, the council has set additional 
criteria to set the time and amount of monies which will be invested in these bodies. 
These criteria are as stated in table 5 to this report. 
 
Non-specified investments 
These are any other type of investment (i.e. not defined or specified above). The 
identification and rationale supporting the selection of these other investments and 
the maximum limits to be applied are as set out in Table 5. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 172

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

Appendix F 
 
Extension to the specific responsibilities of the S151 officer as per the 
Treasury Management code 
 

The below list of specific responsibilities of the S151 officer in the 2017 Treasury 
Management Code has not changed.  However, implicit in the changes in both 
codes, is a major extension of the functions of this role, especially in respect of non-
financial investments, (which CIPFA has defined as being part of treasury 
management); 

 

 preparation of a capital strategy to include capital expenditure, capital financing, 
non-financial investments and treasury management, with a long-term 
timeframe. 

 ensuring that the capital strategy is prudent, sustainable, affordable and 
prudent in the long term and provides value for money 

 ensuring that due diligence has been carried out on all treasury and non-
financial investments and is in accordance with the risk appetite of the authority 

 ensure that the authority has appropriate legal powers to undertake expenditure 
on non-financial assets and their financing 

 ensuring the proportionality of all investments so that the authority does not 
undertake a level of investing which exposes the authority to an excessive level 
of risk compared to its financial resources 

 ensuring that an adequate governance process is in place for the approval, 
monitoring and ongoing risk management of all non-financial investments and 
long term liabilities 

 provision to members of a schedule of all non-treasury investments including 
material investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures, loans and financial 
guarantees  

 ensuring that members are adequately informed and understand the risk 
exposures taken on by an authority 

 ensuring that the authority has adequate expertise, either in house or externally 
provided, to carry out the above 

 creation of Treasury Management Practices which specifically deal with how 
non treasury investments will be carried out and managed, to include the 
following 

o Risk management (TMP1 and schedules), including investment and risk 
management criteria for any material non-treasury investment portfolios; 

  
o Performance measurement and management (TMP2 and schedules), 

including methodology and criteria for assessing the performance and 
success of non-treasury investments;          

  
o Decision making, governance and organisation (TMP5 and schedules), 

including a statement of the governance requirements for decision 
making in relation to non-treasury investments; and arrangements to 

Page 173

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

ensure that appropriate professional due diligence is carried out to 
support decision making; 

  
o Reporting and management information (TMP6 and schedules), 

including where and how often monitoring reports are taken; 
  
o Training and qualifications (TMP10 and schedules), including how the 

relevant knowledge and skills in relation to non-treasury investments will 
be arranged. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 174

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

Appendix G 
 
GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 

Authorised Limit  
The maximum amount of external debt at any one time in the 
financial year. 

Basis Point (BP)  1/100th of 1%, i.e. 0.01% 
Base Rate  Minimum lending rate of a bank or financial institution in the UK. 

Benchmark  
A measure against which the investment policy or performance of a 
fund manager can be compared. 

Bill of Exchange  A financial instrument financing trade. 

Callable Deposit  

A deposit placed with a bank or building society at a set rate for a 
set amount of time. However, the borrower has the right to repay 
the funds on pre-agreed dates, before maturity. This decision is 
based on how market rates have moved since the deal was agreed. 
If rates have fallen the likelihood of the deposit being repaid rises, 
as cheaper money can be found by the borrower. 

Cash Fund 
Management 

Fund management is the management of an investment portfolio of 
cash on behalf of a private client or an institution, the receipts and 
distribution of dividends and interest, and all other administrative 
work in connection with the portfolio. 

Certificate of 
Deposit (CD) 

Evidence of a deposit with a specified bank or building society 
repayable on a fixed date. They are negotiable instruments and 
have a secondary market; therefore, the holder of a CD is able to 
sell it to a third party before the maturity of the CD. 

Commercial 
Paper 

Short-term obligations with maturities ranging from 2 to 270 days 
issued by banks, corporations and other borrowers. Such 
instruments are unsecured and usually discounted, although some 
may be interest bearing. 

Corporate Bond  

Strictly speaking, corporate bonds are those issued by companies. 
However, the term is used to cover all bonds other than those 
issued by governments in their own currencies and includes issues 
by companies, supranational organisations and government 
agencies. 

Counterparty  
Another (or the other) party to an agreement or other market 
contract (e.g. lender/borrower/writer of a swap/etc.) 

CDS  

Credit Default Swap – a swap designed to transfer the credit 
exposure of fixed income products between parties. The buyer of a 
credit swap receives credit protection, whereas the seller of the 
swap guarantees the credit worthiness of the product. By doing 
this, the risk of default is transferred from the holder of the fixed 
income security to the seller of the swap. 

CFR  Capital Financing Requirement. 
CIPFA  Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy. 
CLG  Department for Communities and Local Government. 

Derivative  

A contract whose value is based on the performance of an 
underlying financial asset, index or other investment, e.g. an option 
is a derivative because its value changes in relation to the 
performance of an underlying stock. 

Page 175

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

DMADF  
Deposit Account offered by the Debt Management Office, 
guaranteed by the UK government. 

 

ECB  

European Central Bank – sets the central interest rates in the EMU 
area. The ECB determines the targets itself for its interest rate 
setting policy; this is the keep inflation within a band of 0 to 2 per 
cent. It does not accept that monetary policy is to be used to 
manage fluctuations in unemployment and growth caused by the 
business cycle. 

Enhanced Cash 
Funds 

A pooled investment fund. Longer dated investment than a MMF 
and, unlike a MMF, enhanced cash funds have variable asset 
value. Assets are marked to market on a daily basis and the unit 
prices vary accordingly. Investments can be withdrawn on a notice 
basis (the length of which depends on the fund) although such 
funds would typically be used for investments of 3 to 6 month 
duration. 

Equity  
A share in a company with limited liability. It generally enables the 
holder to share in the profitability of the company through dividend 
payments and capital gain. 

Forward Deal  
The act of agreeing today to deposit funds with an institution for an 
agreed time limit, on an agreed future date, at an agreed rate. 

Forward Deposits  Same as forward dealing (above). 
Fiscal Policy  The government policy on taxation and welfare payments. 
GDP  Gross Domestic Product. 

Gilt  
Registered British government securities giving the investor an 
absolute commitment from the government to honour the debt that 
those securities represent. 

Mark to Market 
Accounting 

Accounting on the basis of the “fair value” of an asset or liability, 
based on the current market price. As a result, values will change 
with market conditions. 

Minimum 
Revenue 
Provision 

This is a prudent sum set aside each year to offset the principal 
repayment of any loan to smooth the impact on the local taxpayer. 

Money Market 
Fund 

A well rated, highly diversified pooled investment vehicle whose 
assets mainly comprise of short-term instruments. It is very similar 
to a unit trust, however a MMF relies on loans to companies rather 
than share holdings. 

Monetary Policy 
Committee (MPC) 

Government body that sets the bank rate (commonly referred to as 
being base rate). Their primary target is to keep inflation within 
plus or minus 1 per cent of a central target of 2.5 per cent in two 
years’ time from the date of the monthly meeting of the committee. 
Their secondary target is to support the government in maintaining 
high and stable levels of growth and employment. 

Non-UCITS Retail 
Scheme (NURS) – 

Undertakings for collective investments are funds authorised to be 
sold in the UK that are required to meet standards set by the UK 
services regulator. An example is property funds. 

Operational 
Boundary 

The most likely, prudent but not worst-case scenario of external 
debt at any one time. 

Other Bonds Pooled funds investing in a wide range of bonds. 

Page 176

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 

PWLB  Public Works Loan Board. 
QE  Quantitative Easing. 

 

Retail Price Index  
Measurement of the monthly change in the average level of prices 
at the retail level weighted by the average expenditure pattern of 
the average person. 

Sovereign Issues 
(Ex UK Gilts) 

Bonds issued or guaranteed by nation states, but excluding UK 
government bonds. 

Supranational 
Bonds 

Bonds issued by supranational bodies, e.g. European Investment 
Bank. The bonds – also known as Multilateral Development Bank 
bonds – are generally AAA rated and behave similarly to gilts, but 
pay a higher yield (“spread”) given their relative illiquidity when 
compared with gilts. 

Treasury Bill  
Treasury bills are short-term debt instruments issued by the UK or 
other governments. They provide a return to the investor by virtue 
of being issued at a discount to their final redemption value. 

 
 
 

Page 177

Agenda Item 12



Audit and governance
work programme

containing Audit and Governance Committee work to 
be undertaken 

31 JANUARY 2018 - 30 MARCH 2019

      

The audit and governance work programme belongs to the councils’ Joint Audit and Governance Committee and sets out a schedule of work 
for the period shown above.  It is a rolling plan, subject to change at each Committee meeting; however, the councils may allocate additional 
work.  

Item title Meeting date Lead officer Why is it here? Scope Notes
Internal audit activity 
report – fourth 
quarter 2018/19

Joint Audit and 
Governance 
Committee 25 
March 2019

Victoria Hughes 
Email: 
victoria.hughes@
southandvale.gov
.uk

The council audits its 
services through the 
internal audit service in 
line with the approved 
internal audit plan 
2018/19.

To summarise the 
outcomes of recent 
internal audit activity 
for the committee to 
consider.  The 
committee is asked to 
review the report and 
main issues arising, 
and seek assurance 
that action has been or 
will be taken where 
necessary.

This is a recurring 
agenda item and is 
updated at each 
meeting.  

P
age 178

A
genda Item

 13

mailto:sandy.bayley@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:sandy.bayley@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:sandy.bayley@southandvale.gov.uk


Item title Meeting date Lead officer Why is it here? Scope Notes

Internal audit 
management report - 
fourth quarter 
2018/19

Joint Audit and 
Governance 
Committee 25 
March 2019

Victoria Hughes, 
Email: 
victoria.hughes@
southandvale.gov
.uk

The committee monitors 
the effectiveness of 
internal audit each 
quarter against the 
approved audit plan

To report on 
management issues, 
summarise the first 
quarter progress of the 
internal audit team 
against the 2018/19 
audit plan, and 
summarise the 
priorities and planned 
audit work for quarter 
three.

This is a recurring 
agenda item and is 
updated at each 
meeting.  

Comments and 
complaints 2017/18

Joint Audit and 
Governance 
Committee 25 
March 2019

Sally Truman
Email: 
sally.truman@so
uthandvale.gov.u
k

The committee is 
responsible for 
monitoring the councils’ 
comments and 
complaints.

To review the 
comments and 
complaints received 
during 2017/18

Code of Conduct – 
annual report 2017/18

Joint Audit and 
Governance 
Committee 25 
March 2019

Margaret Reed, 
Email: 
margaret.reed@s
outhandvale.gov.
uk

The Committee has 
responsibility for having 
an overview of the 
standards of conduct 
framework for 
councillors, any co-
opted members and 
parish councillors.

To review complaints 
received under code of 
conduct.

External auditor’s 
audit planning 
reports 2018/19

Joint Audit and 
Governance 
Committee 25 
March 2019

William Jacobs, 
Email: 
william.jacobs@s
outhandvale.gov.
uk

The external auditor to 
report on how it intends 
to carry out its 
responsibilities as 
auditor

To consider the 
external auditor's 
reportP

age 179

A
genda Item

 13

mailto:sandy.bayley@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:sandy.bayley@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:sandy.bayley@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:sally.truman@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:sally.truman@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:sally.truman@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:margaret.reed@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:margaret.reed@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:margaret.reed@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:william.jacobs@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:william.jacobs@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:william.jacobs@southandvale.gov.uk


Item title Meeting date Lead officer Why is it here? Scope Notes

Internal audit charter Joint Audit and 
Governance 
Committee 25 
March 2019

Victoria Hughes, 
Email: 
victoria.hughes@
southandvale.gov
.uk

The committee is 
responsible for approval 
of the internal audit 
charter which requires 
periodic review.

To review and approve 
the internal audit 
charter.

Risk Management 
Update

Joint Audit and 
Governance 
Committee 25 
March 2019

Yvonne Cutler-
Greaves, Email: 
Yvonne.cutler-
greaves@southa
ndvale.gov.uk

The committee agreed 
to receive regular 
progress reports on the 
implementation of the 
risk management 
framework

To review and 
comment on progress

Internal audit plan 
2019/20

Audit and 
Governance 
Committee 
25 March 2019

Victoria Hughes, 
Email: 
victoria.hughes@
southandvale.gov
.uk

The council audits its 
services through the 
internal audit service.

To approve the internal 
audit plan for 2019/20

Review of statement 
of accounting 
policies 

Joint Audit and 
Governance 
Committee 25 
March 2019

Richard 
Spraggett, Email: 
richard.spraggett
@southandvale.g
ov.uk

To audit and review the 
policies and principles 
used when compiling 
the 2018/19 accounts. 

P
age 180

A
genda Item

 13

mailto:sandy.bayley@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:sandy.bayley@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:sandy.bayley@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:Yvonne.cutler-greaves@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:Yvonne.cutler-greaves@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:Yvonne.cutler-greaves@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:sandy.bayley@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:sandy.bayley@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:sandy.bayley@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:richard.spraggett@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:richard.spraggett@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:richard.spraggett@southandvale.gov.uk


Joint Audit and Governance 
Committee

Report of Head of Corporate Services
Author: Adrianna Partridge
Telephone: 01235 422485
Textphone: 18001 01235 422510
E-mail: adrianna.partridge@southandvale.gov.uk
SODC cabinet member responsible: Councillor Kevin Bulmer
Tel: 07803 005680
E-mail: kevin.bulmer@southoxon.gov.uk
VWHDC cabinet member responsible: Councillor Edward Blagrove
Telephone: 07958 700461
E-mail: edward.blagrove @whitehorsedc.gov.uk

To: Joint Audit and Governance Committee
DATE: 28 January 2019

Programme Governance Review
 
Recommendation

That members note the content of the report.

Purpose of report

1. The purpose of this report is:

 to update on the programmes and projects governance review, 
commissioned by Cllr Ian White (SODC) and Cllr Simon Howell 
(VWHDC) as joint chairman of the audit and governance committee on 
governance matters relating to historic decision making between 2010 
and 2016; and

 to summarise the initial findings.

2. The contact officer for this report is Adrianna Partridge, Head of Corporate 
Services for South Oxfordshire District Council (SODC) and Vale of White 
Horse District Council (VWHDC), telephone 01235 422485.

Page 181

Agenda Item 14

mailto:adrianna.partridge@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:kevin.bulmer@southoxon.gov.uk
mailto:robert.sharp@whitehorsedc.gov.uk


Strategic objectives

3. This work is supported by all of the councils’ strategic objectives.

Review framework

4. Due to a number of governance control weaknesses being brought to the 
attention of the joint audit and governance committee, the chairmen 
commissioned the programmes governance review with the agreement of EY 
and the full support of the chief executive.  The terms of reference for the 
review are attached as appendix 1.  

5. The head of corporate services is leading the review, supported by a dedicated 
project team which includes representation from the councils’ internal audit team.  
Group leaders across the councils have also been fully briefed.  

6. A programme review steering group has been established, which consists of 
the joint chairmen of the audit and governance committee, the leaders of both 
councils, the chief executive and the head of corporate services.  A progress 
meeting was held on the 6 December 2018, following which the chairmen 
provided an updated to the external auditors as agreed.

Progress update

7. Programmes and projects register
Interviews to assess current and recent activity have now been held with all 
heads of service (8 in total) and all service managers and relevant project 
personnel (28 in total).  A project register has been collated for all programmes 
and projects with a budgetary value of over £10K over the total life of the 
project, which has been verified against the project definition stated within the 
terms of reference and against all capital programme/major expenditure items.  
The register currently has 162 projects listed across both councils (joint 105, 
SODC 29 and VWHDC 28).  

8. Individual project reviews
Key projects have been selected and are now being examined in detail.  The 
first four and their status are attached as confidential appendix 2.  Each 
individual programme review will go through five phases:

Step 1 – Timeline documented against supporting evidence by the relevant head 
of service.
Step 2 – Independent review of evidence by the allocated officer within the 
programmes and projects team.
Step 3 – Review queries verified, and summary findings documented by the 
allocated officer.
Step 4 – Quality assurance review of the findings by a second officer within the 
programmes and projects team.
Step 5 – Findings presented to the joint audit and governance committee.

Page 182

Agenda Item 14



9. Initial findings
Initial findings from the reviews in progress indicate significant control 
weakness, albeit at this time these are consistent with those previously 
discussed with external audit, and officers are already taking action to address 
them.

10. Whilst the quality assurance process has yet to be completed for any of the 
individual project reviews, the initial findings can be summarised as follows:
 there is evidence of an over-reliance on Cabinet Briefing, rather than 

Cabinet and Full Council;
 a lack of information provision to all members;
 a lack of detail and transparency in papers documented for Cabinet 

Briefing/Cabinet;
 poor procedural compliance by officers and members, most notably in 

documenting decision making;
 lack of robust induction for officers and elected members, most notably a 

lack of emphasis on the difference in roles and accountabilities between 
officers and members and the requirement for officers to service the 
council as a whole.

Next steps

11. The project team are aiming to complete 8 – 10 reviews by the end of March 
2019, so that confirmed findings and an action plan can be reported to the 
March joint audit and governance committee.  At that time, the head of 
corporate services will also provide an assessment on the programme review 
approach and confirm or request a revision for the review of the remaining 
projects on the register.

Financial implications

12. The review is likely to identify a range of financial implications on individual 
projects across the councils, but at this stage of the review it is difficult to 
quantify.  There will also be financial impact caused by the need to take 
external legal advice to support some areas of the review and to identify and 
implement lessons learnt from the review.  A provisional figure of £30K (£15K 
per council) has been identified and will be submitted as part of the 2019/20 
budget build.  The head of corporate services and the chief executive will 
monitor any financial implications arising from the review,  and will report to 
the programme review steering group and joint audit and governance 
committee, involving the section 151 officer as required.

Legal implications

13. The review may identify some legal implications on individual projects across 
the councils, but at this stage of the review the initial findings appear to be 
limited to decision making and governance.  However, to ensure adequate 
budget provision for the review, a provisional figure of £30K (£15K per council) 
has been identified for external legal advice.  

Page 183

Agenda Item 14



Risk implications

14. This review has identified a significant risk that the councils have incurred 
expenditure that has not been adequately approved in accordance with the 
councils’ constitutions, which could have both financial and reputational risk.  
Action has already been taken to address and strengthen the decision-making 
process on individual projects, and it is acknowledged that a greater 
transparency is needed, including an increase in the number of formal papers 
taken to Cabinet and Full Council which the senior management team is 
enforcing.

15. It should be noted that this review is still in progress, which may result in 
further risks being identified.  The head of corporate services will continue to 
update the programme review steering group on a regular basis and will report 
back formally to the joint audit and governance committee in March 2019.

ADRIANNA PARTRIDGE
HEAD OF CORPORATE SERVICES

Page 184

Agenda Item 14



APPENDIX 1

Page 185

Agenda Item 14



Page 186

Agenda Item 14



Document is Restricted

Page 187

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes pack 15.10.18
	Minutes


	6 External auditor's annual audit letters 2017/18
	18 VOWH 446GPS(R) LG Annual Audit Letter R07 18

	7 External auditor’s report of the certification of claims and returns 2017/18.
	Annual Certification Report

	8 Internal audit activity report quarter three 2018/2019
	9 Internal audit management report quarter three 2018/2019
	App 1a - Progress Against Audit Plan 2018-2019
	App 1b - Progress Against Audit Plan 2018-2019
	App 1c - Progress Against Audit Plan 2018-2019
	App 2 - Audit Plan Schedule 2018-2019

	10 Treasury management mid-year monitoring report 2018/19
	11 South Oxfordshire District Council treasury management and investment strategy 2019/20
	12 Vale of White Horse District Council treasury management and investment strategy 2019/20
	13 Work programme
	14 Programme governance review
	16 Programme governance review - Confidential appendix



